Phylogenetic and Reverse Genetics Studies on Zoonotic Hepatitis E Virus

Inauguraldissertation

zur

Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

der

Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der

Universität Greifswald

vorgelegt von

Filip Cierniak

Greifswald, 12.06.2023

Dekan*in: Prof. Dr. Gerald Kerth

- 1. Gutachter*in: Prof. Dr. Rainer G. Ulrich
- 2. Gutachter*in: Prof. Dr. Martin H. Groschup
- 3. Gutachter*in: Prof. Dr. Eike Steinmann

Tag der Promotion: 22.11.2023

What I cannot build, I do not understand. (Richard Feynman)

Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Hepatitis E virus – an overview	1
1.2 Epidemiology, Transmission, and Pathogenesis	3
1.2.1 Phylogeny of Paslahepevirus balayani	3
1.2.2 Distribution and pathogenesis of the major genotypes	5
1.2.3 Hepatitis E in Germany	6
1.3 Virus Structure, Genome Organization and Replication	7
1.3.1 The ORF1-encoded NSP	9
1.3.2 The ORF2-encoded Structural Protein1	0
1.3.3 The ORF3-encoded Multifunctional Protein1	1
1.3.4 The HEV Life Cycle 1	2
1.4 Model systems for HEV 1	4
1.4.1 Primates and Swine, the standard animal models of HEV research	15
1.4.2 Rabbits, an emerging model of HEV infection1	17
1.4.3 Modeling HEV infection in other species1	.8
1.4.4 HEV in cell culture1	8
1.5 Reverse genetics and replicon systems2	20
2 Objectives	24
3 Publications 2	25
(I) Co-circulation of different hepatitis E virus genotype 3 sub-types in pigs and wild boar in north- east Germany, 2019	25
(II) A Putative Novel Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Subtype Identified in Rabbit, Germany 2016 3	37
(III) A Modular Hepatitis E Virus Replicon System for Studies on the Role of ORF1-Encoded Polyprotein Domains	52
4 Own Contributions to Publications	/3
5 Discussion	<i>'</i> 6
5.1 HEV in swine in north-eastern Germany7	76
, 5.2 A putative novel rabbit-associated HEV-3 subtype7	78
5.3 A modular replicon system for HEV7	79
6 Outlook	34
7 Summary	36
8 Zusammenfassung	37
9. Literature	38
10 Appendix)5
10.1 Eigenständigkeitserklärung)5
10.2 Danksagung 10)6

1. Introduction

1.1 Hepatitis E virus – an overview

Hepatitis E virus (HEV) was first described in 1983 by Mikhail Surenovich Balayan [1], who, in a manner similar to Barry Marshall's daring "Attempt to fulfil Koch's postulates for pyloric Campylobacter" [2], ingested pooled stool extracts from soldiers stationed in Afghanistan who were suffering from symptoms of acute hepatitis of then undetermined, but suspected viral origin [3]. 36 days after inoculation, Balayan was hospitalized for the same symptoms [4]. In his feces, he identified viral particles by immune electron microscopy using sera from patients who had experienced non-B hepatitis but were seronegative for hepatitis A virus (HAV). He was further able to infect cynomolgus macaques (Macaca fascicularis) by intravenous inoculation with the virus containing stool extract upon which the monkeys developed hepatitis, excreted virus particles, and showed a specific serological response [1], thereby identifying the causative agent of, as the disease was called at the time, enterically transmitted non-A, non-B hepatitis (ET-NANBH) [4].

Before this, the existence of such a pathogen had been suspected due to several outbreaks of icteric jaundice with no evident connection to hepatitis B virus (HBV), HAV, or blood transfusions [5,6] (another source of viral hepatitis, caused mainly by hepatitis C virus (HCV) [7,8], which had been discovered a few years earlier). Balayan's work resulted not only in the discovery of the pathogen responsible for ET-NANBH, but also the serological tools required to detect it and thus made it possible to determine HEV as the causative agent of various outbreaks [4]. At present, it is known that HEV has been plaguing humanity long before its discovery. By retrospective serology analysis, HEV is known to have caused epidemics in India as far back as the outbreak of infectious hepatitis in Delhi 1955-1956 [9,10]. Based on the symptoms described in earlier cases, some authors consider HEV to be the most likely cause for icterus outbreaks during the 19th century [4], or even for similar episodes among medieval crusaders [11].

Today, HEV still causes epidemic outbreaks, particularly in developing countries with poor sanitation, where it is transmitted by the fecal-oral route due to contaminated water. These are estimated to result in 20 million infections and 70,000 deaths a year [12]. In contrast, epidemic outbreaks are not known to occur in industrialized countries, and so it was long thought that HEV is not endemic in industrialized countries and that hepatitis E only occurs as travel-associated disease. However, the number of diagnosed cases of autochthonous HEV in industrialized countries has been on the rise since the early 2000s and so far HEV "has been found in every single developed country in which it has been sought" [13]. In

1

Germany, the number of diagnosed cases increased dramatically within the last 10-15 years, although this increase is likely due to increased testing, rather than an actual increase in incidence [14]. It is estimated that around 400,000 seroconversions per year occur in Germany alone [15]. In industrialized countries, the virus typically follows a foodborne route of transmission, associated particularly with the consumption of undercooked or contaminated food, chiefly pork but also shellfish or game [16], resulting in sporadic cases of hepatitis E. Moreover, a trend for chronic hepatitis E has been detected, particularly in immunocompromised patients. By definition, hepatitis E is chronic if HEV replication persists for more than three months after infection [17]. Particularly at risk are patients with immunosuppressive therapy after organ transplantation, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, and hepatological malignancies [18]. Therapy options are limited [19]. The only available vaccine has yet to be licensed outside of China [20]. No drug is licensed for treatment of HEV [21]. Off-label use of antivirals such as ribavirin [22–25] or sofosbuvir [26,27] is inconsistent at best, with varying degrees of success.

One major hurdle for the development of treatment and prevention strategies is the lack of an efficient model system. While cynomolgus macaques have been established as an infection model in the very first description of HEV [1], infection experiments using primates are logistically challenging, as the required facilities are not ubiquitously available, and often ethically frowned upon [28]. Pigs are used as a model species for HEV infection, but differ in pathogenesis compared to humans [29]. Mice and rats are not susceptible to HEV, and therefore do not represent a reliable model [30]. In recent years, the rabbit has shown promise as an animal model for human HEV [31], but is not yet firmly established. However, the perhaps greatest difficulty lies in HEV's inability to grow in cell culture. With the exception of a few strains adapted to efficient growth in cell culture, isolation of HEV *in vitro* remains challenging [32]. Although some protocols have shown promise in recent years [33], the process is, at best, unreliable, challenging, and time-consuming. For this reason, many aspects of the HEV replication cycle and infection mechanisms remain elusive, even today, more than 40 years after its discovery by a self-sacrificing soviet scientist.

1.2 Epidemiology, Transmission, and Pathogenesis

1.2.1 Phylogeny of Paslahepevirus balayani

Hepatitis E Virus (species *Paslahepevirus balayani*; formerly: Orthohepevirus A [34]) is a member of the genus Paslahepevirus (formerly: Orthohepevirus) within the family Hepeviridae, subfamily Orthohepevirinae, a group of single-stranded, unsegmented, positive-sense RNA viruses infecting vertebrate hosts [35]. The species *Paslahepevirus balayani* is, subdivided into eight genotypes (referred to as HEV-1 to HEV-8) and 36 subtypes [36] (Figure 1).

The genotypes differ in host spectrum but share the same genetic structure. HEV-1 and HEV-2 infect humans and, at least in an experimental setting, non-human primates. In contrast, HEV-3 and HEV-4 are usually transmitted to humans zoonotically from swine (family Suidae) as the reservoir host and can also infect several other mammal species. HEV-5 and HEV-6 were detected in wild boars in Japan [37,38]. No human cases were identified so far, but their zoonotic potential is being discussed [36,39]. HEV-7 and HEV-8 infect dromedary and bactrian camels, respectively [40,41]. In the case of HEV-7, a human infection has been reported [42]. However, zoonotic HEV infections are typically caused by genotypes HEV-3 and HEV-4. In Europe, the majority of zoonotic cases are due to HEV-3, while HEV-4 is highly prevalent in China [43].

Transmission routes and epidemiology, as well as pathological manifestations of hepatitis E are diverse and depend on the geographic and cultural framework, in addition to viral genetics [44]. While HEV usually manifests as a mild or subclinical disease with low fatality rates (0.5% to 4%), complications, such as fulminant hepatitis, chronic manifestations, or increased mortality can occur, depending on various factors [45,46]. Furthermore, reports of extrahepatic manifestations of HEV infections [47] indicate that HEV replication is not restricted to liver tissue.



Figure 1: Neighbour-Joining tree of Paslahepevirus balayani indicating the major genotypes and subtypes based on the reference sequences proposed by Smith et al., [36]. The tree was constructed in MEGA 11 based on a multiple alignment of the full-length genomic sequences. HEV-3d was excluded because the reference sequences are only very short partial sequences. A rat hepatitis E virus sequence (species Rocahepevirus ratti; GenBank accession GU345042) was added as outgroup.

1.2.2 Distribution and pathogenesis of the major genotypes

HEV-1 causes recurring outbreaks of epidemic hepatitis E in developing countries of southern Asia and Africa. According to a study by Carratalà & Joost (2019), the regions at highest risk for spread of HEV epidemics are "Ganges Valley and Pakistan, the west coast of Saudi Arabia and subequatorial African countries" [48]. HEV-1 is transmitted by the fecal-oral route due to contaminated drinking water, especially in regions where sanitation and access to clean water are limited [49]. To a lesser degree, blood-borne transmission can occur [50]. In India, an emerging economic power where, despite great progress in recent years, many people live in poor hygienic conditions, epidemic outbreaks of hepatitis E are a recurring issue [51]. Several hepatitis outbreaks in the last 70 years are associated with HEV [10]. Invariably, these appear to be caused by HEV-1 in connection with sewage contamination of water [52]. Although HEV-4 is circulating within swine populations in India [53,54], zoonotic transmission to humans is negligible [52]. The largest recorded HEV-1 epidemic occurred in China in 1986-1988, with almost 120,000 cases [55]. In recent years, HEV-1 incidence has decreased in China [56], likely due to the unprecedented rate of development and modernization the country has undergone over the past few decades. Instead, reports of sporadic infections with HEV-3 and HEV-4 are on the rise [57]. A particular characteristic associated with many reports of HEV-1 is high mortality of pregnant women as well as fetal and neonatal complications [58]. In contrast, reports of chronic HEV-1 infections are very rare [59].

HEV-2 is, in many ways, similar to HEV-1, although fewer disease cases are known. Most reports of outbreaks stem from African countries, such as Namibia [60], Nigeria [61,62], Chad [63], or the Central African Republic [64]. However, the earliest report of HEV-2 is from an outbreak in Mexico in 1986 [65,66]. Transmission and pathogenic manifestations are similar to HEV-1, but fewer reports of deaths in pregnancy exist [58,67].

HEV-3 is the main cause of autochthonously acquired hepatitis E in industrialized countries [13]. Unlike HEV-1 and HEV-2, the main route of transmission to humans is not contaminated water but instead consumption of meat from infected animals, mainly pigs and wild boar, although deer, rabbits, and even shellfish are known sources of infection [68]. The virus can be inactivated by heating to >70°C for 20 minutes, but remains active in raw or undercooked food products [69]. Bloodborne transmission is another risk factor [70]. Waterborne transmission is generally not considered a major factor for human HEV infections in industrialized countries. However, some data from France suggest that drinking bottled water decreases the risk of infection [71], which implies that waterborne transmission

5

is also relevant. Generally, environmental transmission is of minor relevance compared to direct contact with or consumption of infected animals. An exception are infections with rabbit HEV, a subclade of HEV-3 (HEV-3ra), in which context environmental transmission is discussed as a potential source of infection [72]. Additionally, the transmission cycle among the reservoir host must be considered. Pigs and wild boars acquire HEV by direct contact with another infected animal, or due to environmental contamination [73]. In swine, the infection causes mild or subclinical symptoms but can damage the liver [74,75]. In some cases, acute hepatitis and jaundice can be observed [76] but other complications are not known to occur [29]. In humans, HEV-3 leads to a mild disease, typically subclinical and self-limiting with rare cases in which clinical symptoms of hepatitis manifest [56]. In some cases, chronic hepatitis E can develop [18]. This happens mainly in immunocompromised patients, particularly recipients of organ transplants [77], or with other forms of immunosuppressive therapy, e.g. for hematological malignancies [78], or in HIV patients [79]. However, reports of chronic hepatitis E in immunocompetent individuals do exist [80]. Chronic infection with HEV can lead to significant liver damage, acute-on-chronic liver failure, and death [81].

HEV-4 is similar in epidemiology and pathogenesis to HEV-3 [43]. It is also transmitted zoonotically, with pigs and wild boars as reservoir hosts. Other species, such as deer, are also known sources of infection. Most detected cases of HEV-4 come from eastern Asia, particularly China and Japan [82]. However, this genotype has also been detected in several countries in Europe, mainly France [83]. As with HEV-3, chronic infections and extrahepatic manifestations are known, although comparatively fewer cases are published in the context of HEV-4 [43].

Little is known about the remaining genotypes. HEV-5 and HEV-6 have only been detected in wild boars in Japan and are closely related [36]. Evidence of replication in human cell culture has been demonstrated [39], which hints at some degree of zoonotic potential. HEV-7 was first detected in dromedary camels [40] and its zoonotic character was recently proven by a case report of a chronic infection in a liver transplant recipient from the United Arab Emirates (UAE) [42]. HEV-8 is associated with bactrian camels [41], and although no human cases are known, trans-species transmission to cynomolgus macaques [84] and rabbits [85] was demonstrated. Therefore, it is suspected that HEV-8 also has the potential to infect human hosts.

1.2.3 Hepatitis E in Germany

In Germany, hepatitis E was for many years thought of as a purely travel-associated disease typically acquired during trips to endemic areas [86]. Due to increased awareness of the disease, the number of diagnosed cases has seen a sharp increase in recent years,

6

mostly in patients with no travel history. As a consequence, autochthonous HEV infection in Germany became acutely relevant. It is now assumed that the increased number of detected HEV infections is, in fact, due to increased testing rather than due to rising numbers of infections, as the seroprevalence appears to be unchanging [14]. Serological analysis shows that almost a sixth of Germans had HEV-specific antibodies. Prevalence increases with age and reaches >25% in cohorts above 60 years of age [87]. Most autochthonously acquired HEV infections in Germany are caused by HEV-3, occasionally HEV-4, while the rare cases of HEV-1 in Germany are typically found in patients with travel history to India, Pakistan, or Bangladesh [88]. Autochthonous transmission is usually linked to consumption of raw or undercooked pork [89]. Other routes of transmission include, for example, shellfish, contact with animals, blood transfusions or organ transplants [90]. Organ transplant patients in particular are at an increased risk for chronic HEV infections. Due to immunosuppressive drugs that prevent graft rejection, HEV clearance can be impaired [77]. The extent of chronic hepatitis E in Germany is not yet fully understood but is presently being actively researched. As the vast majority of autochthonously acquired HEV cases in Germany are of zoonotic origin, it would be remiss not to consider the epidemiology within reservoir host populations. Pigs and wild boars in Germany show high prevalence of HEV infection. High seroprevalence (>50%) is reported in farmed pigs, depending on the animal's age and herd origin [91]. High prevalence was also detected in wild boars [92]. Put together, this indicates a significant risk of infection not only due to consumption of meat from pigs or wild boars but also from exposure to the animals, particularly for workers in pig rearing or processing facilities and hunters processing game. Apart from swine, evidence for HEV infection has been demonstrated in several other species, such as deer [92], and rabbits [93,94]. Especially in rabbits, a high proportion of HEV-infected or serologically positive animals was detected in various populations in Germany [93,94]. Strikingly, HEV positive rabbits are usually infected with a specific subtype within the clade of HEV-3, designated as rabbit HEV (HEV-3ra), [36]. Recently, Klink and colleagues have reported an infection with rabbit HEV in a transplant patient from Germany [95]. Similar cases are known from the neighboring countries of France [72] and Switzerland [96], which highlights the risk of zoonotic transmission of rabbit HEV and the relevance rabbits hold as as a source of human HEV infection.

1.3 Virus Structure, Genome Organization and Replication

The HEV genome is a single-stranded (+)-sense RNA molecule approximately 7.2kb in length, and contains at least three protein-encoding open reading frames (ORF) [97] (Figure 2 A). The longest of these, ORF1, is translated directly from the genomic RNA and encodes the nonstructural protein (NSP), also referred to as the viral replicase. ORF2 and ORF3 are

located downstream of ORF1. They encode the capsid protein (ORF2), and a small multifunctional protein (ORF3), respectively [98]. Unlike ORF1, ORF2 and ORF3 are expressed from a bicistronic subgenomic RNA [99] (Figure 2 B). Additionally, some HEV genomes contain an additional open reading frame (ORF4) which overlaps with ORF 1 and is likely translated under control of an internal ribosomal entry site (IRES) [100]. The genomic RNA and the subgenomic RNA are capped and polyadenylated [99,101], which is similar to eukaryotic messenger RNA (mRNA) [102]. Secondary structures within the 5' and 3' termini as well as within the junction region between ORF1 and ORF2/3 serve as recognition sites for the RNA-directed RNA polymerase (RdRp) during genome replication and synthesis of the subgenomic RNA [103] (Figure 2 B).



Figure 2: (A) Genome organization of HEV. The approximately 7.2kb (+)-RNA genome is capped (\bullet) and polyadenylated (AAA...). It contains three ORFs, which encode the nonstructural protein (NSP) (ORF1), capsid (ORF2), and a small multifunctional protein (ORF3). (B) The NSP is translated directly from the viral genomic RNA. Subsequently, a (-)-sense RNA is synthesized, which serves as template for (+)-sense genomic RNA and contains the subgenomic promoter (sgP) that serves as starting point for the synthesis of the subgenomic RNA (sgRNA) from which ORF2 and ORF3 are translated.

1.3.1 The ORF1-encoded NSP

The NSP encoded by ORF1 contains approximately 1700 amino acid (aa) residues and is required for the replication of the genomic RNA. Furthermore, it transcribes the approximately 2.2kb bicistronic subgenomic RNA, which encodes the capsid protein (ORF2), and a small multifunctional accessory protein (ORF3) and modulates the host cell immune response [104]. The NSP is a polyprotein that consists of several domains with distinct activities that are required for the viral life cycle. It is still debated if and how the polyprotein is processed [104]. It shares significant similarities with nonstructural proteins of other RNA viruses, in particular with beet necrotic yellow vein virus, rubella virus, and members of the family of Alphatetraviridae [105]. In accordance with these structural similarities, several functional domains of the NSP have been proposed. In particular, Koonin et al. showed already in 1992 based on bioinformatic analysis of the HEV NSP aa sequence that the ORF 1 encoded protein contains such conserved regions [106]. Based on this analysis, they postulated a linear domain structure with seven functional domains: Methyltransferase (MT), "Y-domain" of unknown function (Y), papain-like protease (PCP), proline-rich hinge domain, also known as the hypervariable region [97] (HVR), "X-domain" of unknown function (X), RNA helicase (Hel), and RdRp. This model was largely confirmed by other authors in the years since. Some of the domains were characterized in-depth, while knowledge on others is lacking. For instance, the X-domain was identified as an ADP-ribose-1'-monophosphatase, also known as macro domain [107], while the exact function of the Y-domain remains unknown to this day [108].

In addition to bioinformatic analysis, several groups have done biochemical characterization of the putative subdomains, largely confirming the predictions of Koonin and colleagues. Magden et al. expressed various N-terminal fragments of the ORF 1 protein to identify the MT domain [109]. They were able to show that both methyltransferase and guanylyltransferase activities essential for capping were present, however, only when a fragment of 979 aa was assayed. Similar experiments with shorter fragments (470 aa and 527 aa) did not demonstrate any activity [109]. The 979 aa fragment contains the MT region predicted by Koonin et al. However, its length is greater than the predicted approximately 250 aa. In fact, it spans more than half the total length of the NSP and includes all of the predicted domains with the exception of the helicase and RdRp. Bioinformatic analysis by Kelly and colleagues suggests that the predicted Y-domain [105]. The function of the Y domain is unknown. However, mutational analysis has proven that it is essential for HEV replication [110]. The cysteine protease domain was initially disputed. Despite the predicted protease domain within the NSP of HEV, several experiments failed to show any evidence of protease

9

activity. Ropp et al. specifically conducted mutagenesis experiments substituting hypothetical active residues of the protease domain and found no effect on protease activity or lack thereof [111]. However, thirteen years later, Paliwal et al. were able to successfully express and purify a fragment of the HEV NSP and showed cleavage of both the NSP as well as the capsid protein [112]. The fragment in question corresponds almost exactly to the predicted protease domain. The protease is followed by a region of 120 aa with no significant structural homology according to Koonin et al. [106]. In contrast, Kelly et al. performed a similar analysis some 20 years later [105] and predicted a conserved domain of unknown function. Interestingly, a protein containing this region and a part of the protease domain has been expressed and crystallized, showing a zinc-binding protein, although its biological significance is undetermined [113]. A proline-rich hinge region is located approximately 120 aa downstream of the predicted protease domain. This region contains considerable sequence variability, and is for this reason also referred to as the HVR [97]. While no clear enzymatic activity was reported, it is known that insertions within this region can increase the replicative ability of HEV strains in cell culture [114,115]. Next is the 'X' domain, also known as macro domain. Structural analysis has shown that this domain functions as an ADPribose-1'-monophosphatase [107,116]. Additionally, the protein has a high affinity for poly(ADP-ribose) and poly(A) [116], and interacts with the viral MT and ORF3-encoded protein [117]. The helicase domain is located directly downstream of the X domain. It possesses NTPase and RNA duplex-unwinding activities, which are likely involved in RNA capping and in the initiation of RNA transcription by the RdRp [118]. The RdRp is located at the C-terminal end of the NSP and, with a length of almost 500 aa, is the largest of the domains predicted by Koonin et al. The RdRp binds specifically HEV RNA, in particular the polyadenylated 3'-end, the conserved 5'-terminal region, and the subgenomic promoter [103]. It is capable of initiating *de novo* negative strand RNA synthesis, using the positive strand as template without oligonucleotide primer and can also extend the template by a loop-back mechanism [103]. The RdRp domain is critical for replication of the HEV genome and synthesis of the subgenomic RNA encoding the capsid protein (ORF 2), and the ORF3 multifunctional protein but can be disabled almost completely by substituting the aspartates (D) in the conserved RdRp 'GDD' catalytic motif with alanines (A) [119].

1.3.2 The ORF2-encoded Structural Protein

The capsid, or structural protein, is encoded by ORF2. Its primary role is packaging the viral genome in order to transport it between hosts during the infection cycle. It does so by binding the 5' end of the viral genomic RNA [120]. The virus particles are icosahedral with T=3 symmetry and have a diameter of approximately 32nm [121]. The capsid protein consists of approximately 660 aa residues and can be subdivided into three domains. Being

morphologically similar to calicivirus capsids, these domains are sometimes referred to as the inner S ('shell') domain, and the outer P1 and P2 ('protruding') domains [122]. However, Xing et al. argue that unlike in caliciviruses, where P1 and P2 are subdomains of one larger 'P' domain, the outer HEV capsid domains are more distinct. The capsid structure is therefore more commonly described by the S ('shell'), M ('middle'), and P ('protruding') domains instead [123]. Additionally, the N-terminal 111 aa are referred to by Xing et al. as the N-domain, and are critical for interaction with the viral RNA genome [123]. The P domain likely contains the receptor binding site required for host cell membrane penetration, whereas the S and M domains interact with each other to construct the capsid scaffold. Recombinantly expressed in insect cells, the protein can self-assemble into T=1 icosahedral virus-like particles (VLP) approximately 27nm in diameter, or into T=3 icosahedral particles with 42nm diameter [124]. The T=1 particles do not contain RNA, while the T=3 particles do. This suggests an RNA-dependent assembly pathway for the T=3 particles [123]. However, neither of the VLPs accurately represents the size of the native virus particle. This is likely caused by different posttranslational modifications of the protein in an artificial expression system when compared to infection in the actual host, or due to usage of a truncated expression construct. Kapur et al. reported 35nm particles upon recombinant expression of the full-length capsid protein in E. coli BL21 [125]. Later, the same group demonstrated that these particles can be used to introduce mRNA into HuH-7 and A549 cells and as a delivery vehicle for vaccine RNA constructs in mice, so long as the 5' end of the HEV genome and therefore the binding site for the N-domain was included within the construct [126]. In vivo, glycosylation of the capsid protein is essential for formation of infectious virions. Furthermore, there exist three forms of the capsid protein in the supernatant of infected cells: The capsid-associated form of the ORF2-encoded protein, a truncated version of the protein, and the secreted form of the capsid protein [127]. Interestingly, despite the apparent necessity of glycosylation for production of infectious virus particles, the virion-associated form of the ORF2-encoded protein is not glycosylated, only the truncated and secreted forms are [128]. In fact, most of the capsid protein produced does not end up in a virus particle. It is hypothesized that this is an adaptation to the host immune system, and that the secreted and cleaved forms of the ORF2-encoded protein serve as a decoy for the immune system [127].

1.3.3 The ORF3-encoded Multifunctional Protein

The protein encoded by ORF3 is a small protein of 113-114 aa residues and is essential for infection *in vivo* [129] but not in cell culture [130]. Several functions of this protein have been described. Its function is dependent on phosphorylation and palmitoylation [131,132]. The phosphorylated form of the ORF3-encoded protein interacts with the non-glycosylated form of the capsid protein [131], and mediates virion release from infected host cells [133] via

the endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT) pathway by interacting with tumor susceptibility gene 101 (TSG101) [134]. In the process, it appropriates the host membrane, which is used to mask the virions circulating in the bloodstream from detection by the immune system [135]. Furthermore, the ORF3-encoded protein interacts with the cytoskeleton and interferes with microtubule dynamics [136]. It also influences elements of cellular signaling pathways, for instance extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) activation by binding and inhibiting mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) phosphatase Pyst1 [137]. Additionally, the protein has an effect on the expression of liver-specific genes [138] and may affect blood coagulation [139]. Finally, it functions as a viroporin, a virus-encoded ion channel, which is required for virion release from infected cells [140].

1.3.4 The HEV Life Cycle

HEV virions utilize two different forms to infect the host cell (Figure 3). The quasienveloped particle, found in the bloodstream, and the non-enveloped form, found in feces [135,141]. The non-enveloped particle consists of the viral RNA encapsidated with the capsid protein. The quasi-enveloped form is additionally associated with host cell membrane and ORF3-encoded protein [142]. This enveloped form of the virus particle is likely a result of viral egress from the host cell, which is mediated by the ORF3 protein [143]. The cell-derived membrane protects the circulating virus particles from detection by the immune system and neutralization by antibodies [144]. In vivo, the membrane is likely stripped during passage through the bile ducts before the virus is excreted via the gut [133]. Distinct infection mechanisms exist for each of the two forms [145]. The non-enveloped virions attach to the cell surface by binding to heparan sulfate proteoglycans and enter by utilizing a so far unknown receptor [146]. The guasi-enveloped particles enter the cell by a dynamin/clathrinmediated endocytosis mechanism [147]. This mechanism is less efficient than uptake of nonenveloped particles and reliant on endosomal trafficking and acidification for successful infection [145]. After virion uptake by the host cell, the viral RNA genome is released into the cytoplasm where translation of ORF1 is initiated in a cap-dependent manner by the eukaryotic initiation factor 4F (eIF4F) complex [148].

After translation of ORF1, the RdRp domain of the NSP then starts replicating the virus genomic RNA (gRNA) by synthesizing a negative-sense gRNA intermediate ((-)gRNA).The (-)gRNA serves as a template for synthesis of the positive sense (+)gRNA and the subgenomic RNA (sgRNA), which encodes ORF2 and ORF3 [149]. While this process is typically thought to take place at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane, recombinant HEV strains containing insertions with nuclear localization sequences within the hypervariable region of the nonstructural protein were reported [150]. These insertions impart growth advantages in cell culture, though nuclear localization alone is not sufficient to explain

this effect [150]. In order to copy the viral genome and to transcribe the subgenomic RNA, the replication process first produces negative-sense HEV RNA via a double-stranded RNA intermediate [151], which is recognizable to the host cell as a signal of viral replication [152]. This recognition is mediated by cytosolic pattern recognition receptors, such as retinoic acid inducible gene I (RIG-I), melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 (MDA-5), and various Toll-like receptors (TLRs) [152]. As response to recognition of viral replication, the interferon (IFN) signaling pathways are activated, which exacts an inhibitory effect on virus growth [153]. In adaptation to this, HEV has developed the ability to inhibit interferon signaling on several levels. In fact, each of the HEV-encoded proteins has been shown to interact with the IFN pathway. The NSP of ORF1 down-regulates the IFN-β response. In particular, the MT and PCP domains appear to be responsible for this activity [154]. Part of this effect is caused by the deubiquitination activity associated with these domains, which efficiently hydrolyzes the product of IFN stimulated gene 15 (ISG15), a key factor in the IFN pathway [155]. Additionally, a 5'-methylguanosine cap structure is added to the genomic and subgenomic RNAs, presumably by the methyltransferase domain within the ORF1-encoded NSP [99,101,109]. This enhances translation efficiency and reduces recognition by RIG-I [154,156]. Similarly, the ORF2-encoded capsid protein suppresses RIG-I and TLR-induced IFN-β signaling. This activity is independent on whether the protein is glycosylated or dimerized [157]. In contrast, the ORF3 protein shows no influence on the activity of the IFN-β signaling. Instead, it can counteract the IFN- α response by specifically binding of signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) and inhibiting IFN-α induced phosphorylation [158]. Viral proteins and RNA colocalize within the cell and form replication complexes associated with host cell membranes. The formation of these complexes is mediated by interactions between different viral proteins and genomic as well as subgenomic RNA [159]. Similar replication complexes are typical for RNA viruses and enhance viral replication mainly by concentrating required viral and host factors [160]. Additionally, in the case of HEV, interaction between genomic RNA and capsid protein is sufficient for spontaneous assembly of non-enveloped virus particles [123]. It is therefore assumed that the replication complexes also play a role in viral assembly. The virions are secreted from the host cell via the ESCRT pathway. The ORF3-encoded protein is known to play a crucial role in this process by interacting with TSG101 [143]. In the process, the virions acquire the "quasi-envelope" consisting of host membrane from the exosomal pathway [142]. Subsequently, the particles are transported to multivesicular bodies (MVBs) and secreted from the host cell [161]. Details of this process are still unknown due to the lack of an efficient cell culture model system for HEV.



Figure 3: HEV Life cycle. Enveloped and non-enveloped virions enter the host cell by distinct mechanisms. The enveloped form relies on clathrin-mediated endocytosis [145], while the nonenveloped virions attach to the cell surface by heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) [146]. It is assumed that upon uncoating the ORF1 of the viral genome is translated directly from the genomic RNA. The resulting nonstructural protein (NSP) begins replicating the genomic RNA (gRNA) via a negative-sense gRNA intermediate ((-)gRNA) and transcribing the subgenomic RNA (sgRNA), from which the structural proteins are translated [162]. Newly synthesized genomic RNA and ORF2- and ORF3-encoded proteins interact to form infectious virus particles, which are exported from the cell via the exosomal pathway involving the trans-Golgi network and multivesicular bodies (MVB) [161]. ER: Endoplasmic reticulum.

1.4 Model systems for HEV

In order to study the molecular biology and transmission of HEV in a laboratory setting, a suitable model system is required. This is quite the conundrum, as many standard model systems do not support HEV replication. Mice, for instance, are not naturally susceptible to *Paslahepevirus balayani*, and isolation of HEV in cell culture has so far only been successful for a few specific combinations of virus strains and host cell lines. As a consequence, the search for an ideal model system continues to this day.

1.4.1 Primates and Swine, the standard animal models of HEV research

Two primate models were essential for the identification of HEV: Cynomolgus macaques (*M. fascicularis*) and human volunteers (*Homo sapiens*) [1]. While the human volunteer model has actually been applied in at least one further instance [163], it has not gained hold in mainstream HEV research. On the other hand, non-human primate models, such as cynomolgus macaques, have been tremendously helpful in figuring out key aspects of the infection process. Aside from cynomolgus macaques, other non-human primate model species include chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*), owl monkeys (*Aotus trivirgatus*), patas monkeys (*Erythrocebus patas*), pig-tailed macaques (*Macaca nemestrina*), rhesus macaques (Macaca *mulatta*), and squirrel monkeys (*Saimiri sciureus*)(reviewed by Corneillie et al. [29]).

The main advantage of primate models is their phylogenetic proximity to Homo sapiens. As a consequence, the symptoms observed in the animals upon HEV infection, such as elevated liver enzymes, liver damage, viremia, and fecal virus shedding, are similar to the symptoms suffered by HEV infected humans [29]. Chronic infections are rare but have been reported [164]. Furthermore, non-human primates are susceptible to infection by several genotypes of HEV, though to which level is dependent on primate species and virus genotype [165]. Beside experimental infection in a laboratory setting, natural HEV infection has been documented in non-human primates. Evidence of this has been published from an outdoor monkey breeding facility at the university of Kyoto, where an outbreak among Japanese monkeys (Macaca fuscata) and rhesus monkeys (M. mulatta) occurred in the years 2004-2006 [164]. The virus responsible for this outbreak was identified as a strain of the HEV-3 clade. Intriguingly, the authors identified one monkey (*M. fuscata*) which had been persistently infected from 2006-2009 and continued shedding virus even in 2009, a rare observation of chronic HEV in a non-human primate, although no specific reasons for this persistence of the infection were deducible. It is unknown how the virus was introduced into the colony in the first place [164]. Another report from China describes the circulation of two separate HEV-4 strains in a rhesus monkey farm [166]. Additionally, serological evidence indicates HEV infection in several other primate species. In a study of primates in different German zoos, HEV-specific antibodies were detected in a bonobo (Pan paniscus), a drill (Mandrillus leucophaeus), a lar gibbon (Hylobates lar), and seven gorillas (Gorilla gorilla gorilla) [167]. However, despite their unique suitability as a model for human HEV infection, primate models come with several critical drawbacks. From a purely practical perspective, primates have comparatively long gestation periods and generation times. Consequently, control of their genetic backgrounds is limited. Furthermore, primate studies are limited in the number of animals due to small litter sizes, which can impede generation of statistically significant results [168]. This is to some degree due to special ethical considerations which

must be taken in the context of primate experiments, which drives up the cost of animal keeping compared to other species [28]. Finally, while humans are genetically more similar to other primates than to non-primate species, differences do exist which can detrimentally influence experimental results [168]. These factors make it desirable to identify a model system which is easier to handle than primates.

Swine (family Suidae) represent another important model system. Pigs and wild boars (Sus scrofa) are suitable in many ways for modeling HEV infections. For one, as the natural reservoir host of HEV-3 and HEV-4, they play a pivotal role in the evolution and spread of HEV [43]. Moreover, wild boars are also associated with HEV-5 and HEV-6 [37,38]. Additionally, while far from the least demanding model species, pigs are easier to handle compared to primates. In particular, experiments with pigs are generally considered more ethically acceptable compared to primate models [169]. The first evidence of HEV infection in pigs came from Balayan et al. in 1990 [170], who demonstrated productive infection upon inoculation with material from a patient with acute hepatitis E. However, the real breakthrough to identifying the pig as a potential host for HEV came in 1997, with the first description of "Swine HEV" in the USA [171], now simply classified as HEV-3. The data showed that HEV is highly prevalent among farmed pigs in the US. Soon after, a closely related strain was identified in a human patient [172]. Subsequent trans-species transmission experiments confirmed that pigs are susceptible to infection with the human-derived virus samples [76]. Similar results came from Taiwan, where closely related HEV sequences were discovered in a pig and a human, but only distantly related to the American sequences [173]. The sequences were later assigned to HEV-4 [36]. Reports of trans-species transmission of HEV-3 between humans and swine emerged from many other countries, including Germany [174]. In the following years, the pig has become a standard model in HEV research. Today, it is known that pigs represent a highly sensitive infection model [175]. They can be readily infected with HEV-3 and HEV-4. More specifically, pigs were experimentally infected with HEV from wild boars [74], human HEV [76], and with rabbit HEV (HEV-3ra) [176]. The animals show mild to moderate symptoms of hepatitis and fecal virus shedding [74]. However, the pig as a model for human hepatitis E comes with several limitations. For one, it is unsuitable for modeling of chronic manifestations of HEV infection. Although reports of chronic HEV infection in swine do exist [175,177], the course of the disease is usually selflimiting, which is a challenge for research on chronic hepatitis E in a controlled experimental setting. Notably, some success in this regard has been reported in pigs treated with immunosuppressants, which is an interesting parallel to chronic hepatitis E in organ transplant recipients [178]. Another aspect not observed in the pig model are the complications of HEV infection during pregnancy. Experimental infection of pregnant pigs

resulted in mild hepatitis symptoms, but no effect on the offspring, and no fulminant hepatitis or increased fatality rates [179]. This may be related to the fact that pigs are not susceptible to HEV-1 or HEV-2 [180], the genotypes mainly associated with poor feto-maternal outcomes in humans [58].

1.4.2 Rabbits, an emerging model of HEV infection

Rabbits (Oryctolagus cuniculus) were relatively recently discovered as host species for HEV and come with their own "brand" of HEV [181]. Rabbit HEV, or HEV-3ra, is a subtype of HEV-3, infectious to various other species, including humans, and thus zoonotic [182]. However, rabbit HEV is uniquely adapted to the rabbit, although it is not entirely understood why or how. Part of the reason may be a conserved insertion of 90/93 nucleotides with unknown function within the rabbit HEV genome, found across many HEV genomic sequences from rabbits [183]. Rabbit HEV has been detected in rabbits in Asia [181], Australia [184], Europe [93], and North America [176]. Additionally, several human cases of acute and chronic infections with HEV-3ra were reported, mainly from France and Switzerland [72,96], and recently, Germany [95]. Often, HEV-3ra infections occur in immunocompromised patients, although infections without underlying conditions are also possible [185]. In rabbits, the severity of the disease is dose dependent but usually ranges from subclinical to mild symptoms [186]. However, rabbits can exhibit similar symptoms and complications as those observed in humans. Persistence of virus replication and chronic hepatitis E has been observed in experimentally infected specific pathogen-free (SPF) rabbits [187]. Furthermore, infection of pregnant rabbits with HEV results in high fetomaternal mortality rates and vertical transmission, which is similar to HEV-1 infections in humans [188]. This makes rabbits and rabbit HEV a promising model for human HEV infections. Other than HEV-3ra, the rabbit shows limited susceptibility to other HEV genotypes. One study showed seroconversion upon infection with HEV-1 but no detectable viremia. The same study demonstrated seroconversion and viremia in one out of eight rabbits inoculated with HEV-4 [186]. A similar experiment was conducted a few years later with one strain of HEV-1 and three different strains of HEV-4. Here, the rabbits inoculated with HEV-1 showed no signs of infection. Interestingly, infection with HEV-4 resulted in different outcomes depending on the virus strain. Out of the three, only one strain elicited seroconversion and viremia in all animals (five out of five) [31]. Similarly, HEV-3 infection is dependent on the inoculum. For instance, experimental infection of rabbits with wild boarderived HEV-3b was successful, resulting in viral shedding and seroconversion [30]. However, in another study, rabbits showed no signs of infection upon inoculation with a human-derived HEV-3b strain [189]. Apart from this, a recent study showed that rabbits are susceptible to HEV-8 but not HEV-5 or HEV-7 [85]. Put together, this makes rabbits a

promising model for pathogenicity and vaccination studies, especially considering how rabbits are easier to handle compared to pigs or primates. However more work will be necessary before the rabbit can be firmly established as model system for HEV. Critically, it will be necessary to determine why some strains can infect rabbits, while other, closely related strains, cannot.

1.4.3 Modeling HEV infection in other species

Although mice (Mus musculus) are not susceptible to infection with human HEV [30], there has been success in establishing a chimeric mouse model with humanized liver, which can be productively infected with HEV [190]. Unfortunately, generating chimeric mice is quite laborious and thus it remains to be seen whether this model will become a standard tool in HEV research. Similarly, rats are not a reliable model, as infection experiments do not deliver consistent results [30]. In principle, rats (rattus spp.) are infectible with ratHEV (species Rocahepevirus ratti, genus Rocahepevirus) [191], which, like Paslahepevirus balayani belongs to the subfamily of Orthohepevirinae. Reports of human infection with ratHEVhave recently confirmed the zoonotic nature of this virus[192], which further demonstrates the relevance of ratHEV as a model system. However, the rat infection model is not very robust and reliable as the infection has so far only been shown in athymic nude rats [193], severely immunocompromised animals. Further optimization may, in the future, lead to a reliable rat model. Similarly, ferrets (Mustela furo) and ferret HEV (species Rocahepevirus ratti) are under consideration [194]. A recent publication demonstrates the Mongolian gerbil (Meriones unguiculatus) as a viable model for infection with HEV-3 and HEV-4, providing a small rodent model. However, for a reliable infection, intraperitoneal injection of high-titer virus stock or intrahepatic injection of HEV RNA is required [195]. Beyond mammals, the chicken model in conjunction with avian HEV (species Avihepevirus magnilecur) may be taken into consideration, although it is limited by genetic differencesas well as different manifestations of the disease [196]. Finally, Cutthroat trout virus (CTV; species Piscihepevirus heenan) has been proposed as a possible model of HEV replication, mainly due to the availability of an efficient CTV cell culture system [197,198].

1.4.4 HEV in cell culture

Cell culture is a key model system for biology in general and virology in particular. It allows for reproducible, quick, and inexpensive characterization of key aspects of the viral reproduction process. Unfortunately, propagation of HEV in established cell culture systems is very inefficient and highly dependent on the combination of HEV strain and host cell line. However, as a robust cell culture system would be an invaluable tool in HEV research,

several attempts at cultivating the virus *in vitro* have been made over the years, to varying degrees of success.

Early reports of HEV isolation from cell culture reach as far back as 1987, when Pillot et al. were able to successfully infect human hepatoma cell line PLC/PRF/5 and detected viral particles and antigen in the cell culture [199]. The PLC/PRF/5 system has since then shown promise as a host cell line for HEV. Productive infection has been demonstrated for strains of most genotypes, i.e. HEV-1 [119], HEV-3 [200], including rabbit HEV [201], HEV-4 [202], HEV-5 [39], HEV-7 [203], and HEV-8 [204]. Additionally, the cells are permissive for ratHEV [205] and ferret HEV [206]. Notably, Takahashi et al. showed that HEV from patient samples could be propagated in PLC/PRF/5 cells only when inoculated with a rather high viral load of at least 3.5×10^5 copies per milliliter inoculate [144]. This was later confirmed by Schemmerer and colleagues, who additionally demonstrated that the correct density of the cell culture prior to inoculation plays a crucial role in achieving high viral titers [33].

In addition to PLC/PRF/5, the hepatoma cell lines HepG2 and HuH-7 and their derivatives are permissive HEV host cells. Both systems are established model for other hepatotropic viruses, particularly HBV (HepG2) and HCV (HuH-7) [207]. In the case of HuH-7, a subclone was identified which allows for relatively efficient transfection and infection with HEV [130]. Furthermore, the HuH-7 Lunet BLR subline supports replication levels comparable to PLC/PRF/5 [33]. Similarly, HepG2 can be infected with different strains of HEV and supports their replication. The derived cell line HepG2/C3A was used for the isolation of the Kernow-C1/p6 strain, which replicates readily in various cell lines from different mammalian species [208]. This strain was initially isolated from a chronically infected patient and was capable of establishing productive infection of cultured cells. In this case, HepG2/C3A cells were more permissive in comparison to other cell lines, such as PLC/PRF/5, HuH-7 derivative HuH-7.5, or the epithelial lung carcinoma cell line A549 [208].

Reports of HEV replication in non-hepatic cell lines reach back to 1992, when Huang et al. showed the productive infection in a human embryonal lung cell line (2BS) using fecal suspension of a patient who suffered from acute hepatitis and from whom several fecal samples were taken over a time of two months. The authors noted that the infection was possible only with this particular cell line and only with a fecal suspension sample taken during the incubation period [209]. The same strain was later shown to infect A549 cells [210]. A549 cells have subsequently become one of the standard models for HEV research along with the aforementioned hepatoma cell lines. A549 cells are permissive for HEV-1, HEV-3, HEV-4, and HEV-5 strains. They support infection and HEV replication at levels similar to HepG2/C3A [211] or PLC/PRF/5 [144]. Notably, A549 cells were used to isolate

HEV strain 47832c [212], another cell culture adapted model virus. This isolate was, in turn, used to identify A549/D3, a highly permissive subclone of A549 [213].

There is a number of reports of productive HEV replication in further cell lines, such as HepaRG [214], CaCo-2 [119], baby hamster kidney cells (BHK-21) [215], primary human hepatocytes (PHH) [211], and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) [216]. However, none of these systems have been widely adapted as they tend to be inefficient, difficult to handle, or both. In many cases, HEV cell culture systems rely on adapted strains which may not accurately represent field strains of HEV. In particular, cell culture isolates often contain point mutations or insertions which enhance HEV growth in cell culture conditions [217]. Insertions within the hypervariable region of ORF1 have been identified in several model strains of HEV, such as Kernow-C1/p6 or 47832c and are a prerequisite for the ability of these strains to replicate in cell culture [114,115]. However, the exact mechanism enabling efficient growth of HEV *in vitro* is currently unknown. Further work will be necessary to determine which viral and host factors are involved.

1.5 Reverse genetics and replicon systems

Reverse genetics can be defined as "an approach wherein a nucleic acid is modified at predetermined positions in vitro and the effects of these interventions are scored in vitro or in vivo" [218]. This constitutes a complement to classical, or forward, genetics, where a trait or phenotype is identified first, followed by investigation of the underlying genotype [219]. In the context of RNA viruses, the term "reverse genetics" is these days used more broadly to refer to "the creation of a virus from a full-length cDNA copy of the viral genome" [220]. Reverse genetics systems (RGS) and cDNA clones are an indispensable tool for working with RNA viruses because they greatly simplify manipulation of the viral genome. Initially demonstrated with the RNA bacteriophage Q β in 1978 [221], the approach had been applied to poliovirus by 1981 [222]. In the years since, the technique has been applied to many other viruses and refined by incorporation of emerging technologies, such as DNA synthesis [223]. The first cDNA clone of HEV (pSGI-HEV(I); genotype HEV-1) was published in 2000 by Panda and colleagues [224]. Upon in vitro transcription and transfection of HepG2 cells, the authors detected viral proteins and antisense RNA, and demonstrated that the cell culture supernatant was infectious to rhesus macaques. Surprisingly, infectious virus was rescued despite using RNA without a 5' cap structure [224]. In contrast, Emerson et al. showed just a year later with a different clone (Sar55; genotype HEV-1) that capping is guite important in order to establish productive infection when the RNA is injected intrahepatically into chimpanzees [225]. Similarly, HEV-3 cDNA clones were constructed from swine HEV sequences. The RNAs generated from these clones were replication competent in cell

culture and infectious *in vivo* upon intrahepatic inoculation of pigs [226]. cDNA clones of other HEV-3 strains were published subsequently, particularly of established cell culture adapted strains, such as JE03-1760F [227], Kernow-C1/p6 [114], and 47832mc [228]. Similarly, cDNA clones were generated of HEV-4 [229], HEV-5 [39], HEV-7 [203], and HEV-8 [204]. Over the years, cDNA clones have been instrumental in decoding the viral genome. For example, intragenotypic chimeric clones have given some insight into the viral factors that determine host specificity [230]. However, one of the greatest advantages is the ability to omit the inefficient infection process by transfecting cells with HEV RNA. In this way, higher viral titers can be recovered compared to conventional infection assays, which simplifies the investigation of the viral life cycle [211].

The ability to initiate virus replication without having to rely on effective infection opens up the possibility of working with noninfectious subgenomic replicons. A replicon was defined by Jacob, Brenner, and Cuzin as "a unit capable of independent replication" [231]. Although this definition was originally formulated in the context of DNA replication in bacteria, the concept also applies to self-replicating RNA sequences. A replicon must carry two components, the replicator and the initiator, wherein the *initiator* is a gene encoding a protein which can, actively or passively, initiate replication by acting on a specific DNA or RNA sequence, the *replicator* [231]. Accordingly, the HEV genome can be seen as a replicon, which encodes the nonstructural protein or replicase (initiator). Additionally, the HEV genome encodes the structural proteins of ORF2 and ORF3, which are not required for replication and can therefore be knocked out, or deleted, thus resulting in a *subgenomic* replicon (Figure 4). In the context of RNA viruses, the term "replicon" is often used to refer specifically to a subgenomic, non-infectious replicon [232,233] in contrast to infectious virus.



Figure 4: Schematic representation of a subgenomic HEV replicon. The structural protein genes (ORF2 & ORF3) in the viral genome are replaced by an appropriate reporter, such as a fluorescent protein, luciferase, or antibiotic resistance gene. During viral replication, the subgenomic RNA (sgRNA), which now contains the reporter coding sequence rather than the structural protein genes, is transcribed by the nonstructural protein (NSP) under control of the subgenomic promoter (sgP) and expressed by the host cell.

Subgenomic replicons are nowadays a valuable tool in virology and beyond. For instance, an HCV replicon was the key to an HCV cell culture model, which eventually made it possible to identify antiviral drug candidates, several of which proved successful in clinical trials. As result, the formerly untreatable chronic hepatitis C can now be treated in 90% of the cases [234]. Furthermore, replicons can also be used as powerful vectors for protein expression in eukaryotic cells [235], or as self-amplifying RNA vaccines [236]. In the case of HEV, replicons were used in the evaluation of several key parameters of viral replication. Examples include the transcription and translation of the subgenomic RNA [99], as well as identification of the subgenomic promoter [237], insights into the role of RNA secondary structures within the HEV genome [238], characterization of the structure and function of viral proteins [130,159], or screening for antiviral drug candidates [239]. In summary, replicons have contributed greatly to our knowledge of HEV and are a promising model system for future research. However, RGS and replicon systems as cell culture models for HEV have limitations. For one, by cloning a single viral sequence, the natural virus diversity within a quasispecies [240] is reduced to a single, clonal, virus genome.

dependent on a model virus that is adapted to growth in cell culture in the first place. Conversely, it is almost impossible to examine non-adapted strains due to the lack of output. High genetic diversity among HEV strains makes it difficult to predict which mutations are the cause of such adaptation. A good example for this is a recent publication by Zhang et al., in which three clones of different rabbit HEV strains were constructed and tested in the same conditions. One showed high levels of replication in cell culture, whereas the remaining two did not replicate under the same conditions. It was not possible to deduct a reason for this divergence [241]. In conclusion, despite considerable progress in elucidating of HEV molecular virology, much of the viral life cycle is still in the dark. Further work is needed to decipher the diverse factors involved in the replication, infection, and pathogenesis of HEV.

2 Objectives

Zoonotic transmission of HEV has been recognized in recent years as a leading cause of human hepatitis E. Consequently, HEV is now increasingly being discussed in the context of One Health. By understanding the processes of infection, replication, pathogenicity, and transmission in the animal host, we can better understand the course of the infection in humans and vice versa. In Germany, the known animal reservoirs are pigs and wild boars, as well as rabbits. Thus, along with humans, these animals are our main concern for understanding the epidemiology, pathogenesis, and transmission of HEV in Germany.

As part of the German One Health Initiative (GOHI), the focus of this work lies in the phylogenetic and molecular characterization of potentially zoonotic strains of HEV from these species. This is achieved by

- Investigation of the epidemiology of HEV in the known reservoir hosts of zoonotic HEV, pigs and wild boars, in north-eastern Germany.
- Demonstrating evidence of a hitherto unknown HEV subtype in a rabbit, which adds further support to the role of rabbits as reservoir species and animal model of HEV infection.
- Establishment of a modular RGS with HEV reporter replicons to investigate the influence of discrete subgenomic fragments on virus replication in cell culture.

3 Publications

(I) Co-circulation of different hepatitis E virus genotype 3 sub-types in pigs and wild boar in north-east Germany, 2019

Priemer, G.; Cierniak, F.; Wolf, C.; Ulrich, R. G.; Groschup, M. H.; Eiden, M.

Pathogens

Volume 11, Issue 7

July 2022

doi: 10.3390/pathogens11070773





Grit Priemer¹, Filip Cierniak², Carola Wolf¹, Rainer G. Ulrich^{2,3}, Martin H. Groschup^{2,3} and Martin Eiden^{2,*}

- ¹ Department 2—Animal Disease Diagnostics, State Office for Agriculture, Food Safety and Fisheries Mecklenburg—Western Pomerania, 18059 Rostock, Germany; grit.priemer@lallf.mvnet.de (G.P.); carola.wolf@lallf.mvnet.de (C.W.)
- ² Institute of Novel and Emerging Infectious Diseases at the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Federal Research Institute for Animal Health, 17493 Greifswald-Insel Riems, Germany; filip.cierniak@outlook.de (F.C.); rainer.ulrich@fli.de (R.G.U.); martin.groschup@fli.de (M.H.G.)
- Partner Site Hamburg-Lübeck-Borstel-Riems, German Centre for Infection Research (DZIF),
- 17493 Greifswald-Insel Riems, Germany * Correspondence: martin.eiden@fli.de
- Correspondence: martin.eidenøin.de

Check for updates

Citation: Priemer, G.; Cierniak, F.; Wolf, C.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Co-Circulation of Different Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Subtypes in Pigs and Wild Boar in North-East Germany, 2019. *Pathogens* 2022, 11, 773. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/pathogens11070773

Academic Editors: Barbara Di Martino, Federica Di Profio and Andrea Palombieri

Received: 31 May 2022 Accepted: 1 July 2022 Published: 6 July 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). Abstract: Hepatitis E is a major cause of acute liver disease in humans worldwide. The infection is caused by hepatitis E virus (HEV) which is transmitted in Europe to humans primarily through zoonotic foodborne transmission from domestic pigs, wild boar, rabbits, and deer. HEV belongs to the family Hepeviridae, and possesses a positive-sense, single stranded RNA genome. This agent usually causes an acute self-limited infection in humans, but in people with low immunity, e.g., immunosuppressive therapy or underlying liver diseases, the infection can evolve to chronicity and is able to induce a variety of extrahepatic manifestations. Pig and wild boar have been identified as the primary animal reservoir in Europe, and consumption of raw and undercooked pork is known to pose a potential risk of foodborne HEV infection. In this study, we analysed pig and wild boar liver, faeces, and muscle samples collected in 2019 in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, north-east Germany. A total of 393 animals of both species were investigated using quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR), conventional nested RT-PCR and sequence analysis of amplification products. In 33 animals, HEV RNA was detected in liver and/or faeces. In one individual, viral RNA was detected in muscle tissue. Sequence analysis of a partial open reading frame 1 region demonstrated a broad variety of genotype 3 (HEV-3) subtypes. In conclusion, the study demonstrates a high, but varying prevalence of HEV RNA in swine populations in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania. The associated risk of foodborne HEV infection needs the establishment of sustainable surveillance and treatment strategies at the interface between humans, animals, and the environment within a One Health framework.

Keywords: Hepeviridae; genotype; HEV-3; subtype; reservoir; transmission; One Health

1. Introduction

Hepatitis E virus (HEV) belongs to the *Hepeviridae* family and is the most common cause of acute viral hepatitis throughout the world [1]. In total, 20 million HEV infections occur each year, with over three million acute cases and 44,000 hepatitis E-related deaths [2]. Hepeviruses are subdivided into the subfamilies *Orthohepevirinae* and *Parahepevirinae* with fish-infecting hepeviruses. Most human pathogenic genotypes are grouped within the species *Orthohepevirus balayani* [3]. These are the exclusively human-associated genotypes HEV-1 and HEV-2 as well as the zoonotic genotypes HEV-3/HEV-4, which circulate between animal reservoirs and humans. In contrast to HEV-3, which is endemic in Europe, there are only few reports of HEV-4 in Europe so far. This includes infection of pigs in

Pathogens 2022, 11, 773. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11070773

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/pathogens

MDPI

Belgium [4] and human cases in Germany in 2007 [5], Italy in 2011 [6] and France in 2014 [7]. Recently, the camel-associated genotype HEV-7 has been detected in a human patient [8].

Genera Avihepevirus comprises avian, and Chirohepevirus bat-associated hepevirus strains. Genus Rocahepevirus comprises rodent and mustelid borne hepeviruses; rat HEV (species Orthohepevirus ratti)-related infections of patients have been described recently [9–11], demonstrating the zoonotic potential of this hepevirus.

HEV is highly endemic in regions in Africa, Asia, or the Middle East and causes large epidemics of acute hepatitis in these regions, mainly due to poor sanitation and contaminated drinking water. One major route of transmission in developed countries is zoonotic [12]. In Europe, which is almost exclusively dominated by genotype HEV-3, the consumption of contaminated and undercooked food, especially pork and meat products, is the most common cause of infection [13]. Transfer of blood, blood products, and organ transplantations are additional routes of transmission and infection [14].

The HEV genome is a single-stranded positive-sense RNA genome of approximately 7.2 kb. The open reading frame 1 (ORF1) at the 5' end of the genome encodes the nonstructural polyprotein. ORF2 encodes the capsid protein and is located at the 3' end of the viral genome. ORF3 encodes a small multifunctional protein and overlaps with the 5' end of ORF2 [15]. This overlapping region is highly conserved and can be used for molecular detection of HEV RNA [16,17]. Additionally, the 5' end of the viral genome acts as binding site for the viral RNA-directed RNA polymerase (RdRP), is also highly conserved, and can therefore be used as a target for molecular detection as well [17].

HEV-3 infections of humans through ingestion of contaminated, undercooked animal products have been thoroughly investigated and provide evidence for a broad spectrum of animal species including swine, deer, rabbit, and camel as source of infection [13]. In Europe, this mainly comprises wild boars and pigs, but also rabbits and deer [18]. In Germany, rabbits show high detection rates with a rabbit-specific subtype (HEV-3ra) displaying a RNA prevalence of 17 to 25% [19–21]. Isolated human cases of infection, especially in France with this genotype, demonstrate the zoonotic potential of this virus variant [22]. In contrast, the German roe and red deer populations exhibit only low detection rates of both HEV-specific antibodies and RNA [23], which suggests a rather minor importance of these animal species as virus reservoirs for human infections in Germany so far.

In our study, liver and muscle tissue samples and faeces from 318 pigs and 75 wild boars were collected during 2019 by the State Office for Agriculture, Food Safety and Fisheries Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania (Landesamt für Landwirtschaft, Lebensmittelsicherheit und Fischerei Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, LALLF) and provided for HEV diagnostic investigations. Viral RNA was detected in 27 farmed pigs and 6 wild boars, including one muscle sample, which demonstrates a continuing high prevalence of HEV in farmed pigs and wild boar in the north-east of Germany.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Collection of Wild Boar and Pig Samples

Wild boar and pig liver and muscle samples were collected over the entire year 2019 by the LALLF and monthly shipped to FLI for further analysis. Muscle tissue originates from lateral femoral musculature (musculus biceps femoris). Accompanying faeces samples were collected between August and December 2019 (see Supplementary Table S1).

2.2. RNA Isolation

RNA extraction from liver and muscle tissue samples was performed with the Qiagen RNeasy Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions. Liver and muscle tissues were freshly prepared during dissection and immediately frozen. For RNA extraction, MS2 bacteriophages were added to the tissue and faeces samples. RNA was then isolated with the RNeasy kit using guanidine thiocyanate and selective binding of RNA on a silica-based membrane, which removes most of the potential inhibitors, enables efficient RNA recovery and is especially recommended for liver and muscle tissues. From faecal samples, a 10% suspension was made with 0.89% NaCl-solution. After vortexing and centrifugation ($4400 \times g$, 4 °C, 20 min), the supernatant was sterile filtrated using a sterile 0.22 μ m MILLEX-GP Syringe Filter Unit (Millipore, Tullagreen, Ireland) and subjected to RNA isolation using the QIAamp viral RNA Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany).

2.3. Quantitative Real-Time RT-PCR and Sequence Analysis

HEV RNA was detected with a quantitative real-time RT-PCR (RT-gPCR), which targets a sequence within a conserved overlapping ORF2/ORF3 region, and determined by cycle threshold (ct) values [17]. The following primers and probes were used: forward primer (5'-GTGCCGGCGGTGGTTTCTG-3'), reverse primer (5'-GCGAAGGGGTTGGTTGGATG -3') and probe 5'-FAM-TGACMGGGTTGATTCTCAGCC-BHQ1-3'). As internal RNA extraction and RT-qPCR control, RNA bacteriophage MS2 particles were added to each sample to exclude false negative results in accordance with [24]. MS2 bacteriophage derived RNA was detected using primers MS2F (5'-CTCTGAGAGCGGCTCTATTGGT-3'), MS2R (5'-GTTCCCTACAACGAGCCTAAATTC-3') and MS2 probe (5'-HEX-TCAGACACGCGGTC CGCTATAACGA-BHQ1-3'). The assays were carried out following the Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR Experiments (MIQE) guidelines [25]. For phylogenetic analysis, partial sequences were amplified targeting an ORF1 region (nucleotide positions 127-376; numbering refers to FJ705359) using a nested RT-PCR protocol with first round primers HEV.ORF1_F1 (5'-CCCAYCAGTTYATWAAGGCTCCTGGC-3') and HEV.ORF1_R1 (5'-TGCARDGARTANARRGCNAYNCCNGTCTC-3') followed by second round primers HEV.ORF1_F2 (5'-AAYTCYGCCYTGGCGAATGCTGTGGTGGT-3') and HEV.ORF1_R2 (5'-CCVCGRGTNG GRGCRGWRTACCA-3'). In brief, reverse transcription was carried out with Superscript® III Reverse Transcriptase (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA) and the subsequent nested PCR with Maxima SYBR Green/Fluorescein gPCR Master Mix Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA). Finally, a melting curve analysis was performed starting with a temperature gradient from 68 to 94 °C in steps of 0.2 °C. Positive samples were identified by melting peaks and amplicons were subsequently sequenced (Eurofins Genomics, Munich, Germany). Detailed protocol is found in a previous publication [17].

2.4. Phylogenetic Analysis

Reference sequences for HEV-3 subtypes were selected according to [26]. The sequences were aligned using, with Minimap2 [27], using HEV-1 (GenBank acc. no. M73218) as reference (full HEV-3 sequence set). Multiple alignments of amplicon sequences were made using MUSCLE in MEGA 11 [28,29] and subsequently manually inserted into the reference alignment using Ugene [30]. The phylogenetic analysis of the amplicon region was performed with MEGA 11 using the Maximum Likelihood method and General Time Reversible (GTR) model. A discrete gamma distribution was used to model evolutionary rate differences among sites (5 categories). The rate variation model allowed for some sites to be evolutionarily invariable. Tree visualisation was done in MEGA and in R [31] using Rstudio [32] with packages dplyr [33], ggplot2 [34], ggtree [35–37], and treeio [38].

3. Results

In 2019, samples from 317 pigs and 76 wild boars were collected by routine sampling in the framework of a disease monitoring program by the LALLF and transferred to FLI. Liver, muscle, and faecal samples were submitted from 179 animals, liver, and muscle tissue from 212 animals, from one individual-only faeces, and from one individual-only muscle tissue. A compilation of collected samples is displayed in Supplementary Table S1. All samples were subjected to RNA isolation followed by HEV-specific RT-qPCR. To avoid false negative results due to RT-PCR inhibitors within the tissue or faeces samples a silica bead-based RNA extraction method of freshly prepared samples was performed to which a bacteriophage MS2 based RNA extraction control was added. A multiplex RT-qPCR was performed detecting HEV RNA, in the FAM channel and the MS2-RNA in the HEX channel,

which provides the validity of the RT-PCR reaction. In total, in 33 individuals,27 farmed pigs and 6 wild boars, viral RNA was detected either in liver (*n* = 31) and/or accompanying faeces (*n* = 14) (Table 1). The monthly number of analysed individuals varied between 23 and 44. The number of HEV RNA-positive animals varied between 0 and 6, resulting in monthly prevalences of 0 to 14.6% (mean 8.14%; 95% confidence interval, CI, 5.66–10.62%) over the year (Figure 1). In one case, in addition to liver, viral RNA could be detected in a muscle sample exhibiting a low ct value of 20.1. RT-PCR detection of HEV RNA followed a nested SYBR Green RT-PCR protocol followed by sequencing of generated amplicons at Eurofins (Munich, Germany). For 31 out of 33 animals, a partial sequence from the ORF1 region of the genome could be recovered which was used for phylogenetic analysis with MEGA 11 (Figure 2).

 Table 1. Summary of positive animals, including ct values from liver, faeces, and muscle samples as well as subtype annotation of the HEV sequence.

No.	Sample ID	Species	Tissue (ct-Value)			<u> </u>	6 1.	Accession
			Liver	Faeces	Muscle	Genotype	Subtype	Number
1	MWP2019-9	wb	32.7	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3i-like	ON240936
2	MWP2019-14	pig	21.3	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3c	ON240935
3	MWP2019-22	wb	22.86	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3i-like	ON240934
4	MWP2019-23	pig	26.52	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3f	ON240933
5	MWP2019-24	pig	24.14	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3f	ON240932
6	MWP2019-33	pig	32.36	n.a.	neg	no sequence	-	-
7	MWP2019-35	pig	19.23	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3c	ON240931
8	MWP2019-53	pig	27	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3f	ON240930
9	MWP2019-97	pig	26.2	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3a	ON240929
10	MWP2019-100	pig	22.2	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3a	ON240928
11	MWP2019-104	pig	33.1	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3a	ON240927
12	MWP2019-113	pig	32.8	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3f	ON240926
13	MWP2019-117	wb	28.1	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3c	ON240925
14	MWP2019-170	pig	23.1	n.a.	20.7	HEV-3	3f	ON240924
15	MWP2019-190	pig	27.4	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3c	ON240923
16	MWP2019-208	pig	23.5	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3f	ON240922
17	MWP2019-209	pig	32.4	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3f	ON240921
18	MWP2019-242	pig	30.4	29.19	neg	HEV-3	3f	ON240949
19	MWP2019-255	pig	31.34	38.20	neg	HEV-3	3k	ON240948
20	MWP2019-256	pig	34.62	34.19	neg	HEV-3	3k	ON240947
21	MWP2019-257	pig	36.65	40.71	neg	HEV-3	3k	ON240946
22	MWP2019-276	pig	21.26	20.26	neg	HEV-3	3e	ON240945
23	MWP2019-277	pig	n.a.	34.68	neg	no sequence	-	-
24	MWP2019-288	pig	22.86	24.56	neg	HEV-3	3e	ON240943
25	MWP2019-292	wb	23.95	27	neg	HEV-3	3i-like	ON240942
26	MWP2019-314	pig	22.8	22.69	neg	HEV-3	3c	ON240950
27	MWP2019-315	pig	22.1	22.39	neg	HEV-3	3i-like	ON240941
28	MWP2019-316	pig	23.29	21.19	neg	HEV-3	3c	ON240940
29	MWP2019-317	pig	20.18	22.1	neg	HEV-3	3c	ON240939
30	MWP2019-354	pig	23.56	24.19	neg	HEV-3	3a	ON240938
31	MWP2019-366	pig	28.05	n.a	neg	HEV-3	3k	ON240937
32	MWP2019-385	wb	n.a.	23.51	neg	HEV-3	3c	ON240944
33	MWP2019-386	wb	16.3	n.a.	neg	HEV-3	3c	ON240944

wb, wild boar; n.a., no sample available; neg, negative.

The examination revealed for each sequence an affiliation to HEV-3 genotype, but a high variety of HEV-3 subtypes. In total, six different subtypes were identified in pig and wild boar including subtypes 3a (n = 4 pigs/0 wild boar), 3c (n = 6 pigs/3 wild boars), 3e (n = 2 pigs/0 wild boar), 3f (n = 8 pigs/0 wild boar), and 3k (n = 4 pigs/0 wild boar).

One set of four (1 pig/3 wild boars) sequences (3i-like) cluster with wild boar strains (MF959764, KP294371) that have not been assigned to a subtype by Smith et al. [26], but were assigned to subtype 3i in a more detailed analysis of HEV-3 [39]. A detailed phylogenetic tree based on recovered partial sequences is deposited as Supplementary Figure S1. In general, when both liver and faecal samples were HEV RNA-positive, the ct value (as proxy for viral load) was approximately the same (n = 11). The two exceptions iare pig MWP2019-255 with ct values of 31.34 (liver) vs. 38.2 (faeces).and pig MWP2019-257 with ct values of 36.65 (liver) vs. 40.71 (faeces).



Figure 1. Number of pigs and wild boars collected per month (blue and green column, respectively) with the respective number of HEV RNA-positive liver (orange bar) and corresponding prevalence rates (red dots). Animals were sampled in 2019 in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, Germany.



0.50

Figure 2. Phylogenetic relationship of HEV sequences from domestic pig and wild boar livers or faeces (MWP2019-385). The phylogenetic tree is based on the 250 nucleotide ORF1 region of HEV (nucleotide positions 127–376 of reference sequence FJ705359). The tree is drawn to scale, as the evolutionary distances used to derive the phylogenetic tree. The sequences retrieved from the NCBI GenBank are given with accession numbers. The HEV sequences obtained in this study from pigs are in red, sequences obtained from wild boar are in orange. Reconstruction of phylogenetic tree using Maximum Likelihood method with 500 bootstrap iterations. Bootstrap values >70 are annotated.

4. Discussion

In total, 393 animals were investigated for HEV RNA, yielding a prevalence of 8.5% in domestic pigs and 7.9% in wild boars. The results confirmed the circulation of HEV-3 in pigs and wild boar in the federal state of Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania located in north-east Germany on the Baltic Sea coast. The results are in line with previous findings in the same region from 1996/1997 and 2005/2006 where viral RNA was detected in wild boar blood samples at prevalences of approximately 3.4% and 5.2%, and in addition, in wild boar livers from the Greifswald region with a prevalence of 10.4%, respectively [17].

Several studies in Germany assigned domestic pigs and wild boars as main HEV reservoirs, which is reflected by high seroprevalence rates in farmed pigs, ranging from 42.7% and 49.8%, up to 100% [40–42] and 33%, up to 41% in wild boars [43,44]. High rates in pigs were also found throughout Europe with seroprevalences from 20.4% in Spain [45],

45.1% in Italy [46], 60% in France [47], 70% in The Netherlands [48], and 92.8% in the United Kingdom [49]. These high prevalences indicate the significant risk for developing HEV infection after consumption of pork. This route of transmission has been directly confirmed in case and outbreak investigations, in which the same virus strain was detected both in the patient and in the consumed food. In France, an outbreak of hepatitis E was described in seven people infected by eating traditional sausage ("Figatellu") containing raw pork portions [50]. A similar case has also been reported in Switzerland, which occurred after consumption of a different type of sausage containing raw pork liver [51]. Another report also confirmed the presence of infectious virus in pork liver sausage from southern France [52]. For Germany, several studies have been conducted that identified the consumption of offal and wild boar meat [5], ready-to-eat pork products [53] and sausages [54] as the highest risk factor for hepatitis E disease. Especially liver and liver sausages are main infectious food sources, which is reflected by high viral RNA prevalences ranging from 5.2% in blood [17], over 18% in liver up to 56.3% in bile samples of wild boars [55] as well as 13.5% in pig derived liver samples [56] and 22.0% in liver sausages from Germany [57]. Similar observations have been made throughout Europe [13].

HEV strains from 31 out of 33 HEV positive animals could be genotyped and exhibited a great variety of HEV-3 subtypes including 3a, 3c, 3e, 3f, and 3k. Most of the subtypes (3a, 3c, 3e, 3f) have been regularly found in pigs from Germany and were also detected in humans in Germany [17], which indicates that pigs are a probable source of human infections. Regarding subtype 3k, there is only one notification in Europe from pigs from Slovenia [17] and otherwise reports from human strains in Japan [58]. Additionally, sequences of four samples, designated as HEV-3i-like, cluster with MF959764 and KP294371, sequences which were not assigned to a subtype proposed by Smith et al. [26]. However, a more recent analysis groups both sequences with subtype HEV-3i [39], Notably, KP294371 was detected in a wild boar in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania in 2010 [59,60]. In each case, the faecal samples that accompanied the positive liver samples were also positive and recovered sequences were in virtually all cases highly similar or identical (Figure S1). For further conclusions on the transmission and circulation of HEV strains between humans, pigs, and wild boars in Germany, a higher number of German porcine-derived HEV sequences would be supportive.

The detection of HEV RNA with high load in a muscle tissue from one pig underlines the public health risks associated with HEV as a foodborne pathogen. The analysed muscle derives from lateral femoral musculature, which is often supplied as high-quality meat, e.g., steaks. So far, HEV RNA presence in muscle of naturally infected pig was documented only in few studies: In one study from Spain, a HEV-positive diaphragm in 1 out of 225 slaughterhouse pigs was detected [61] and a second surveillance documented 1 and 2 positive lingual muscle samples collected in slaughterhouses from Czech Republic and Italy, respectively [62]. A second report from Italy detected 8 positive diaphragm muscles from 585 slaughtered pigs [63]. A positive diaphragm muscle (1/45) was also detected in slaughtered pigs from Spain [64]. No viral RNA could be observed in muscle tissue from slaughterhouse samples in Canada (Leblanc et al. [65]; number of samples: n = 43), France ([47], n = 1134) and Denmark ([66]; n = 10). In contrast, multiple findings were notified in muscle tissue samples of German wild boar and deer [67] and wild boar muscle tissues from Italy [68]. However, in such studies, attention must be given to the risk of cross-contamination of carcass surfaces during the dissection as notified by others [69,70]. In our study, however, the muscle sample had a very low ct value compared to the liver (ct value 20.7 vs. 23.1) and was prepared during dissection by an experienced pathologist for subsequent examination, which minimised the risk of contamination. The detected HEV strain in pig muscle belongs to subtype 3f which needs further attention because this subtype has been assigned to acute human HEV cases in France [71] and higher risk of hospitalisation in Belgium [72] as well as was involved in a hepatitis E outbreak in Italy 2019 [73].
In conclusion, this study highlights the need for the implementation of control measures including continuous surveillance and monitoring of HEV in domestic pigs and wild boars throughout Germany. Within the framework of a One Health concept, further epidemiology studies should consider the inclusion of human specimen and elucidate the interplay of HEV subtypes on acute hepatitis, hospitalisation, and chronic courses of HEV infections.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https:// www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/pathogens11070773/s1, Figure S1: Molecular phylogenetic analysis of 139 250-nucleotide-long partial ORF1 HEV-3 sequences corresponding to the region 127–376 of reference sequence FJ705359. Table S1: Summary of the data for all sampled domestic pig and wild boar.

Author Contributions: Conceptualisation, M.H.G., M.E. and C.W.; methodology, M.E., E.C., C.W., and G.P.; software, F.C.; validation, M.E., R.G.U., and M.H.G.; formal analysis, G.P. and M.E.; investigation, G.P. and M.E.; resources, C.W. and G.P.; data curation, M.E. and G.P.; writing—original draft preparation, F.C. and M.E.; writing—review and editing, F.C., R.G.U. and M.E.; visualisation, M.E. and F.C. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut within the German One Health Initiative (GOHI), intramural grant number HR-0019 and partially by the Project "Vaccine to inhibit Autochtonous transmission of Hepatitis E (VaccInATE)", internal project number Ri-0907.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant information is contained within the manuscript or the Supplementary Materials. The novel RNA sequences were uploaded at GenBank with the accession numbers ON240921, ON240922, ON240923, ON240924, ON240925, ON240926, ON240927, ON240928, ON240929, ON240930, ON240931, ON240932, ON240933, ON240934, ON240935, ON240936, ON240937, ON240938, ON240939, ON240930, ON240941, ON240942, ON240942, ON240944, ON240945, ON240946, ON240947, ON240948, ON240949, and ON240950.

Acknowledgments: We thank Birke Lange (FLI) for excellent technical assistance and Alberto Drohla and René Benz (LALLF) for great assistance during dissection and sampling.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the results.

References

- 1. Ankcorn, M.J.; Tedder, R.S. Hepatitis E: The current state of play. Transfus. Med. 2017, 27, 84–95. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- WHO. Hepatitis E. 2022. Available online: https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hepatitis-e (accessed on 10 March 2022).
- Smith, D.B.; Simmonds, P.; Jameel, S.; Emerson, S.U.; Harrison, T.J.; Meng, X.J.; Okamoto, H.; Van der Poel, W.H.M.; Purdy, M.A.; International Committee on the Taxonomy of Viruses Hepeviridae Study Group. Consensus proposals for classification of the family Hepeviridae. J. Gen. Virol. 2014, 95, 2223–2232. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Hakze-van der Honing, R.W.; van Coillie, E.; Antonis, A.F.; van der Poel, W.H. First isolation of hepatitis E virus genotype 4 in Europe through swine surveillance in the Netherlands and Belgium. *PLoS ONE* **2011**, *6*, e22673. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wichmann, O.; Schimanski, S.; Koch, J.; Kohler, M.; Rothe, C.; Plentz, A.; Jilg, W.; Stark, K. Phylogenetic and case-control study on hepatitis E virus infection in Germany. J. Infect. Dis. 2008, 198, 1732–1741. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Garbuglia, A.R.; Scognamiglio, P.; Petrosillo, N.; Mastroianni, C.M.; Sordillo, P.; Gentile, D.; La Scala, P.; Girardi, E.; Capobianchi, M.R. Hepatitis E virus genotype 4 outbreak, Italy, 2011. *Emerg Infect. Dis.* 2013, 19, 110–114. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bouamra, Y.; Gerolami, R.; Arzouni, J.P.; Grimaud, J.C.; Lafforgue, P.; Nelli, M.; Tivoli, N.; Ferretti, A.; Motte, A.; Colson, P. Emergence of autochthonous infections with hepatitis E virus of genotype 4 in Europe. *Intervirology* 2014, 57, 43–48. [CrossRef]
- Lee, G.H.; Tan, B.H.; Teo, E.C.; Lim, S.G.; Dan, Y.Y.; Wee, A.; Aw, P.P.; Zhu, Y.; Hibberd, M.L.; Tan, C.K.; et al. Chronic infection with camelid hepatitis E virus in a liver transplant recipient who regularly consumes camel meat and milk. *Gastroenterology* 2016, 150, 355–357.e3. [CrossRef]
- Andonov, A.; Robbins, M.; Borlang, J.; Cao, J.; Hatchette, T.; Stueck, A.; Deschambault, Y.; Murnaghan, K.; Varga, J.; Johnston, L. Rat hepatitis E virus linked to severe acute hepatitis in an immunocompetent patient. J. Infect. Dis 2019, 220, 951–955. [CrossRef]

- Sridhar, S.; Yip, C.C.; Wu, S.; Chew, N.F.; Leung, K.H.; Chan, J.F.; Zhao, P.S.; Chan, W.M.; Poon, R.W.; Tsoi, H.W.; et al. Transmission of rat hepatitis E virus infection to humans in Hong Kong: A clinical and epidemiological analysis. *Hepatology* 2021, 73, 10–22. [CrossRef]
- Rivero-Juarez, A.; Frias, M.; Perez, A.B.; Pineda, J.A.; Reina, G.; Fuentes-Lopez, A.; Freyre-Carrillo, C.; Ramirez-Arellano, E.; Alados, J.C.; Rivero, A.; et al. Orthohepevirus C infection as an emerging cause of acute hepatitis in Spain: First report in Europe. J. Hepatol. 2022, in press. [CrossRef]
- Dalton, H.R.; Izopet, J. Transmission and epidemiology of hepatitis E virus genotype 3 and 4 infections. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2018, 8, a032144. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Treagus, S.; Wright, C.; Baker-Austin, C.; Longdon, B.; Lowther, J. The foodborne transmission of hepatitis E virus to humans. Food Environ. Virol. 2021, 13, 127–145. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Velavan, T.P.; Pallerla, S.R.; Johne, R.; Todt, D.; Steinmann, E.; Schemmerer, M.; Wenzel, J.J.; Hofmann, J.; Shih, J.W.K.; Wedemeyer, H.; et al. Hepatitis E: An update on One Health and clinical medicine. *Liver Int.* 2021, 41, 1462–1473. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Cao, D.; Meng, X.J. Molecular biology and replication of hepatitis E virus. Emerg. Microbes Infect. 2012, 1, e17. [CrossRef]
- Jothikumar, N.; Cromeans, T.L.; Robertson, B.H.; Meng, X.J.; Hill, V.R. A broadly reactive one-step real-time RT-PCR assay for rapid and sensitive detection of hepatitis E virus. J. Virol. Methods 2006, 131, 65–71. [CrossRef]
- Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Schlosser, J.; Becher, D.; Kaden, V.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Hepatitis E virus genotype 3 diversity: Phylogenetic analysis and presence of subtype 3b in wild boar in Europe. *Viruses* 2015, 7, 2704–2726. [CrossRef]
- 18. Wang, B.; Meng, X.J. Hepatitis E virus: Host tropism and zoonotic infection. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 2021, 59, 8–15. [CrossRef]
- Eiden, M.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Schlosser, J.; Schirrmeier, H.; Groschup, M.H. Detection of hepatitis E virus in archived rabbit serum samples, Germany 1989. Food Environ. Virol. 2016, 8, 105–107. [CrossRef]
- Hammerschmidt, F.; Schwaiger, K.; Dahnert, L.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Hoper, D.; Gareis, M.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Hepatitis E virus in wild rabbits and European brown hares in Germany. *Zoonoses Public Health* 2017, 64, 612–622. [CrossRef]
- Ryll, R.; Eiden, M.; Heuser, E.; Weinhardt, M.; Ziege, M.; Hoper, D.; Groschup, M.H.; Heckel, G.; Johne, R.; Ulrich, R.G. Hepatitis E virus in feral rabbits along a rural-urban transect in Central Germany. *Infect. Genet. Evol* 2018, *61*, 155–159. [CrossRef]
- Abravanel, F.; Lhomme, S.; El Costa, H.; Schvartz, B.; Peron, J.M.; Kamar, N.; Izopet, J. Rabbit hepatitis E virus infections in humans, France. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2017, 23, 1191–1193. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Neumann, S.; Hackl, S.S.; Piepenschneider, M.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Dremsek, P.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Serologic and molecular survey of hepatitis E virus in German deer populations. J. Wildl Dis 2016, 52, 106–113. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ninove, L.; Nougairede, A.; Gazin, C.; Thirion, L.; Delogu, I.; Zandotti, C.; Charrel, R.N.; De Lamballerie, X. RNA and DNA bacteriophages as molecular diagnosis controls in clinical virology: A comprehensive study of more than 45,000 routine PCR tests. *PLoS ONE* 2011, 6, e16142. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bustin, S.A.; Benes, V.; Garson, J.A.; Hellemans, J.; Huggett, J.; Kubista, M.; Mueller, R.; Nolan, T.; Pfaffl, M.W.; Shipley, G.L.; et al. The MIQE guidelines: Minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. *Clin. Chem.* 2009, 55, 611–622. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Smith, D.B.; Izopet, J.; Nicot, F.; Simmonds, P.; Jameel, S.; Meng, X.J.; Norder, H.; Okamoto, H.; van der Poel, W.H.M.; Reuter, G.; et al. Update: Proposed reference sequences for subtypes of hepatitis E virus (species *Orthohepevirus A*). J. Gen. Virol. 2020, 101, 692. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Li, H. Minimap2: Pairwise alignment for nucleotide sequences. Bioinformatics 2018, 34, 3094–3100. [CrossRef]
- Tamura, K.; Stecher, G.; Kumar, S. MEGA11: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 11. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2021, 38, 3022–3027. [CrossRef]
- Moshiri, N. ViralMSA: Massively scalable reference-guided multiple sequence alignment of viral genomes. *Bioinformatics* 2021, 37, 714–716. [CrossRef]
- Okonechnikov, K.; Golosova, O.; Fursov, M.; Ugene Team. Unipro UGENE: A unified bioinformatics toolkit. *Bioinformatics* 2012, 28, 1166–1167. [CrossRef]
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2021.
- 32. RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R; RStudio, PBC: Boston, MA, USA, 2021.
- Wickham, H.; François, R.; Henry, L.; Müller, K. dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation, R package version 1.0.7. Available online: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dplyr (accessed on 30 May 2022). [CrossRef]
- 34. Wickham, H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2016.
- Yu, G.; Smith, D.K.; Zhu, H.; Guan, Y.; Lam, T.T.Y.; McInerny, G. ggtree: An R package for visualization and annotation of phylogenetic trees with their covariates and other associated data. *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 2016, 8, 28–36. [CrossRef]
- Yu, G.; Lam, T.T.; Zhu, H.; Guan, Y. Two methods for mapping and visualizing associated data on phylogeny using ggtree. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2018, 35, 3041–3043. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 37. Yu, G. Using ggtree to visualize data on tree-like structures. Curr. Protoc. Bioinform. 2020, 69, e96. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wang, L.G., Lam, T.T.; Xu, S.; Dai, Z.; Zhou, L.; Feng, T.; Guo, P.; Dunn, C.W.; Jones, B.R.; Bradley, T.; et al. Treeio: An R package for phylogenetic tree input and output with richly annotated and associated data. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 2020, 37, 599–603. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Nicot, F.; Dimeglio, C.; Migueres, M.; Jeanne, N.; Latour, J.; Abravanel, F.; Ranger, N.; Harter, A.; Dubois, M.; Lameiras, S.; et al. Classification of the zoonotic hepatitis E virus genotype 3 into distinct subgenotypes. Front. Microbiol. 2021, 11, 634430. [CrossRef]
- Dremsek, P.; Joel, S.; Baechlein, C.; Pavio, N.; Schielke, A.; Ziller, M.; Durrwald, R.; Renner, C.; Groschup, M.H.; Johne, R.; et al. Hepatitis E virus seroprevalence of domestic pigs in Germany determined by a novel in-house and two reference ELISAs. J. Virol. Methods 2013, 190, 11–16. [CrossRef]
- Baechlein, C.; Schielke, A.; Johne, R.; Ulrich, R.G.; Baumgaertner, W.; Grummer, B. Prevalence of hepatitis E virus-specific antibodies in sera of German domestic pigs estimated by using different assays. Vet. Microbiol. 2010, 144, 187–191. [CrossRef]
- Krumbholz, A.; Joel, S.; Neubert, A.; Dremsek, P.; Durrwald, R.; Johne, R.; Hlinak, A.; Walther, M.; Lange, J.; Wutzler, P.; et al. Age-related and regional differences in the prevalence of hepatitis E virus-specific antibodies in pigs in Germany. *Vet. Microbiol.* 2013, 167, 394–402. [CrossRef]
- Denzin, N.; Borgwardt, J. Occurrence and geographical distribution of antibodies to hepatitis E virus in wild boars of Saxony-Anhalt, Germany (2011). Berl. Munch. Tierarztl. Wochenschr. 2013, 126, 230–235.
- Schielke, A.; Ibrahim, V.; Czogiel, I.; Faber, M.; Schrader, C.; Dremsek, P.; Ulrich, R.G.; Johne, R. Hepatitis E virus antibody prevalence in hunters from a district in Central Germany, 2013: A cross-sectional study providing evidence for the benefit of protective gloves during disembowelling of wild boars. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 2015, *15*, 440. [CrossRef]
- De Oya, N.J.; de Blas, I.; Blazquez, A.B.; Martin-Acebes, M.A.; Halaihel, N.; Girones, O.; Saiz, J.C.; Escribano-Romero, E. Widespread distribution of hepatitis E virus in Spanish pig herds. *BMC Res. Notes* 2011, 4, 412. [CrossRef]
- Mughini-Gras, L.; Angeloni, G.; Salata, C.; Vonesch, N.; D'Amico, W.; Campagna, G.; Natale, A.; Zuliani, F.; Ceglie, L.; Monne, I.; et al. Hepatitis E virus infection in North Italy: High seroprevalence in swine herds and increased risk for swine workers. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 2017, 145, 3375–3384. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Feurer, C.; Le Roux, A.; Rossel, R.; Barnaud, E.; Dumarest, M.; Garry, P.; Pavio, N. High load of hepatitis E viral RNA in pork livers but absence in pork muscle at French slaughterhouses. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 2018, 264, 25–30. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 48. Rutjes, S.A.; Bouwknegt, M.; van der Giessen, J.W.; de Roda Husman, A.M.; Reusken, C.B. Seroprevalence of hepatitis E virus in pigs from different farming systems in The Netherlands. J. Food Prot. 2014, 77, 640–642. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Grierson, S.; Heaney, J.; Cheney, T.; Morgan, D.; Wyllie, S.; Powell, L.; Smith, D.; Ijaz, S.; Steinbach, F.; Choudhury, B.; et al. Prevalence of hepatitis E virus infection in pigs at the time of slaughter, United Kingdom, 2013. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2015, 21, 1396–1401. [CrossRef]
- Colson, P.; Borentain, P.; Queyriaux, B.; Kaba, M.; Moal, V.; Gallian, P.; Heyries, L.; Raoult, D.; Gerolami, R. Pig liver sausage as a source of hepatitis E virus transmission to humans. J. Infect. Dis. 2010, 202, 825–834. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kubacki, J.; Fraefel, C.; Jermini, M.; Giannini, P.; Martinetti, G.; Ripellino, P.; Bernasconi, E.; Sidler, X.; Stephan, R.; Bachofen, C. Complete genome sequences of two swiss hepatitis E virus isolates from human stool and raw pork sausage. *Genome Announc*. 2017, 5, e00888-17. [CrossRef]
- 52. Berto, A.; Grierson, S.; Hakze-van der Honing, R.; Martelli, F.; Johne, R.; Reetz, J.; Ulrich, R.G.; Pavio, N.; Van der Poel, W.H.; Banks, M. Hepatitis E virus in pork liver sausage, France. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **2013**, *19*, 264–266. [CrossRef]
- Faber, M.; Askar, M.; Stark, K. Case-control study on risk factors for acute hepatitis E in Germany, 2012 to 2014. Eurosurveillance 2018, 23, 17-00469. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hriskova, K.; Marosevic, D.; Belting, A.; Wenzel, J.J.; Carl, A.; Katz, K. Epidemiology of hepatitis E in 2017 in Bavaria, Germany. Food Environ. Virol. 2021, 13, 337–346. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Adlhoch, C.; Wolf, A.; Meisel, H.; Kaiser, M.; Ellerbrok, H.; Pauli, G. High HEV presence in four different wild boar populations in East and West Germany. Vet. Microbiol. 2009, 139, 270–278. [CrossRef]
- Baechlein, C.; Seehusen, F.; Nathues, H.; Baumgartner, W.; Grummer, B. Molecular detection of hepatitis E virus in German domestic pigs. *Berl. Munch. Tierarztl. Wochenschr.* 2013, 126, 25–31. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Szabo, K.; Trojnar, E.; Anheyer-Behmenburg, H.; Binder, A.; Schotte, U.; Ellerbroek, L.; Klein, G.; Johne, R. Detection of hepatitis E virus RNA in raw sausages and liver sausages from retail in Germany using an optimized method. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 2015, 215, 149–156. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Miura, M.; Inoue, J.; Tsuruoka, M.; Nishizawa, T.; Nagashima, S.; Takahashi, M.; Shimosegawa, T.; Okamoto, H. Full-length genomic sequence analysis of new subtype 3k hepatitis E virus isolates with 99.97% nucleotide identity obtained from two consecutive acute hepatitis patients in a city in northeast Japan. J. Med. Virol. 2017, 89, 1116–1120. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dähnert, L.; Eiden, M.; Schlosser, J.; Fast, C.; Schröder, C.; Lange, E.; Gröner, A.; Schäfer, W.; Groschup, M.H. High sensitivity of domestic pigs to intravenous infection with HEV. BMC Vet. Res. 2018, 14, 381. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schlosser, J.; Eiden, M.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Fast, C.; Dremsek, P.; Lange, E.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H. Natural and experimental hepatitis E virus genotype 3-infection in European wild boar is transmissible to domestic pigs. *Vet. Res.* 2014, 45, 121. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Garcia, N.; Hernandez, M.; Gutierrez-Boada, M.; Valero, A.; Navarro, A.; Munoz-Chimeno, M.; Fernandez-Manzano, A.; Escobar, F.M.; Martinez, I.; Barcena, C.; et al. Occurrence of hepatitis E virus in pigs and pork cuts and organs at the time of slaughter, Spain, 2017. Front. Microbiol. 2020, 10, 2990. [CrossRef]
- Di Bartolo, I.; Diez-Valcarce, M.; Vasickova, P.; Kralik, P.; Hernandez, M.; Angeloni, G.; Ostanello, F.; Bouwknegt, M.; Rodriguez-Lazaro, D.; Pavlik, I.; et al. Hepatitis E virus in pork production chain in Czech Republic, Italy, and Spain, 2010. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2012, 18, 1282–1289. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Chelli, E.; Suffredini, E.; De Santis, P.; De Medici, D.; Di Bella, S.; D'Amato, S.; Gucciardi, F.; Guercio, A.; Ostanello, F.; Perrone, V.; et al. Hepatitis E virus occurrence in pigs slaughtered in Italy. *Animals* 2021, 11, 277. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Caballero-Gomez, J.; Garcia Bocanegra, I.; Gomez-Guillamon, F.; Camacho-Sillero, L.; Zorrilla, I.; Lopez-Lopez, P.; Cano-Terriza, D.; Jimenez-Ruiz, S.; Frias, M.; Rivero-Juarez, A. Absence of hepatitis E virus circulation in wild rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) and Iberian hares (*Lepus granatensis*) in Mediterranean ecosystems in Spain. *Transbound. Emerg. Dis.* 2020, 67, 1422–1427. [CrossRef]
- Leblanc, D.; Poitras, E.; Gagne, M.J.; Ward, P.; Houde, A. Hepatitis E virus load in swine organs and tissues at slaughterhouse determined by real-time RT-PCR. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 2010, 139, 206–209. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Krog, J.S.; Larsen, L.E.; Breum, S.O. Tracing hepatitis E virus in pigs from birth to slaughter. Front. Vet. Sci. 2019, 6, 50. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Anheyer-Behmenburg, H.E.; Szabo, K.; Schotte, U.; Binder, A.; Klein, G.; Johne, R. Hepatitis E virus in wild boars and spillover infection in red and roe deer, Germany, 2013–2015. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2017, 23, 130–133. [CrossRef]
- De Sabato, L.; Amoroso, M.G.; Ianiro, G.; Esposito, C.; De Grossi, L.; Fusco, G.; Barone, A.; Martini, E.; Ostanello, F.; Di Bartolo, I. Detection of hepatitis E virus in livers and muscle tissues of wild boars in Italy. *Food Environ. Virol.* 2020, 12, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- Berto, A.; Martelli, F.; Grierson, S.; Banks, M. Hepatitis E virus in pork food chain, United Kingdom, 2009–2010. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2012, 18, 1358–1360. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Forzan, M.; Pacini, M.I.; Periccioli, M.; Mazzei, M. Hepatitis E virus RNA presence in wild boar carcasses at slaughterhouses in Italy. Animals 2021, 11, 1624. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Abravanel, F.; Dimeglio, C.; Castanier, M.; Peron, J.M.; Kamar, N.; Lhomme, S.; Izopet, J. Does HEV-3 subtype play a role in the severity of acute hepatitis E? Liver Int. 2020, 40, 333–337. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Subissi, L.; Peeters, M.; Lamoral, S.; Klamer, S.; Suin, V.; Van Gucht, S. Subtype-specific differences in the risk of hospitalisation among patients infected with hepatitis E virus genotype 3 in Belgium, 2010–2018. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 2019, 147, e224. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Garbuglia, A.R.; Bruni, R.; Villano, U.; Vairo, F.; Lapa, D.; Madonna, E.; Picchi, G.; Binda, B.; Mariani, R.; De Paulis, F.; et al. Hepatitis E outbreak in the central part of Italy sustained by multiple HEV genotype 3 strains, June–December 2019. *Viruses* 2021, 13, 1159. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

(II) A Putative Novel Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Subtype Identified in Rabbit, Germany 2016

Cierniak, F.; von Arnim, F.; Heckel, G.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M.

Viruses

Volume 13, Issue 6

June 2021

doi: 10.3390/v13061065



Article



A Putative Novel Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Subtype Identified in Rabbit, Germany 2016

Filip Cierniak ¹, Felicitas von Arnim ¹, Gerald Heckel ², Rainer G. Ulrich ^{1,3}, Martin H. Groschup ^{1,3} and Martin Eiden ^{1,*}

- ¹ Institute of Novel and Emerging Infectious Diseases, Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, 17493 Greifswald-Insel Riems, Germany; filip.cierniak@outlook.de (F.C.); felicitas.var@mail.de (F.v.A.); rainer.ulrich@fli.de (R.G.U.); martin.groschup@fli.de (M.H.G.)
- Institute of Ecology and Evolution, University of Bern, 3012 Bern, Switzerland; gerald.heckel@iee.unibe.ch
 Partner Site Hamburg-Lübeck-Borstel-Riems, Deutsches Zentrum für Infektionsforschung (DZIF),
- 17493 Greifswald-Insel Riems, Germany
- Correspondence: martin.eiden@fli.de

Abstract: Hepatitis E is an emerging viral disease that is the leading cause of viral hepatitis in the world. The vast majority of hepatitis E cases in developed countries are caused by zoonotic genotypes 3 and 4 of hepatitis E virus (HEV) for which pig and wild boar and to lesser extent rabbits are the main reservoir. According to recent reports rabbits are a source of human HEV infection and highlight the risk of zoonotic foodborne transmission. Here we report the molecular analysis of a novel HEV strain identified in a rabbit during a countrywide surveillance of rabbits and hares in Germany, 2016. The analysis of the complete genome reveals characteristics of a putative novel recombinant subtype of the species *Orthohepevirus A* within the clade of genotype 3 but not closely related to any known subtypes. Importantly, the genome of this strain possesses a nucleotide exchange in the overlapping region of open reading frames ORF2/ORF3 interfering with a broadly applied diagnostic real-time RT-PCR. In conclusion, a new type of HEV strain was identified in a German rabbit with atypical and novel sequence characteristics.

Keywords: hepatitis E virus; novel genotype; rabbit

1. Introduction

Hepatitis E virus (HEV) is the causative agent of hepatitis E, leading to waterborne epidemics in resource-poor countries and sporadic cases in industrialized countries [1]. HEV belongs to the family *Hepeviridae*, genus *Orthohepevirus*. HEV is a small virus with an RNA genome of positive polarity. The genome of approximately 7500 nucleotides contains three open reading frames (ORF), untranslated regions (UTR) at the 5' and 3' ends, and a polyA tract at the 3' end. ORF1 encodes a nonstructural polyprotein, ORF2 encodes the capsid protein, and ORF3 encodes a small accessory protein, which acts as viroporin [2]. HEV particles were described as naked, non-enveloped virions that are shed into feces as well as membrane-associated quasi-enveloped forms that circulate in blood [3]. Typically, the course of disease is self-limiting and subclinical [4]. Due to the large number of infections, however, HEV remains a constant public health threat with an estimated 20 million cases of hepatitis E, including 3.4 million symptomatic cases and 70,000 deaths per year [5].

Hepeviruses are grouped within four *Orthohepevirus* species that were detected in birds (species *Orthohepevirus B*), rodents and carnivores (species *Orthohepevirus C*), bats (species *Orthohepevirus D*), and genus *Piscihepevirus* with a fish-associated strain [6]. The species *Orthohepevirus A* is further divided into eight major genotypes and subsequent subgenotypes [7] and is mainly found in humans, domestic pigs, wild boar, deer, and rabbits.

Viruses 2021, 13, 1065. https://doi.org/10.3390/v13061065

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/viruses



Citation: Cierniak, F.; von Arnim, F.; Heckel, G.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. A Putative Novel Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Subtype Identified in Rabbit, Germany 2016. *Viruses* 2021, 13, 1065. https:// doi.org/10.3390/v13061065

Academic Editor: Hironori Sato

Received: 7 May 2021 Accepted: 28 May 2021 Published: 3 June 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

Genotypes 1 and 2 (HEV-1 and HEV-2) occur in Africa and Asia, are exclusively associated with humans, and are transmitted via the fecal-oral route mainly through consumption of contaminated water [8]. In contrast, autochthonous hepatitis E in developed countries is mainly caused by the zoonotic genotypes 3 (HEV-3) and 4 (HEV-4) [1]. HEV-3 strains typically trigger mild disease with rare cases of fulminant hepatitis. However, in immunocompromised individuals or patients with pre-existing conditions the infection can lead to prolonged or chronic forms and final liver failure [4]. Recent estimates for Europe show prevalences between 4.6% and 29.5% depending on the country surveyed (as reviewed by [9]). Pigs and wild boar are the main reservoirs for zoonotic HEV and transmission is generally assumed to occur by ingestion of food products from infected animals [10]. Rabbit HEV was first detected in farmed rex rabbits in China in 2009 [11], and subsequently in farmed and wild rabbits from several other countries, including USA, Germany, the Netherlands, and France [12-15]. It forms a distinct phylogenetic group within genotype HEV-3, designated HEV-3ra [7] and harbors a characteristic 90/93 nucleotide (nt) insertion within the coding region of ORF1 [14]. There is evidence for zoonotic potential due to reported rabbit HEV infections in humans, most likely affecting immunocompromised patients. Interestingly, direct contact with rabbits does not appear to be necessary for infection with rabbit HEV [16].

During surveillance of hare and rabbits throughout Germany in 2016, several rabbitderived HEV sequences were recovered [12]. A partial HEV sequence of one individual rabbit indicated the presence of an atypical strain (rab81) outside the rabbit-associated subgenotype HEV-3ra. In this study, we determined the full-length genome of this strain followed by a comprehensive phylogenetic analysis and demonstrated that it represents a unique novel strain within the genotype HEV-3.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. RNA Isolation

Frozen liver samples were thawed, and subsequently a small fragment (approximately 30 mg) was transferred to a 1.5 mL tube. Initially, the samples were homogenized in RLT buffer using a TissueLyser II (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and RNA extraction was performed with the Qiagen RNeasy Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Alternatively, the samples were homogenized in 750 μ L of TriZol LS reagent followed by addition of chloroform and RNA extraction from the aqueous phase. The aqueous phase was mixed with an equal volume of 75% ethanol and loaded on a RNeasy column. Subsequent washing and elution were done according to the RNeasy Kit protocol.

2.2. Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

Initially, we used the SuperScript III One-Step RT-PCR Kit (ThermoFisher, Hennigsdorf, Germany) for reverse transcription (RT) with target-specific oligonucleotides and PCR according to the manufacturer. Alternatively, the SuperScript IV First-Strand Synthesis Kit (ThermoFisher) was used for RT with random hexamers followed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using Phusion DNA polymerase (ThermoFisher) with HEV-specific primers. PCR products were purified using the Qiagen PCR Purification Kit or were extracted after agarose gel electrophoresis using the Qiagen Gel Extraction Kit and subsequently sequenced using the dideoxy-chain-termination method (Sanger sequencing) by Eurofins Genomics (Ebersberg, Germany). Used primers are listed in Table S1.

2.3. Quantitative Real-Time RT-PCR (RT-qPCR)

The diagnostic RT-qPCR was carried out using a standard protocol with the QuantiTect Probe RT-PCR Kit (Qiagen) and a primer/probe concentration of 0.8 μ M and 0.1 μ M, respectively [17]. Primer and probe sequences are depicted in Table S1. The RT was carried out at 50 °C for 30 min. After denaturation/activation step at 95 °C for 15 min, DNA was amplified with 45 cycles at 95 °C (10 s), 55 °C (25 s), and 72 °C (25 s). The assay was

3 of 10

performed using the CFX96 Real-Time PCR Detection system according to established protocols [17].

2.4. Rapid Amplification of cDNA-Ends (RACE) with PCR

In order to amplify the 3' and 5' ends of the viral genome, we slightly modified the 3'and 5'-RACE Systems (ThermoFisher). The modifications were as follows: SuperScript II reverse transcriptase from the kit was substituted with SuperScript IV reverse transcriptase. PCR amplification was performed using Phusion DNA polymerase. Inosine-containing primers from the kits were replaced by appropriate, inosine-free oligonucleotides. For 5'-RACE, TdT-tailing was first performed using dCTP according to the manufacturer's instructions. Additionally, a separate tailing reaction was done using dATP. Wherever necessary, DNA was purified using the Qiagen PCR Purification Kit for downstream applications.

2.5. Phylogenetic and Sequence Analysis

The novel genome was compared to the updated reference sequences proposed by Smith et al. [7]. Additionally, due to structural similarities, putative HEV-3/HEV-3ra recombinant MG783571 was included in the analysis. For phylogenetic and recombination analyses, the hypervariable region and the rabbit-specific insertion were excluded (between nucleotide positions 2145–2380 and 2834–2835 of MT920909, respectively).

The sequences were aligned using the ClustalW or MUSCLE packages in Geneious Prime v. 2021.0.1 (Bioinformatics Software for Sequence Data Analysis; Biomatters Ltd.; Auckland, New Zealand, 2020). Phylogenetic analysis was conducted in MEGA X (Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis across computing platforms; [18]) using the maximum-likelihood (ML) method [19] with the general time-reversible (GTR) model with gamma distributed rate variation among sites (G) and invariable sites (I) for nucleotide and the Jones–Thornton–Taylor (JTT) model for amino acid sequences with default parameters and 500 bootstrap replicates. Phylogenetic analysis was carried out with complete genome sequences as well as partial sequences as indicated. In the case of amino acid sequences, the maximum-likelihood method and JTT matrix-based model [20] were used. Bootscan recombination analysis [21] was conducted using SimPlot v. 3.5.1 (Stuart C. Ray; Baltimore, MD, USA, 2003).

3. Results

3.1. Full Genome Sequencing and Determination of Genome Organization

Seven overlapping fragments were generated from RNA of an HEV positive rabbit (rabbit 081), using a primer set encompassing the whole virus genome (Table S1). These fragments were sequenced and assembled to a complete genome of 7214 nucleotides followed by a poly-A tail (accession number: MT920909). Sequence analysis and alignment with reference strains demonstrated that the genome exhibits the typical features of the *Orthohepevirus A* species group with three open reading frames (ORF1-ORF3), encoding a nonstructural polyprotein (ORF1, nucleotide positions 28–5130), capsid protein (ORF2, nucleotide positions 5165–7150), and the ORF3 protein (nucleotide positions 5154–5498) (Figure 1).

The 5' UTR consists of 27 nucleotides, but it should be noted that the first three nucleotides (5'-UGG-... 3') might be generated due to terminal transferase activity of the reverse transcriptase in the 5'-RACE reaction [22]. The 3' UTR consists of 64 nucleotides followed by a poly-A tail.



Figure 1. Genome organization and schematic representation of the amplicons used for dideoxychain termination (Sanger) sequencing of the complete HEV genome. The genome was determined by sequencing of seven overlapping fragments (solid line), generated by RT-PCR and rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE, dotted line). The open reading frame 1 (ORF1) codes for methyltransferase (MT), Y-domain (Y), papain-like cysteine protease (PCP), hypervariable region (HVR), X-domain, RNA helicase (Hel), RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp), ORF2 codes for capsid protein, and ORF3 for a small accessory protein. Untranslated regions (UTR) are located at the 5' and 3'ends of the genome.

3.2. Sequence and Phylogenetic Analysis

Phylogenetic analysis of the novel genome together with the genotype HEV-3 reference sequences according to Smith et al. [7] revealed rab81 at the basal position of the majority of HEV-3 subtypes separate from all original rabbit HEV sequences (HEV-3ra) (Figure 2). Strain MG783571, a putative genotype HEV-3/HEV-3ra recombinant detected in a human plasma sample from France clustered among other HEV-3 subtype genomes.



Figure 2. Phylogenetic reconstruction based on complete HEV genomes. Red boldface indicates the novel rabbit HEV strain rab81. The tree represents a maximum-likelihood phylogeny based on the GTR+G+I model with support values at nodes derived from 500 bootstrap repetitions.

Further phylogenetic analysis of the amino acid sequences showed ORF1-coded polyprotein of rab81 and MG783571 at the basal position of the non-HEV3a HEV-3 subtypes (Figure 3a), while the ORF2-encoded capsid protein sequences of rab81 and MG783571



clustered with all HEV-3ra sequences, but provided very little resolution within this clade (Figure 3b).

Figure 3. Phylogenetic trees based on amino acid sequences of ORF1-encoded polyprotein ORF1 (a) and ORF2-encoded capsid protein (b) of HEV. Red boldface indicates the novel rabbit HEV strain. The phylogenies were reconstructed using maximum-likelihood and the Jones–Thornton–Taylor matrix-based model with node support values given from 500 bootstrap replicates.

The novel genome rab81 showed overall a nucleotide sequence identity of 78.6–80% with HEV-3 subtypes, but only 75% with the reference strain of the HEV-3ra clade (Table 1). The lower similarity with HEV-3ra was consistent for ORF1, ORF2, and ORF3 at the level of the nucleotide sequences as well as on the amino acid sequences of the encoded proteins (Table 1). The HEV recombinant strain MG783571 exhibited amino acid sequence identity of 87.8% (ORF1), 91.8% (ORF2), and 88.6% (ORF3) to the novel rab81 strain (Table 1).

Table 1. Nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) sequence identities (in %) between novel strain rab81 (MT920909), reference HEV strains within genotype HEV-3, and the putative recombinant strain MG783571.

HEV-3	Accession	Complete Genome	ORF1		ORF2		ORF3	
Subtype	Number	nt	nt	aa	nt	aa	nt	aa
HEV-3a HEV-3b HEV-3c HEV-3c HEV-3g HEV-3f HEV-3i HEV-3i HEV-3i	AF082843 AP003430 FJ705359 AB248521 AB369687 AF455784 JQ013794 FJ998008 AY115488 AP36669	78.6 78.7 79.3 79.8 80.0 78.6 79.0 78.8 79.0	77.4 77.5 77.6 78.1 78.2 79.2 77.3 77.9 77.9 77.4	89.8 90.3 90.0 90.2 90.2 90.7 90.4 89.8 89.2	81.6 81.6 81.6 82.1 82.3 82.3 81.9 81.9 81.9 81.9	93.0 92.9 93.2 93.5 93.5 92.9 93.2 93.6 92.9 93.6 92.9	90.4 90.6 88.9 88.9 90.1 89.2 91.5 90.4 90.1	87.7 89.5 84.2 86.8 89.5 88.6 89.5 90.4 88.6
HEV-3k HEV-3I HEV-3m HEV-3 HEV-3 HEV-3 HEV-3 HEV-3 HEV-3 HEV-3 HEV-3	AB369689 JQ953664 KU513561 FJ906895 AB290313 KP294371 LC260517 MF959764 MF959765 MK390971 MG783571	79.8 79.2 78.8 75.3 79.4 79.4 79.0 79.1 79.2 79.1 79.2 79.1 77.8	78.9 77.9 77.3 73.4 78.1 78.2 77.6 78.1 78.0 77.7 76.2	90.7 90.2 89.4 84.8 89.3 89.6 89.9 89.9 89.9 89.8 89.8 89.8 87.8	81.9 82.0 82.1 79.8 82.6 82.4 82.2 81.7 82.2 82.6 81.2	92.9 93.2 94.3 89.7 92.7 92.4 94.0 93.5 92.7 92.6 91.8	90.7 90.4 91.2 83.8 88.1 87.8 89.7 89.3 89.6 89.3 91.2	90.4 90.4 88.6 80.7 86.8 86.8 83.4 86.0 87.7 86.8 88.6

of all defined HEV-3 subtypes [7] and the potentially recombinant strain MG783571 using Bootscan in SimPlot [21]. The similarity plot showed overall low nucleotide sequence similarity between rab81 and the HEV-3 subgenotype reference sequences along the entire genomes (Figure 4a).

To determine whether the novel sequence showed evidence of recombination events in its evolutionary history, the HEV-rab81 genome was compared to the reference genomes



Figure 4. SimPlot analysis of rab81 (MT920909) with similarity plot (**a**) and the result of bootscan analysis (**b**) and a schematic representation of the HEV genome organization as reference (**c**). Note that the hypervariable region was excluded for this analysis. Gray lines refer to HEV genotypes HEV-1, HEV-2, and HEV-4–HEV-8. Teal lines indicate HEV-3ra sequences, blue subgenotype HEV-3g, and red recombinant strain MG783571. The remaining colors were assigned to distinct HEV-3 subgenotypes. The sections A–G were designated based on the peaks of the bootscan plot. See Figure S1 for detailed phylogenetic analyses of the sections.

The sequence of rab81 exhibits overall a higher degree of similarity with HEV-3 subtypes than with the remaining genotypes. This is particularly visible between nucleotide positions 1500-2000 (section B) in the similarity plot. This part of the genome contains the relatively diverse protease encoding region and is adjacent to the hypervariable region, which was excluded from the analysis due to a high number of insertions / deletions (indels). In fact, this region shows the highest similarity for non-rabbit HEV-3 subtypes, followed by HEV-3ra, and finally by the remaining HEV genotypes. A similar pattern can be observed in the highly conserved ORF2/ORF3 overlap region at about nucleotide position 5000 (section F), where the similarity to non-rabbit HEV-3 subtypes is higher compared to all other sequences. Bootscan analysis indicated a mosaic-like genome composition with six putative recombination breakpoints and alternating sections of rab81 clustering with HEV-3g (AF455784, blue line) and recombinant HEV-3 (MG783571, red line) sequences (Figure 4b). These sections are roughly equivalent to the conserved domains within HEV ORF1-encoded protein described by Koonin et al. [23]. Phylogenetic reconstructions based on the sequence sections between putative recombination breakpoints supported the closer local similarity of rab81 with the mentioned sequences although node support was generally low (Figure S1a-g).

The sequence of rab81 exhibited additional notable properties that differ from the typical pattern in HEV-3ra strains: First, the absence of the 90 nt insertion within the X-region of ORF1 (nucleotide positions 2776–2932), which is characteristic for other rabbit-derived HEV sequences (Figure 5a). This insertion is also absent in recombinant strain MG783571 and otherwise only absent in non-rabbit HEV-3 strains. In addition, the hypervariable region (HVR) which is flanked by conserved N-terminal TSGFSS and C-terminal RRLL amino acid sequences (corresponding to nucleotide positions 2155–2388), contains a unique 82 amino acid stretch which does not match with any of the HEV-3ra HVR domains (Figure 5b). Finally, the capsid protein-encoding ORF2 sequence contains within the ORF2/ORF3 overlapping regions a unique proline codon insertion (nucleotide positions 5412–5414), which is also found in strain MG783571 (Figure 5c).



Figure 5. Amino acid sequence alignments of X-region (a) and hypervariable region of ORF1-encoded polyprotein (b), and capsid protein encoded by ORF2 within the ORF2/ORF3 overlap region (c). The X-region of ORF1 refers to nucleotide positions 2776–2932 of MT920909 (strain rab81). The hypervariable region is flanked by conserved TRTWS and RRLL amino acid sequences (refers to nucleotide positions 2146–2379 of MT920909, strain rab81). The position of the proline insertion within the ORF2-encoded capsid protein amino acid sequence refers to nucleotide positions 5408–5410.

Finally, a unique nucleotide exchange (G/A, position 5311) is found in a highly conserved ORF2/ORF3 overlapping region, which is the target region for widely used realtime RT-PCR [17,24]. Modification of the original probe sequence (5'-TGATTCTCAGCC CTT CGC-3', [17]) to the rab81 adapted probe sequence (5'-TGATTCTC AACCCTTCGC-3') leads to lowered threshold cycle (ct) values (on average 3 ct values) and thus substantially increased sensitivity as demonstrated for a plasmid template encoding the rab81 structure protein region (Figure S2, Table S1).

4. Discussion

We determined the complete genome sequence of an HEV strain detected in the liver of a rabbit [12]. Initial phylogenetic analysis based on a short partial sequence of the RdRp coding region assigned the strain to subtype HEV-3g [12]. However, analysis of the entire genome sequence demonstrated a generally low sequence similarity to previously described HEV-3 subtypes. In particular, it does not cluster within the HEV-3ra clade, but at the base of a phylogenetic branch with the remaining HEV-3 subtypes and constitutes a putative new subtype or recombinant strain.

The novel rab81 strain displays characteristics that are similar to that of a recently described genotype HEV-3 recombinant strain (MG783571), which was detected in a human plasma sample from France [25]. This strain also clusters phylogenetically outside HEV-3ra clade and at the base or among the remaining HEV-3 subtypes. The nucleotide sequence identity of the complete genomes of both strains is about 77.8%. Both strains harbor a unique proline codon insertion within ORF2 in the ORF2/ORF3 overlapping region, both lack the HEV-3ra typical 90 nucleotide insertion and exhibit a unique insertion within the HVR region. Further, MG783571 is proposed to carry a mosaic genome derived from rabbit HEV-3ra and other HEV-3 subgenotype sequences [25], and different parts of the genome showed different affinities in our section-wise phylogenies (Figure S1). Similarly, in our analysis, the comparison of the rab81 sequence with the HEV-3 subgenotype reference sequences revealed several possible recombination events. However, the bootstrap support values in these analyses are too low to decide conclusively whether the rab81 strain is a recombinant. Therefore, we conclude that rab81 may represent a novel subgenotype. Since the rab81 sequence contains a single nucleotide exchange in the probe binding region of commonly used RT-qPCR assays [17,24], a probe sequence should be adapted or alternatively broad-spectrum RT-PCR protocols should be applied [17,26].

Finally, these findings further stress the role of rabbits as sources for novel zoonotic HEV strains. The transmissibility of rabbit HEV strains has been already confirmed experimentally, where HEV strains isolated from rabbits were successfully inoculated to pigs [27] as well as cynomolgus macaques [28] with subsequent productive replication. Furthermore, in France and Switzerland, immunosuppressed patients who suffered from persistent infections were infected by HEV-3ra strains [14,16,29]. Since none of the patients was exposed directly to rabbits, the presumed origin of the infection seemed to be a foodborne infection probably due to consumption of meat and liver of infected animals or derived products. However, the detection of HEV-3ra infected rabbits in urban regions also shows that there is potential for indirect transmissions [30].

5. Conclusions

In summary the results, obtained from phylogenetic, SimPlot, bootscan, and amino acid sequence analyses revealed a putative novel rabbit-derived HEV-3 subgenotype. Further studies will have to evaluate the virulence and infectivity of the novel strain by using cell culture systems and inoculation in animal models.

9 of 10

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10 .3390/v13061065/s1, Table S1: Primers used for HEV RNA quantification, genotyping, and genome sequencing, Figure S1: Molecular phylogenetic analysis of seven partial HEV sequences (a–g) as determined by SimPlot analysis, Figure S2: Nucleotide sequence alignment of quantitative real-time RT-PCR (RT-qPCR) probe target region (a), RT-qPCR runs (triplicate) at three dilution steps (b), and mean ct values yielded by original probe or adapted probe (c).

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.E. and M.H.G; methodology, F.C., F.v.A. and M.E.; software, F.C.; validation, M.E., G.H. and R.G.U.; investigation, F.C. and F.V.A.; resources, F.v.A.; data curation, F.C. and M.E.; writing—original draft preparation, F.C., R.G.U. and M.E.; writing—review and editing, F.C., G.H., R.G.U., M.H.G. and M.E.; visualization, F.C.; supervision, M.E., G.H., R.G.U. and M.H.G.; project administration, M.E.; funding acquisition, M.H.G. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut within the German One Health Initiative (GOHI), intramural grant number HR-0019. The work of R.G.U. is supported by Deutsches Zentrum für Infektionsforschung (DZIF, TTU "Emerging Infections").

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: All data of this study are available within this manuscript and its Supplementary Material.

Acknowledgments: We are grateful to Birke Lange for her excellent technical assistance in the laboratory. We thank Stuart Ray for providing SimPlot v. 3.5.1. and Stephan Drewes for assistance with phylogenetic analyses.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Nelson, K.E.; Heaney, C.D.; Labrique, A.B.; Kmush, B.L.; Krain, L.J. Hepatitis E: Prevention and treatment. Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis. 2016, 29, 478–485. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kenney, S.P.; Meng, X.J. Hepatitis E Virus Genome Structure and Replication Strategy. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2019, 9, a031724. [CrossRef]
- Himmelsbach, K.; Bender, D.; Hildt, E. Life cycle and morphogenesis of the hepatitis E virus. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* 2016, 7, 196. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lhomme, S.; Marion, O.; Abravanel, F.; Chapuy-Regaud, S.; Kamar, N.; Izopet, J. Hepatitis E Pathogenesis. Viruses 2016, 8, 212. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rein, D.B.; Stevens, G.A.; Theaker, J.; Wittenborn, J.S.; Wiersma, S.T. The global burden of hepatitis E virus genotypes 1 and 2 in 2005. *Hepatology* 2012, 55, 988–997. [CrossRef]
- Spahr, C.; Knauf-Witzens, T.; Vahlenkamp, T.; Ulrich, R.G.; Johne, R. Hepatitis E virus and related viruses in wild, domestic and zoo animals: A review. Zoonoses Public Health 2018, 65, 11–29. [CrossRef]
- Smith, D.B.; Izopet, J.; Nicot, F.; Simmonds, P.; Jameel, S.; Meng, X.J.; Norder, H.; Okamoto, H.; van der Poel, W.H.M.; Reuter, G.; et al. Update: Proposed reference sequences for subtypes of hepatitis E virus (species Orthohepevirus A). J. Gen. Virol. 2020, 101, 692–698. [CrossRef]
- Emerson, S.U.; Zhang, M.; Meng, X.J.; Nguyen, H.; St Claire, M.; Govindarajan, S.; Huang, Y.K.; Purcell, R.H. Recombinant hepatitis E virus genomes infectious for primates: Importance of capping and discovery of a cis-reactive element. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2001, *98*, 15270–15275. [CrossRef]
- Dalton, H.R.; Izopet, J. Transmission and Epidemiology of Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 and 4 Infections. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2018, 8, a032144. [CrossRef]
- Nan, Y.; Wu, C.; Zhao, Q.; Zhou, E.M. Zoonotic Hepatitis E Virus: An Ignored Risk for Public Health. Front. Microbiol. 2017, 8, 2396. [CrossRef]
- Zhao, C.; Ma, Z.; Harrison, T.J.; Feng, R.; Zhang, C.; Qiao, Z.; Fan, J.; Ma, H.; Li, M.; Song, A.; et al. A novel genotype of hepatitis E virus prevalent among farmed rabbits in China. J. Med. Virol. 2009, 81, 1371–1379. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hammerschmidt, F.; Schwaiger, K.; Dahnert, L.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Hoper, D.; Gareis, M.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Hepatitis E virus in wild rabbits and European brown hares in Germany. Zoonoses Public Health 2017, 64, 612–622. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Burt, S.A.; Veltman, J.; Hakze-van der Honing, R.; Schmitt, H.; van der Poel, W.H. Hepatitis E Virus in Farmed Rabbits, Wild Rabbits and Petting Farm Rabbits in the Netherlands. *Food Environ. Virol.* 2016, *8*, 227–229. [CrossRef]

- Izopet, J.; Dubois, M.; Bertagnoli, S.; Lhomme, S.; Marchandeau, S.; Boucher, S.; Kamar, N.; Abravanel, F.; Guérin, J.L. Hepatitis E virus strains in rabbits and evidence of a closely related strain in humans, France. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2012, 18, 1274–1281. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cossaboom, C.M.; Cordoba, L.; Dryman, B.A.; Meng, X.J. Hepatitis E virus in rabbits, Virginia, USA. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2011, 17, 2047–2049. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sahli, R.; Fraga, M.; Semela, D.; Moradpour, D.; Gouttenoire, J. Rabbit HEV in immunosuppressed patients with hepatitis E acquired in Switzerland. J. Hepatol. 2019, 70, 1023–1025. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Jothikumar, N.; Cromeans, T.L.; Robertson, B.H.; Meng, X.J.; Hill, V.R. A broadly reactive one-step real-time RT-PCR assay for rapid and sensitive detection of hepatitis E virus. J. Virol. Methods 2006, 131, 65–71. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kumar, S.; Stecher, G.; Li, M.; Knyaz, C.; Tamura, K. MEGA X: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis across Computing Platforms. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2018, 35, 1547–1549. [CrossRef]
- Felsenstein, J. Evolutionary trees from DNA sequences: A maximum likelihood approach. J. Mol. Evol. 1981, 17, 368–376. [CrossRef]
- Jones, D.T.; Taylor, W.R.; Thornton, J.M. The rapid generation of mutation data matrices from protein sequences. Comput. Appl. Biosci. 1992, 8, 275–282. [CrossRef]
- Lole, K.S.; Bollinger, R.C.; Paranjape, R.S.; Gadkari, D.; Kulkarni, S.S.; Novak, N.G.; Ingersoll, R.; Sheppard, H.W.; Ray, S.C. Full-length human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genomes from subtype C-infected seroconverters in India, with evidence of intersubtype recombination. J. Virol. 1999, 73, 152–160. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wulf, M.G.; Maguire, S.; Humbert, P.; Dai, N.; Bei, Y.; Nichols, N.M.; Corrêa, I.R.J.; Guan, S. Non-templated addition and template switching by Moloney murine leukemia virus (MMLV)-based reverse transcriptases co-occur and compete with each other. J. Biol. Chem. 2019, 294, 18220–18231. [CrossRef]
- Koonin, E.V.; Gorbalenya, A.E.; Purdy, M.A.; Rozanov, M.N.; Reyes, G.R.; Bradley, D.W. Computer-assisted assignment of functional domains in the nonstructural polyprotein of hepatitis E virus: Delineation of an additional group of positive-strand RNA plant and animal viruses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 1992, *89*, 8259–8263. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Schlosser, J.; Becher, D.; Kaden, V.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Hepatitis E virus genotype 3 diversity: Phylogenetic analysis and presence of subtype 3b in wild boar in Europe. *Viruses* 2015, 7, 2704–2726. [CrossRef]
- Luk, K.C.; Coller, K.E.; Dawson, G.J.; Cloherty, G.A. Identification of a putative novel genotype 3/rabbit hepatitis E virus (HEV) recombinant. PLoS ONE 2018, 13, e0203618. [Cross Ref] [PubMed]
- Frias, M.; Lopez-Lopez, P.; Zafra, I.; Caballero-Gomez, J.; Machuca, I.; Camacho, A.; Risalde, M.A.; Rivero-Juarez, A.; Rivero, A. Development and Clinical Validation of a Pangenotypic PCR-Based Assay for the Detection and Quantification of Hepatitis E Virus (Orthohepevirus A Genus). J. Clin. Microbiol. 2021, 59, e02075-20. [CrossRef]
- Cossaboom, C.M.; Córdoba, L.; Sanford, B.J.; Piñeyro, P.; Kenney, S.P.; Dryman, B.A.; Wang, Y.; Meng, X.J. Cross-species infection of pigs with a novel rabbit, but not rat, strain of hepatitis E virus isolated in the United States. J. Gen. Virol. 2012, 93, 1687–1695. [CrossRef]
- Liu, P.; Bu, Q.N.; Wang, L.; Han, J.; Du, R.J.; Lei, Y.X.; Ouyang, Y.Q.; Li, J.; Zhu, Y.H.; Lu, F.M.; et al. Transmission of hepatitis E virus from rabbits to cynomolgus macaques. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2013, 19, 559–565. [CrossRef]
- Abravanel, F.; Lhomme, S.; El Costa, H.; Schvartz, B.; Peron, J.M.; Kamar, N.; Izopet, J. Rabbit Hepatitis E Virus Infections in Humans, France. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2017, 23, 1191–1193. [CrossRef]
- Ryll, R.; Eiden, M.; Heuser, E.; Weinhardt, M.; Ziege, M.; Höper, D.; Groschup, M.H.; Heckel, G.; Johne, R.; Ulrich, R.G. Hepatitis E virus in feral rabbits along a rural-urban transect in Central Germany. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* 2018, 61, 155–159. [Cross Ref]

Table S1 : Primers used for HEV RNA quantification, genotyping, and genome sequencing

Name	Sequence	nucleotide position*	use	Reference
JVHEVR	AGGGGTTGGTTGGATGAA	5348 - 5331	qPCR	Jothikumar et al., 2006
JVHEVF	GGTGGTTTCTGGGGTGAC	5279 - 5926	qPCR	Jothikumar et al., 2006
JVHEV.P81	TGATTCTCAACCCTTCGC	5302 - 5319	qPCR	this work
JVHEV.P	TGATTCTCAGCCCTTCGC	5302 - 5319	qPCR	Jothikumar et al., 2006
HEV.R	GCGAAGGGGTTGGTTGGATG	5325 - 5333	RT-PCR/Sequencing	Vina-Rodriguez et al., 2015
HEV.RdRp_F2b	GTGCTCTGTTTGGCCCNTGGTTYMG	4280 - 4304	RT-PCR/Sequencing	Hammerschmidt et al., 2017
R5674	TGAGTGTTGGTGCCGTCCTG	5685 - 5666	Sequencing	this work
R5625	CATACAAGACAAGATTAGTGCC	5636 - 5615	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
F5086	GGACCTTACAAATTCTATTATACAG	5094 - 5118	Sequencing	this work
F5048	GGCAAGGCTCACTTTACCGA	5056 - 5075	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
AAP mod	GGCCACGCGTCGACTAGTACGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG	RACE adapter	Sequencing	ThermoFisher (adapted)
AP	GGCCACGCGTCGACTAGTACTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	RACE adapter	Sequencing	ThermoFisher
AUAP	GGCCACGCGTCGACTAGTAC	RACE adapter	Sequencing	ThermoFisher
R6591	GAAAATGGTCTGATCGTACTC	6622 - 6602	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
R6578	GAGAGCCACAACACATCATT	6588 - 6569	Sequencing	this work
R5926	CCTGGTTACGATAATGGAGG	5936 - 5917	Sequencing	this work
R2429	CACAATCCGACTCGAATAAGG	2449 - 2429	Sequencing	this work
K081.RACE5'700	GACAACTACGCGACTTCCATC	684 - 664	Sequencing	this work
K081.RACE5'400	CGCGAGTTGGGGCAGAGTAC	400 - 381	Sequencing	this work
K081.RACE3'300	GGCCCTGTGTCCATTTCTGC	6938 - 6957	Sequencing	this work
F5906	CCTCCATTATCGTAACCAGG	5917 - 5936	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
F1610	CTTGAGGCCCTTTATAGTGC	1609 - 1628	Sequencing	this work
R6506	GTCCTGTTCATGTTGATTGTCG	6517 - 6496	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
R3157	CAGCAAATGCGGTGGTAATGAC	3165 - 3144	Sequencing	this work
F6485	CGACAATCAACATGAACAGGAC	6496 - 6517	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
F5305	CCTTCGCCCTCCCCTATATTC	5313 - 5333	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
F960	CATTCCACGCAGTCCCAGTTC	959 - 979	Sequencing	this work
R1042	CGAGCAACAAAAGGCCTGATC	1041 - 1021	Sequencing	this work
R725	CATCATGGTTATACCCTGCACTAG	724 - 701	Sequencing	this work
F2991	CTATCCAGCAGGGGGATGTTG	2999 - 3019	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
F705	GTGCAGGGTATAACCATGATG	704 - 724	Sequencing	this work
F32	GAGGCCCATCAGTTTATTAAGG	31 - 52	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
terR	CTCCCGGGTYTTRCCTACCYTC	7144 - 7123	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
4R	CACATAAAATGTTTTAGAATGC	6781 - 6760	Sequencing	this work
3R	CATAAGACCATTGAATCATCTC	4718 - 4697	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
3F	GAGATGATTCAATGGTCTTATG	4697 - 4718	Sequencing	this work
2R	GCCGTAGCAATAATAGTAGTC	3518 - 3498	RT-PCR/Sequencing	this work
2F	GACTACTATTATTGCTACGGC	3498 -3518	Sequencing	this work

*numbering according to MT920909



Figure S1: Molecular phylogenetic analysis of seven partial HEV sequences (a-g) as determined by SimPlot analysis









g





Figure S2: Nucleotide sequence alignment of quantitative real-time RT-PCR (qRT-PCR) probe target region (a), qRT-PCR (triplicate) at three dilution steps (b) and bean ct-values yielded by original probe or adapted probe (c)

(III) A Modular Hepatitis E Virus Replicon System for Studies on the Role of ORF1-Encoded Polyprotein Domains

Cierniak, F.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M.

Pathogens

Volume 11, Issue 3

March 2022

doi: 10.3390/pathogens11030355



Article



A Modular Hepatitis E Virus Replicon System for Studies on the Role of ORF1-Encoded Polyprotein Domains

Filip Cierniak¹, Rainer G. Ulrich^{1,2}, Martin H. Groschup^{1,2} and Martin Eiden^{1,*}

- ¹ Institute of Novel and Emerging Infectious Diseases (INNT), Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, 17493 Greifswald-Insel Riems, Germany; filip.cierniak@outlook.de (F.C.); rainer.ulrich@fli.de (R.G.U.); martin.groschup@fli.de (M.H.G.)
- ² Partner Site Hamburg-Lübeck-Borstel-Riems, German Centre for Infection Research (DZIF), 17493 Greifswald-Insel Riems, Germany
- * Correspondence: martin.eiden@fli.de

Abstract: Zoonotic hepatitis E virus (HEV) infection is an emerging cause of acute viral hepatitis in developed countries. Known reservoirs of zoonotic genotype 3 (HEV-3) are mainly pigs and wild boar, and to a lesser extent rabbits and deer. Rabbit hepatitis E virus (HEV-3ra) is prevalent in rabbits worldwide and represents a particular risk for zoonotic infection. Current understanding of the molecular mechanisms of HEV pathogenesis is incomplete, particularly due to the limited availability of efficient and reliable cell culture systems. In order to identify genomic regions responsible for HEV propagation in cell culture, we developed a modular chimeric reporter replicon system based on cell culture-adapted (Kernow-C1/p6 and 47832mc) and rabbit-derived HEV strains. Replication in HepG2 cells was monitored on the basis of a *Gaussia* luciferase reporter gene that was inserted in place of the open reading frame (ORF) 2 of the HEV genome. Luciferase activity of rabbit HEV-derived replicons was significantly lower than that of Kernow-C1/p6 and 47832mc replicons. Serial exchanges of defined ORF1 segments within the Kernow-C1/p6 replicon backbone indicated that HEV replication in HepG2 cells is not determined by a single domain but rather by an interplay of longer segments of the ORF1-derived nonstructural polyprotein. This implies that a specific combination of viral factors is required for efficient HEV propagation in cell culture.

Keywords: hepatitis E virus; replicon; luciferase readout; ORF1; nonstructural polyprotein domains

1. Introduction

Hepatitis E virus (HEV) is a common cause of acute viral hepatitis worldwide [1]. The disease hepatitis E (HE) is usually subclinical and self-limiting; however, in some cases, fulminant hepatic failure is observed. Moreover, complications can arise in immunocompromised patients leading to chronic hepatitis mainly in solid-organ transplant recipients [2], or fetomaternal outcomes in pregnant women with mortality rates of up to 20% [3]. The virus contains a linear, single-stranded positive-sense RNA genome, which is capped at the 5' end and polyadenylated at the 3' end. The viral genome contains untranslated regions (UTR) at its 5' and 3' ends and three open reading frames (ORF). The ORF1 encodes a non-structural polyprotein that harbors the enzymatic activities of a methyltransferase, a protease, a macrodomain, a helicase, and an RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp), as well as a Y domain and a hypervariable region (HVR) of unknown function. ORF2 encodes the capsid protein and ORF3 encodes a small, multifunctional accessory protein [4].

Human infections were predominantly caused by strains of the *Orthohepevirus A* species of the *Hepeviridae* family: The genotypes HEV-1 and HEV-2 are transmitted solely between humans mainly by the fecal–oral route in endemic regions of Africa and Asia, where access to clean drinking water is often limited. In contrast, autochthonous HE cases in Europe and North America are mainly caused by zoonotic genotype HEV-3 with the

Pathogens 2022, 11, 355. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11030355

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/pathogens



Citation: Cierniak, E; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. A Modular Hepatitis E Virus Replicon System for Studies on the Role of ORFI-Encoded Polyprotein Domains. *Pathogens* 2022, 11, 335. https:// doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11030355

Academic Editor: Francisco Rodriguez-Frias

Received: 4 February 2022 Accepted: 13 March 2022 Published: 15 March 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

 \odot

Copyright © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). main reservoir in pigs or wild boar and to lesser extent in rabbits and deer. Transmission is provoked by consumption of undercooked pork and meat products [5].

To monitor and elucidate transmission and clinical course of HEV infection, several animal models have been established. Although wild boar and pigs are highly susceptible to HEV [6] and can exhibit chronic infections [7], these animals do not exhibit any clinical symptoms beyond viremia and fecal virus shedding [8,9]. Similarly, chronic infections or fetomaternal complications could not be reproduced in HEV-infected non-human primates [10]. As alternative, European rabbit (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) was developed as an alternative model for human HEV infection [11]. Rabbits can be experimentally infected with HEV-3 strains [12] and are associated with a specific subgenotype of HEV (HEV-3ra), which, in turn, can infect humans [13,14]. Furthermore, rabbits exhibit complications upon infection with HEV similar to humans, especially during pregnancy. Both chronic HEV infection [15] and poor fetomaternal outcomes [16] have been reported.

Many molecular aspects of HEV replication still remain unknown because the virus is challenging to efficiently propagate in cell culture. While some progress has been made in recent years, particularly with the development of cell culture models based on HEV-3 strains Kernow-C1 [17] and 47832c [18], the efficient cultivation of HEV in vitro is still limited to specific strains and cell lines. Both HEV strains were isolated from persistently infected patients and exhibit specific insertions within the HVR of the nonstructural protein encoding ORF1, which are critical for maintenance in cell culture [19,20]. In addition, optimized and well-adapted protocols allowed replication of HEV strains without particular insertions and production of high titers in cell culture [21]. However, the knowledge on conditions for HEV replication level in cell culture is still lacking.

Reverse genetics and subgenomic replicon systems in particular are powerful tools to elucidate the genetic characteristics responsible for efficient virus replication in vitro. In the context of HEV, notable examples include Nguyen et al. [22] and Cordoba et al. [23], demonstrating that HEV host specificity is governed not only by the ORF2-encoded capsid protein but also by the nonstructural protein of ORF1, or Tian and colleagues [24], who proved that intergenotypic recombination of fragments from the HVR or X region of ORF1 does not abolish HEV replication in vitro. However, few unique HEV strains have been used as an initial point for development of reverse genetics and replicon systems [25–27]. These strains are typically selected based on efficient growth in cell culture. In particular, the Kernow-C1/p6 system [19] has become a gold standard among HEV cell culture systems.

To evaluate the role of different segments of the ORF1-encoded polyprotein in a cell culture adapted replicon system, we built upon the p6/Luc replicon and assembled *Gaussia* luciferase expressing replicons based on HEV strains 47832mc [26], rabbit HEV strains rab52 [28], and rab81 [28,29]. As the reporter in these constructs substitutes 377 nucleotides of the ORF2/ORF3 overlap region, they cannot express ORF2- and ORF3-derived proteins. As a consequence, infectious particles are not formed [19]. This eliminates some of the complexity of the viral life cycle on one hand, but allows on the other for a more precise assessment of the replicase. Finally, we assembled chimeric replicons based on the p6 replicon backbone by partitioning ORF1 into three fragments and exchanging each of the fragments of p6 separately with the corresponding fragments from 47832mc, rab52, and rab81 strains.

2. Results

2.1. Construction of Luciferase Reporter Replicons Based on Different HEV-3 Strains

We constructed a set of novel luciferase reporter replicons based on HEV strains rab52, rab81, and 47832mc (Figure 1A). These strains represent different subclades of HEV-3, with pairwise ORF1 amino acid sequence identities between 84.9% and 92.2% (Table 1). The overall replicon architecture is based on the p6Luc replicon [19], which contains an ORF-encoding *Gaussia* luciferase in place of the first 377 nucleotides of ORF2 (positions 5359 to 5735). This deletion disables expression of functional capsid protein and removes



all but the first eleven nucleotides of ORF3. The luciferase reporter gene was inserted in equivalent positions of rab52-, rab81-, and 47832mc-derived replicons.

Figure 1. (**A**) Phylogenetic overview of the model strains used in this work. Depicted in red are HEV-3 strains p6 [17], 47832mc [26], rab52 [28], and rab81 [28,29]. The tree was constructed in Geneious using the Maximum Likelihood method. Subgenotype and strain labels were then added manually. (**B**) Schematic overview of parental replicon plasmid constructs. The sequence of each replicon was inserted downstream of a T7 promoter for in vitro transcription. A *Gaussia* luciferase (Luc) reporter gene was inserted at the start codon of ORF2, deleting 377 nucleotides of ORF2, or 380 nucleotides in the case of the rab81-based replicon, and almost the entirety of ORF3. Each construct contains a polyA tail of exactly 26 nucleotides and a SwaI restriction site directly downstream of the polyA tail for linearization prior to transcription. All constructs were cloned with the same minimal pMK2 plasmid backbone, which contains a pBR322-derived origin (ori) of replication, and a kanamycin resistence gene (KanR). MT = methyltransferase; Y = Y-domain; PCP = papain-like cysteine protease; HVR = hypervariable region; X = X-domain (macrodomain); Hel = helicase; RdRp = RNA-dependent RNA polymerase.

Table 1. Pairwise nucleotide and amino acid s	equence identities of the four reporter replicon se-
quences and the corresponding ORF1-encoded p	proteins.

Replicon Nucleic Acid Sequence Identity				ORF1 Nucleic Acid Sequence Identity			ORF1 Amino Acid Sequence Identity				
	rab81	rab52	47832mc		rab81	rab52	47832mc		rab81	rab52	47832mc
rab52 47832mc	77.7% 78.4%	77.5%		rab52 47832mc	74.4% 75.1%	73.5%		rab52 47832mc	86.7% 86.5%	85.3%	
p6	78.5%	77.1%	83.5%	p6	75.5%	73.4%	81.3%	p6	87%	84.9%	92.2%

All constructs were generated with the same plasmid backbone (pMK2) and contain a T7 promoter upstream for in vitro transcription, a 26 nucleotide polyA tail followed by a SwaI recognition site for DNA linearization prior to transcription (Figure 1B). For consistency, the p6/Luc replicon was reassembled in the same vector. Additionally, a negative control replicon was constructed by introducing three point mutations into the sequence encoding the conserved GDD motif of the RdRp, resulting in an inactivated GAA mutant. Finally, the 5' ends of rab81 and rab52 were adapted to enable in vitro transcription with T7 RNA polymerase. The resulting replicons are referred to as p6LucA26, p6GAALucA26, 47832mcLucA26, rab52LucA26, and rab81LucA26 (Table S1).

2.2. Rabbit HEV-Based Replicons Generate Low Luciferase Activity

After electroporation of HepG2 cells with in vitro transcribed (ivt) RNAs, reporter gene expression was detectable for all four constructs (Figure 2). The luciferase activity for the RdRp GAA mutant replicon remained at mock control background level. Luciferase activity was detected for ivt RNAs of each replicon construct from the first day after transfection and typically reached peak expression on the second or third day. Hereafter, the signal decreased but remained detectable for approximately five days for the rabbit HEV replicons and at least a week for p6 and 47832mc replicons (Figure 2). For parental p6LucA26 in particular, approximately 3×10^4 relative light units (RLU) were measured on the first day. On day three after transfection, peak luciferase activity reached 1.5×10^{6} RLU and decreased to approximately 104 RLU one week after transfection. In comparison to p6, 47832mc yielded higher luciferase activity (maximum: 3.6×10^{6} RLU at day three) and retained slightly higher expression levels in the long term (5.9 \times 10⁴ RLU vs. 2.2 \times 10⁴ RLU at day seven). In contrast, both the rab81- and rab52-based replicons displayed only low luciferase levels, with peak activities of 227 RLU at day three and 203 RLU at day two, respectively. Both replicon activities dropped to base line over seven days and were no longer distinguishable from the mock background. It is notable that the peak maxima were all reached by day three regardless of whether the respective replicon was based on cell culture adapted or non-adapted strains.



replicon: p6LucA26 rab52LucA26 p6GAALucA26

Figure 2. Luciferase activity of four parental HEV replicons in comparison to mock-transfected control (H₂O) and inactivated RdRp GAA mutant replicon based on p6LucA26. HepG2 cells were transfected with replicon ivtRNA by electroporation and seeded across four wells of a 96-well plate as technical quadruplicate. Replication was estimated by measuring total luciferase activity (relative light units; RLU) of each replicon. Error bars indicate standard deviation and asterisks indicate significance level (*** $p \le 0.001$; ** 0.001 < $p \le 0.01$; ns 0.05 < $p \le 1$). The data depict a representative experiment of three separate transfections.

2.3. Construction and Evaluation of Chimeric ORF1 HEV Replicons

In order to investigate the different activities of the HEV replicons, the influence of corresponding ORF1-derived nonstructural polyproteins was analyzed by generation of

chimeric ORF1 replicons based on the p6-Luc backbone. For this purpose, the ORF1 was divided into three fragments spanning the 5'-UTR, and coding region for methyltransferase, Y-domain, putative protease (MYP, corresponds to nucleotide positions 1–2139 in p6), coding region for hypervariable region, X-domain, helicase (VXH, corresponds to nucleotide positions 2144–4059 in p6) as well as RdRp encoding region and junction region (RJ, corresponds to nucleotide positions 4064–5347 in p6) (Figure 3A). The fragments are connected to each other by tetranucleotides, which are highly conserved across HEV-3 genomes (positions in p6: 2140–2143 "GGUC"; 4060–4063 "UGCC"; 5348–5351 "AUGG") and consequently serve as convenient overhangs for a type IIS restriction-ligation-based re-combination strategy. The fragments were inserted into the respective p6LucA26 constructs, resulting in nine chimeric constructs (Figure 3A).

After transfection of HepG2 cells, luciferase signals were monitored over a period of seven days (Figure 3B). In general, all tested replicons with exchanged subgenomic fragments produced measurable luciferase signals, higher than those observed for mock transfected and RdRp knockout (p6GAALucA26) controls. First, the positive control p6LucA26 showed a luciferase readout of 10⁴ RLU already on day one, and reached the maximum value of 1.5×10^6 at day three, followed by a decrease to just below the initial value (9.8 \times 10³ RLU) over the course of the observation period. Substitution of the p6 parental domains by those of 47832mc resulted in similar kinetics of luciferase activity compared to the p6 control but with slightly higher values: Exchange of MYP domain led to increased activity with a value of 2.1×10^6 RLU already on day two followed by maintenance of increased values from day five until the end of the observation period. Insertion of VXH.47832mc domain led to higher values at day four (1.1×10^{6} RLU vs. 8.1 \times 10⁵ RLU) and chimeric RJ.47832mc replicon peaked at day three (1.8 \times 10⁶ RLU vs. 1.5 imes 10⁶ RLU). In contrast, while the RJ fragments from rab52 or rab81 demonstrated high activity within the respective p6 chimera, chimeric replicons with subgenomic fragments MYP and VXH from both strains induced a dramatic reduction on the replicon activity at about two orders of magnitude compared to parental p6. Insertion of MYP:rab52 or MYP.rab81 showed peak values at day four of about 7.5×10^3 and 1.3×10^4 RLU compared to 8×10^5 RLU for the p6 replicon. Similarly, VXH.rab52 and VXH.rab81 domains caused a reduction to about 7×10^3 RLU compared to 8×10^5 RLU for the p6 replicon. Furthermore, apart from a delayed increase, the local maximum of the luciferase expression curve is not as pronounced with the chimeric replicons. Rather than the distinct expression peak exhibited by p6 on day three post transfection, the curve plateaus from day three until day five, followed by a slight decrease between day five and day seven of the experiment. Interestingly, although VXH domains of rab52 and rab81 have low sequence identity (Table 2), the luciferase activity curves of both chimeric replicons are almost identical.



controls: [] p6LucA26 [] p6GAALucA26 || muck MYPAXXHIRJ from [] 47832mc [] rab52 || rab61

Figure 3. (A) Structure of nine chimeric replicons that were constructed using p6LucA26 as backbone. Subgenomic fragments containing partial sequences of ORF1 (MYP, nucleotide positions 1–2139 in p6; VXH, nucleotide positions 2144–4059 in p6; RJ, nucleotide positions 4064–5347 in p6) were replaced with the corresponding sequences from HEV strains 47832mc, rab52, and rab81. Percentages annotated in the highlighted fragments represent pairwise amino acid sequence identity of the encoded proteins with the corresponding ones encoded by parental p6 replicon. Multiple amino acid sequence alignments of each ORF1-encoded protein segment are included in the Supplementary Materials (Figures S1–S3). (B) HepG2 cells were transfected with replicon ivtRNA by electroporation and seeded across four wells of a 96-well plate as technical quadruplicates. Replication was estimated by measuring total luciferase activity (RLU) of each replicon. Error bars indicate standard deviation; asterisks indicate significance level in reference to p6LucA26 (**** $p \le 0.001$; *** 0.0001 < $p \le 0.001$; ** 0.001 < $p \le 0.05$; ns 0.05 < $p \le 1$). The data depict a representative experiment of three separate transfections. Note that the controls (p6LucA26, p6GAALucA26, and mock) are shown in each plot for illustrative purposes. The data depicted are derived from a single experiment with all chimeric replicons and one group of controls.

Nucle	otide Seq Identity	uence									
МҮР				VXH				RJ			
rab52	rab81 76.9%	rab52	47832mc	rab52	rab81 68.6%	rab52	47832mc	rab52	rab81 79%	rab52	47832mc
47832mc	79.1%	78.4%		47832mc	67.7%	63.7%		47832mc	79.9%	81.4%	
p6	80.4%	78.5%	84.9%	p6	67.7%	63.7%	75.3%	p6	79.4%	80.6%	84.7%
Amino	o Acid Seq	uence									
	Identity										
МҮР				VXH				RJ			
	rab81	rab52	47832mc		rab81	rab52	47832mc		rab81	rab52	47832mc
rab52	88.5%			rab52	81%			rab52	91.9%		
47832mc	90.9%	91.1%		47832mc	77.7%	72.8%		47832mc	92.4%	95.5%	
p6	91.2%	90.2%	97.4%	p6	79.2%	72.9%	82%	p6	91.9%	95%	99%

Table 2. Pairwise nucleotide/amino acid sequence identities of the subgenomic fragments/protein domains in the chimeric constructs/proteins.

3. Discussion

Here, we describe the establishment of a modular luciferase replicon system based on subgenomic fragments of different HEV strains. Starting with the re-assembly of the parental p6 reporter replicon and the generation of the p6 GAA RdRp knockout mutant, we further assembled three novel replicons based on HEV-3c strain 47832mc, HEV-3ra strain rab52, and HEV-3 (putative novel subgenotype) strain rab81. Luciferase expression curves of all constructs are characterized by a distinct peak, followed by a significant decrease of luciferase activity. This behavior is consistent with the original description of the p6/Luc replicon [19] and is attributed to the absence of capsid protein synthesis due to insertion of the Gaussia luciferase coding sequence. As previously observed by Nguyen et al. [22], the peak of luciferase activity occurred earlier in our experiments, likely due to the difference in transfection protocols or cell lines. The cell culture isolate 47832mc-derived replicon demonstrated similar and even higher luciferase activity compared to the positive control p6LucA26. In contrast, the replicons based on rab52 and rab81 demonstrated markedly lower activity. The similarity of the luciferase kinetics for these two replicons is surprising, as the sequence identity between both replicons is not particularly high (77.8% RNA sequence identity for the complete replicon sequences). Therefore, this similar activity cannot be explained by the close similarity of the two strains and needs further investigation. Although the luciferase expression kinetics of each full-length replicon may show the level of adaptation to growth in cell culture, this does not explain the replication efficiency of a given strain. In order to elucidate the influence of different ORF1 related subgenomic fragments on total replicon activity, we next decided to generate chimeric replicons of the different strains

Substitution of N-terminal region, termed 'MYP' for the domains it contains, methyltransferase, Y-domain, and protease, resulted in a decrease of the luciferase expression peak by two orders of magnitude when MYP fragments of rab52 or rab81 were used. On the other hand, the activity of the construct containing the MYP fragment of 47832mc substantially exceeded the unmodified replicon. While the expression peak was only slightly higher, it was reached a day earlier. Furthermore, on the first day of the observation period, the MYP.47832mc chimeric replicon had already reached a luciferase output 36-fold higher than the p6LucA26 replicon. This property is not fully reflected by the 47832mcLucA26 replicon, which exceeds p6LucA26 but not to this extent. The difference of almost three orders of MYP.47852, respectively) represents the largest single difference between any two chimeric replicons and stresses the importance of this fragment for HEV replication in vitro. This is interesting, especially in light of recent reports of otherwise unremarkable HEV strains, which still grow efficiently in cell culture [21]. It poses the question which functions of this region cause this impressive difference in luciferase expression between the different MYP fragments. Firstly, the methyltransferase is involved in RNA capping [30], which is directly related to and crucial for translation of newly synthesized HEV RNA [31] in the host cell. The methyltransferase and protease domains are also relevant for suppression of retinoic acid inducible gene I (RIG-I) -mediated detection of the viral RNA and subsequent activation of the interferon pathway [32]. The protease domain has chymotrypsin-like cleavage and inhibition patterns, has been implicated in processing of the viral proteins [33], and inhibits the host interferon pathway [32,34]. The function of the Y-domain remains unknown, although a mutagenesis screen has revealed critical amino acid residues and secondary structure motifs within the sequence [35]. The 5'-terminal end of the HEV genome interacts with the viral RNA polymerase to facilitate genome replication [36]. In-depth investigation of this sequence and detailed examination of each subdomain could prove valuable.

The middle region, termed VXH for its HVR, X-domain, and helicase part, was of particular interest. The p6 replicon contains an insertion within the HVR and three amino acid exchanges within the X-domain, which are required for efficient growth in cell culture. Shukla et al. described modified constructs without insertion, which caused up to 50-fold decreased luciferase expression, and without the three X-domain mutations, which reduced the output by a factor of 2.3 to 5.1 [19]. This is in accordance with the decrease in the observed luciferase signal when the VXH fragments of rab52 or rab81 were used here. Interestingly, the expression kinetics of the VXH.rab52 and VXH.rab81 chimeric replicons were almost identical. This is surprising because the overall sequence identity between the two VXH fragments is rather low. In fact, VXH.rab52 contains the characteristic HEV-3ra insertion, while VXH.rab81 does not. Nevertheless, both fragments appear to have an almost identical effect on the activity of the replicon. On the other hand, VXH.47832mc only slightly affects the luciferase expression curve. This is consistent with the similarity of the expression kinetics of p6LucA26 and 47832mcLucA26. The VXH.47832mc fragment is derived from a cell culture adapted strain and also contains an insertion in the HVR, which is critical for growth in cell culture [20]. The influence of these insertions on virus replication is still not fully understood, though some evidence exists that they contain nuclear localization signals [20,37]. However, nuclear localization of the polyprotein by itself does not appear to improve replication in cell culture [37]. Notably, Scholz et al. demonstrated that exchanging the insertion in 47832mc for the insertion of p6 attenuates the virus beyond recovery [20]. The sequence length of VXH fragment exchanged in this work is larger, which may account for the comparably lower difference between the replicons. On the other hand, it is possible that the effect of the insertion is dependent on the sequence context of the HVR it is embedded in. When comparing the two strains, it is evident that the insertion of p6 is shorter by 15 nucleotides (171 nucleotides vs. 186 nucleotides), but the overall length of the HVR + insertion is identical between both strains (Figure S4)

The C-terminal region, RJ, contains the RdRp and the junction region. The subgenomic promoter, which controls the transcription of the subgenomic RNA with the reporter gene, is located at the 3'-end of the RdRp coding region. Of all fragments examined, RJ had the weakest effect on replication level, measured by luciferase signal release. RJ.47832mc increased the expression slightly, which is intriguing, given the 99% sequence identity on the amino acid level to RJ.p6 (Table 2). In contrast, RJ.rab81 decreased it by a small amount. Interestingly, RJ.rab52 yielded the highest values on day two, before dropping back to the level observed with the unmodified replicon, and subsequently reach the luciferase expression levels similar to the RJ.rab81 chimera. Both RJ.rab52 and RJ.rab81 contain the K1634 variant of RdRp (ORF1-polyprotein, nomenclature based on HEV-1; the actual amino acid exchange that is known to increase replication compared to the G1634 residue originally found in p6 [38]. Despite this, the RJ regions of rab52 and rab81 as a whole do not increase luciferase signal compared to the RJ.p6 fragment. The subgenomic promoter

within the fragment may further influence the luciferase expression curve [36,39]. For detailed work on the function of the RdRp, it is advisable to keep the subgenomic promoter sequence unchanged.

Future work will expand the scope of both host cell lines and model replicons. Additional replicons based on different HEV strains, either cell culture adapted or non-adapted wildlife- or human-derived, as well as the corresponding chimeras, should reveal in more detail viral factors that are required for growth in vitro. On the other hand, different host cell lines will show how host factors interact with different HEV genotypes. Beyond HepG2, other cell lines, such as HuH-7, PLC/PRF/5, and A549, have shown promise within some cell culture protocols. Indeed, in light of our results with the 47832mc replicon, the accompanying A549 subclone D3 [40] appears to be a promising system for future experiments.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. HEV Strains, Plasmids, and Cell Culture

Plasmids containing the full-length sequences of Kernow-C1/p6 (GenBank acc. JQ679013) and p6-Luc were generously provided by Patricia Farci (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA). Clone 47832mc (GenBank acc. MN756606) was a kind gift from Reimar Johne and Johannes Scholz (Federal Institute for Risk Assessment, Berlin, Germany). Synthetic DNA fragments encompassing the rab52 (GenBank acc. KY436898) genome were produced by Eurofins Genomics (Ebersberg, Germany). Synthetic DNA fragments encompassing the rab52 (GenBank acc. KY436898) genome were produced by Eurofins Genomics (Ebersberg, Germany). Synthetic DNA fragments encompassing the rab81 (GenBank acc. MT920909) genome were produced by Twist Bioscience (San Francisco, CA, USA). The 5' ends of rab81 and rab52 were adapted as follows: The first nucleotide of rab81 was mutated to G to enable in vitro transcription with T7 RNA polymerase. The 5' end of rab52 (KY436898) is truncated and was therefore extended and adapted to the consensus sequence of HEV-3ra 5' UTRs. Plasmids containing the *Gaussia* luciferase reporter gene for insertion in rab52, rab81, and 47832mc replicons were ordered from Twist Bioscience (San Francisco, CA, USA).

HepG2 cells were purchased from CLS (Eppelheim, Germany) and grown in DMEM (Gibco 52100, ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA), supplemented with NaHCO₃ and Na-pyruvate, and 10% fetal bovine serum, including 10 mg/L gentamicin (PAN-Biotech, Aidenbach, Germany), and 250 mg/L amphotericin B (PAN-Biotech, Aidenbach, Germany) in cell culture flasks with vented caps (Corning, Corning, NY, USA) in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂.

4.2. PCR and Cloning

Subgenomic fragments were selected as follows: First, the genomes were scanned for conserved tetranucleotides to serve as recombination sites. Subsequently, the candidate sites were narrowed down to represent the functional domains [41] of the HEV-encoded proteins. Finally, optimal overhangs were selected using the data on overhang ligation fidelity by Potapov et al. [42] in order to maximize assembly efficiency.

The fragments were amplified from plasmid templates using Q5 High Fidelity DNA Polymerase (NEB, Ipswich, MA, USA) or Phusion Hot Start Flex DNA Polymerase (NEB, Ipswich, MA, USA). PCR products were gel purified using the Gel extraction Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) or the Wizard SV Gel and PCR purification Kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). All gel extractions were done by cutting out bands from a Sybr Safe (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA) stained agarose gel using blue light transillumination. Purified fragments were either used directly for assembly or first cloned with PCR cloning plasmid pMiniT 2.0 using the PCR cloning Kit (NEB, Ipswich, MA, USA). The resulting plasmids were amplified in *Escherichia coli* [43] and verified by restriction digest and sequencing analysis. Plasmid DNA was purified using the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) or the PureYield Plasmid Miniprep System (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) and digested using to the manufacturer's instructions and column-purified or gel extracted as described above. Fragments were ligated using T4 DNA ligase (NEB, Ipswich, MA,

USA) and used to transform *E. coli* DH5 α cells. All inserts were sequenced using the dideoxy chain termination method (Sanger sequencing) at Eurofins (Ebersberg, Germany). Backbone plasmid pMK2 was constructed by PCR amplification of the backbone of pET-19b (Novagen) and inserting the kanamycin resistance gene from pcDNA3-EGFP (a gift from Doug Golenbock; Addgene Plasmid #13031). Cloning and sequencing primer sequences are provided in the Supplementary Materials (Table S2). A listing with descriptions of all replicon plasmids (Table S1) and cloning intermediates (Table S3) is also provided in the Supplementary Materials.

4.3. In Vitro Transcription and Transfection

Template DNA was generated by transforming E. coli with the appropriate, repliconcontaining plasmids and growing an overnight culture in LB medium with 50 µg/mL kanamycin. Plasmids were purified using the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). The plasmids were linearized using SwaI (NEB, Ipswich, MA, USA). Linearized plasmids were purified using the Wizard SV Gel and PCR purification Kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) and quantified using a Nanodrop 2000c spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA). Replicons were transcribed from 1 µg linearized DNA template using the HiScribe T7 ARCA mRNA Kit (NEB, Ipswich, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. If needed, the reactions were scaled as appropriate. ivtRNA was subsequently purified using the provided LiCl solution, and resuspended in nuclease-free water. Success of transcription reactions was confirmed by Nanodrop measurement and by running the RNA preparations on a 1% agarose gel. For transfection, the purified RNA was diluted to 125 ng/ μ L in a volume of 40 μ L in nuclease-free water. A total of 1 μ L was used for agarose gel analysis of the transfection mix. HepG2 cells were trypsinized and washed with and resuspended in OptiMEM (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA). After counting using a Neubauer chamber without trypan blue exclusion, the suspension was adjusted to 3.3×10^{6} – 3.5×10^{6} cells/mL. A total of 360 µL of this suspension was mixed with the diluted ivtRNA and transferred into a 4 mm electroporation cuvette (VWR, Radnor, PA, USA). The cells were then immediately electroporated using a Square Wave pulse for 20 ms at 300 V in a GenePulser XCell electroporation device (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). After at least ten minutes of regeneration inside the cuvette, the cells were transferred into 1.2 mL of DMEM. This suspension was then seeded in four wells of a 96-well plate at 100 µL per well and incubated in a humidified incubator at 37 °C with 5% CO2. Medium was exchanged daily and the supernatants were collected and stored frozen at -80 °C. Each transfection was done at least three times.

4.4. Luciferase Reporter Assay

Initially, luciferase activity was measured using the Pierce Gaussia Flash Assay Kit (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA) and an infinite M200 Pro plate reader (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland). A total of 20 μ L supernatant of cultures transfected with *Gaussia*-luciferase expressing HEV replicons were transferred to black 96-well plates (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA). Substrate working solution was prepared by diluting coelenterazine according to the instructions of the kit. A total of 50 μ L working solution was injected per well, followed by 1s of shaking and light measurement with 0.5 s integration time. Alternatively, we diluted coelenterazine (Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) in PBS with 5 mM NaCl according to [44]. For statistical analysis, each group was compared to the positive control, p6LucA26, in an unpaired, two-tailed *t*-test. *p* values were adjusted for multiple testing using the FDR method [45]. Data analysis and visualization was done using R [46] with packages readxl [47], tidyr [48], tibble [49], rstatix [50], dplyr [51], ggplot2 [52], ggpubr [53], and ggh4x [54] in RStudio [55].

5. Conclusions

We established a modular HEV replicon system and demonstrated that the different luciferase outputs of chimeric replicons reflect the activity of their donor replicons. Our work provides an easy and efficient procedure to identify viral factors required for replication in vitro as well as potential bottlenecks. Beyond replicons, this basic approach is transferable to infectious cDNA clones and to study and compare the effect of different viral sequences in vivo.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https: //www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/pathogens11030355/s1, Table S1: List of replicon plasmids. Table S2: Sequences of cloning and sequencing primers.Table S3: List of cloning intermediates. Figure S1: Multiple amino acid sequence alignment of the ORF1-MYP-encoded protein segment from the model strains p6, 47832mc, rab52, rab81. Figure S2: Multiple amino acid sequence alignment of the ORF1-VXH-encoded protein segment from the model strains p6, 47832mc, rab52, rab81. Figure S3: Multiple amino acid sequence alignment of the ORF1-RJ-encoded protein segment from the model strains p6, 47832mc, rab52, rab81. Figure S4: Comparison of the HVR insertions of p6 and 47832mc.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.H.G., M.E. and F.C.; methodology, F.C. and M.E.; software, F.C.; validation, M.E. and R.G.U.; investigation, F.C.; resources, M.E.; data curation, F.C. and M.E.; writing—original draft preparation, F.C., R.G.U. and M.E.; writing—review and editing, F.C., R.G.U., M.H.G. and M.E.; visualization, F.C.; supervision, M.E., R.G.U. and M.H.G.; project administration, M.E.; funding acquisition, M.H.G. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut within the German One Health Initiative (GOHI), intramural grant number HR-0019. The work of R.G.U. and M.H.G. is supported by German Centre for Infection Research (DZIF, TTU "Emerging Infections").

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant information is contained within the manuscript or the Supplementary Materials.

Acknowledgments: We thank Birke Lange for excellent technical assistance, Patricia Farci (NIH) for providing p6 plasmids, Reimar Johne and Johannes Scholz (BfR) for the 47832mc plasmid and Dominik Harms (RKI) for helpful advice on luciferase assays.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Nelson, K.E.; Heaney, C.D.; Kmush, B.L. The Epidemiology and Prevention of Hepatitis E Virus Infection. Curr. Epidemiol. Rep. 2017, 4, 186–198. [CrossRef]
- Kamar, N.; Selves, J.; Mansuy, J.-M.; Ouezzani, L.; Péron, J.-M.; Guitard, J.; Cointault, O.; Esposito, L.; Abravanel, F.; Danjoux, M.; et al. Hepatitis E Virus and Chronic Hepatitis in Organ-Transplant Recipients. N. Engl. J. Med. 2008, 358, 811–817. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pérez-Gracia, M.T.; Suay-Garcia, B.; Mateos-Lindemann, M.L. Hepatitis E and pregnancy: Current state. Rev. Med. Virol. 2017, 27, e1929. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kenney, S.P.; Meng, X.-J. Hepatitis E Virus Genome Structure and Replication Strategy. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2018, 9, a031724. [CrossRef]
- Dalton, H.R.; Izopet, J. Transmission and Epidemiology of Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 and 4 Infections. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2018, 8, a032144. [CrossRef]
- Dähnert, L.; Eiden, M.; Schlosser, J.; Fast, C.; Schröder, C.; Lange, E.; Gröner, A.; Schäfer, W.; Groschup, M.H. High sensitivity of domestic pigs to intravenous infection with HEV. BMC Vet. Res. 2018, 14, 381. [CrossRef]
- Schlosser, J.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Fast, C.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Chronically infected wild boar can transmit genotype 3 hepatitis E virus to domestic pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 2015, 180, 15–21. [CrossRef]
- Kasorndorkbua, C.; Thacker, B.J.; Halbur, P.G.; Guenette, D.K.; Buitenwerf, R.M.; Royer, R.L.; Meng, X.-J. Experimental infection of pregnant gilts with swine hepatitis E virus. *Can. J. Vet. Res.* 2003, *67*, 303–306.
- Schlosser, J.; Eiden, M.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Fast, C.; Dremsek, P.; Lange, E.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H. Natural and experimental hepatitis E virus genotype 3—Infection in European wild boar is transmissible to domestic pigs. *Vet. Res.* 2014, 45, 121. [CrossRef]
- 10. Corneillie, L.; Banda, D.H.; Meuleman, P. Animal Models for Hepatitis E Virus. Viruses 2019, 11, 564. [CrossRef]

- Wang, L.; Liu, L. An overview: Rabbit hepatitis E virus (HEV) and rabbit providing an animal model for HEV study. *Rev. Med. Virol.* 2017, 28, e1961. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schlosser, J.; Dähnert, L.; Dremsek, P.; Tauscher, K.; Fast, C.; Ziegler, U.; Gröner, A.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Different Outcomes of Experimental Hepatitis E Virus Infection in Diverse Mouse Strains, Wistar Rats, and Rabbits. Viruses 2018, 11, 1. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sahli, R.; Fraga, M.; Semela, D.; Moradpour, D.; Gouttenoire, J. Rabbit HEV in immunosuppressed patients with hepatitis E acquired in Switzerland. J. Hepatol. 2019, 70, 1023–1025. [CrossRef]
- Izopet, J.; Dubois, M.; Bertagnoli, S.; Lhomme, S.; Marchandeau, S.; Boucher, S.; Kamar, N.; Abravanel, F.; Guérin, J.-L. Hepatitis E Virus Strains in Rabbits and Evidence of a Closely Related Strain in Humans, France. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2012, 18, 1274–1281. [CrossRef]
- Han, J.; Lei, Y.; Liu, L.; Liu, P.; Xia, J.; Zhang, Y.; Zeng, H.; Wang, L.; Zhuang, H. SPF Rabbits Infected with Rabbit Hepatitis E Virus Isolate Experimentally Showing the Chronicity of Hepatitis. *PLoS ONE* 2014, 9, e99861. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Xia, J.; Liu, L.; Wang, L.; Zhang, Y.; Zeng, H.; Liu, P.; Zou, Q.; Zhuang, H. Experimental infection of pregnant rabbits with hepatitis E virus demonstrating high mortality and vertical transmission. J. Viral Hepat. 2015, 22, 850–857. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shukla, P.; Nguyen, H.T.; Torian, U.; Engle, R.E.; Faulk, K.; Dalton, H.R.; Bendall, R.P.; Keane, F.E.; Purcell, R.H.; Emerson, S.U. Cross-species infections of cultured cells by hepatitis E virus and discovery of an infectious virus-host recombinant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2011, 108, 2438–2443. [CrossRef]
- Johne, R.; Reetz, J.; Ulrich, R.G.; Machnowska, P.; Sachsenröder, J.; Nickel, P.; Hofmann, J. An ORF1-rearranged hepatitis E virus derived from a chronically infected patient efficiently replicates in cell culture. J. Viral Hepat. 2014, 21, 447–456. [CrossRef]
- Shukla, P.; Nguyen, H.T.; Faulk, K.; Mather, K.; Torian, U.; Engle, R.E.; Emerson, S.U. Adaptation of a Genotype 3 Hepatitis E Virus to Efficient Growth in Cell Culture Depends on an Inserted Human Gene Segment Acquired by Recombination. J. Virol. 2012, 86, 5697–5707. [CrossRef]
- Scholz, J.; Falkenhagen, A.; Johne, R. The Translated Amino Acid Sequence of an Insertion in the Hepatitis E Virus Strain 47832c Genome, But Not the RNA Sequence, Is Essential for Efficient Cell Culture Replication. *Viruses* 2021, 13, 762. [CrossRef]
- Schemmerer, M.; Johne, R.; Erl, M.; Jilg, W.; Wenzel, J.J. Isolation of Subtype 3c, 3e and 3f-Like Hepatitis E Virus Strains Stably Replicating to High Viral Loads in an Optimized Cell Culture System. Viruses 2019, 11, 483. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nguyen, H.T.; Shukla, P.; Torian, U.; Faulk, K.; Emerson, S.U. Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 1 Infection of Swine Kidney Cells In vitro is Inhibited at Multiple Levels. J. Virol. 2014, 88, 868–877. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Córdoba, L.; Feagins, A.R.; Opriessnig, T.; Cossaboom, C.M.; Dryman, B.A.; Huang, Y.; Meng, X.-J. Rescue of a genotype 4 human hepatitis E virus from cloned cDNA and characterization of intergenotypic chimeric viruses in cultured human liver cells and in pigs. J. Gen. Virol. 2012, 93, 2183–2194. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Tian, D.; Yugo, D.M.; Kenney, S.P.; Heffron, C.L.; Opriessnig, T.; Karuppannan, A.K.; Bayne, J.; Halbur, P.G.; Meng, X. Dissecting the potential role of hepatitis E virus ORF1 non-structural gene in cross-species infection by using intergenotypic chimeric viruses. J. Med. Virol. 2020, 92, 3563–3571. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhang, W.; Ami, Y.; Suzaki, Y.; Doan, Y.H.; Jirintai, S.; Takahashi, M.; Okamoto, H.; Takeda, N.; Muramatsu, M.; Li, T. Persistent infection with a rabbit hepatitis E virus created by a reverse genetics system. *Transbound. Emerg. Dis.* 2020, *68*, 615–625. [CrossRef]
 Scholz, L: Bächlein, C.; Gadicherla, A.K.; Falkenbagen, A.; Tausch, S.H.; Johne, R. Establishment of a Plasmid-Based Reverse
- 26. Scholz, J.; Bächlein, C.; Gadicherla, A.K.; Falkenhagen, A.; Tausch, S.H.; Johne, R. Establishment of a Plasmid-Based Reverse Genetics System for the Cell Culture-Adapted Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3c Strain 47832c. *Pathogens* **2020**, *9*, 157. [CrossRef]
- Okamoto, H. Efficient cell culture systems for hepatitis E virus strains in feces and circulating blood. Rev. Med. Virol. 2011, 21, 18–31. [CrossRef]
- Cierniak, F.; von Arnim, F.; Heckel, G.; Ulrich, R.; Groschup, M.; Eiden, M. A Putative Novel Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Subtype Identified in Rabbit, Germany 2016. Viruses 2021, 13, 1065. [CrossRef]
- Magden, J.; Takeda, N.; Li, T.; Auvinen, P.; Ahola, T.; Miyamura, T.; Merits, A.; Kaariainen, L. Virus-Specific mRNA Capping Enzyme Encoded by Hepatitis E Virus. J. Virol. 2001, 75, 6249–6255. [CrossRef]
- Emerson, S.U.; Zhang, M.; Meng, X.-J.; Nguyen, H.; Claire, M.S.; Govindarajan, S.; Huang, Y.K.; Purcell, R.H. Recombinant hepatitis E virus genomes infectious for primates: Importance of capping and discovery of a cis-reactive element. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2001, 98, 15270–15275. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kang, S.; Choi, C.; Choi, I.; Han, G.; Rho, S.W.; Choi, J.; Kwon, J.; Park, M.-K.; Kim, S.-J.; Myoung, J. Hepatitis E Virus Methyltransferase Inhibits Type I Interferon Induction by Targeting RIG-I. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 2018, 28, 1554–1562. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Paliwal, D.; Panda, S.K.; Kapur, N.; Varma, S.P.K.; Durgapal, H. Hepatitis E virus (HEV) protease: A chymotrypsin-like enzyme that processes both non-structural (pORF1) and capsid (pORF2) protein. J. Gen. Virol. 2014, 95, 1689–1700. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nan, Y.; Yu, Y.; Ma, Z.; Khattar, S.K.; Fredericksen, B.; Zhang, Y.-J. Hepatitis E Virus Inhibits Type I Interferon Induction by ORF1 Products. J. Virol. 2014, 88, 11924–11932. [CrossRef]
- Parvez, M.K. Mutational analysis of hepatitis E virus ORF1 "Y-domain": Effects on RNA replication and virion infectivity. World J. Gastroenterol. 2017, 23, 590–602. [CrossRef]

- Mahilkar, S.; Paingankar, M.; Lole, K.S. Hepatitis E virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase: RNA template specificities, recruitment and synthesis. J. Gen. Virol. 2016, 97, 2231–2242. [CrossRef]
- Kenney, S.P.; Meng, X.-J. The Lysine Residues within the Human Ribosomal Protein S17 Sequence Naturally Inserted into the Viral Nonstructural Protein of a Unique Strain of Hepatitis E Virus Are Important for Enhanced Virus Replication. J. Virol. 2015, 89, 3793–3803. [CrossRef]
- Debing, Y.; Gisa, A.; Dallmeier, K.; Pischke, S.; Bremer, B.; Manns, M.; Wedemeyer, H.; Suneetha, P.V.; Neyts, J. A Mutation in the Hepatitis E Virus RNA Polymerase Promotes Its Replication and Associates with Ribavirin Treatment Failure in Organ Transplant Recipients. *Gastroenterology* 2014, 147, 1008–1011.e7. [CrossRef]
- Ding, Q.; Nimgaonkar, I.; Archer, N.; Bram, Y.; Heller, B.; Schwartz, R.E.; Ploss, A. Identification of the Intragenomic Promoter Controlling Hepatitis E Virus Subgenomic RNA Transcription. *mBio* 2018, 9, e00769-18. [CrossRef]
- Schemmerer, M.; Apelt, S.; Trojnar, E.; Ulrich, R.G.; Wenzel, J.J.; Johne, R. Enhanced Replication of Hepatitis E Virus Strain 47832c in an A549-Derived Subclonal Cell Line. Viruses 2016, 8, 267. [CrossRef]
- Koonin, E.V.; Gorbalenya, A.E.; Purdy, M.A.; Rozanov, M.N.; Reyes, G.R.; Bradley, D.W. Computer-assisted assignment of functional domains in the nonstructural polyprotein of hepatitis E virus: Delineation of an additional group of positive-strand RNA plant and animal viruses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1992, 89, 8259–8263. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Potapov, V.; Ong, J.L.; Kucera, R.B.; Langhorst, B.W.; Bilotti, K.; Pryor, J.M.; Cantor, E.J.; Canton, B.; Knight, T.F.; Evans, T.C.; et al. Comprehensive Profiling of Four Base Overhang Ligation Fidelity by T4 DNA Ligase and Application to DNA Assembly. ACS Synth. Biol. 2018, 7, 2665–2674. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Inoue, H.; Nojima, H.; Okayama, H. High efficiency transformation of Escherichia coli with plasmids. Gene 1990, 96, 23–28. [CrossRef]
- Tannous, B.A. Gaussia luciferase reporter assay for monitoring biological processes in culture and in vivo. Nat. Protoc. 2009, 4, 582–591. [CrossRef]
- Benjamini, Y.; Hochberg, Y. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. B 1995, 57, 289–300. [CrossRef]
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2021.
- 47. Wickham, H.; Bryan, J. readxl: Read Excel Files; Version 1.3.1; RStudio: Boston, MA, USA, 2019.
- Wickham, H. tidyr: Tidy Messy Data, Version 1.2.0. Available online: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=tidyr (accessed on 4 March 2022).
- Müller, K.; Wickham, H. tibble: Simple Data Frames, Version 3.1.6. Available online: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=tibble (accessed on 4 March 2022).
- Kassambara, A. rstatix: Pipe-Friendly Framework for Basic Statistical Tests, Version 0.7.0. Available online: https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=rstatix (accessed on 4 March 2022).
- Wickham, H.; François, R.; Henry, L.; Müller, K.; RStudio. dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation, Version 1.0.8. Available online: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dplyr (accessed on 4 March 2022).
- 52. Wickham, H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2016.
- Kassambara, A. ggpubr: 'ggplot2' Based Publication Ready Plots, Version 0.4.0. Available online: https://CRAN.R-project.org/ package=ggpubr (accessed on 4 March 2022).
- Brand, T.V.D. ggh4x: Hacks for 'ggplot2', Version 0.2.1. Available online: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ggh4x (accessed on 4 March 2022).
- 55. RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R; RStudio, PBC: Boston, MA, USA, 2021.

Table S1: List of replicon plasmids

Name	Length (nt)	description
Unmodified replicons		
		Full-length replicon p6LucA26 in plasmid backbone pMK2;
pMK2-p6LucA26	9704	derived from JQ679013 and p6-Luc [19]
		RdRp GDD->GAA mutant of full-length replicon p6LucA26 in
pMK2-p6GAALucA26	9704	plasmid backbone pMK2; derived from JQ679013
		Full-length replicon 47832mcLucA26 in plasmid backbone
pMK2-47832mcLucA26	9697	pMK2; derived from MN756606
		Full-length replicon rab52LucA26 in plasmid backbone pMK2;
pMK2-rab52LucA26	9573	derived from KY436898
		Full-length replicon rab81LucA26 in plasmid backbone pMK2;
pMK2-rab81LucA26	9500	derived from MT920909
MYP chimeras		
		Chimeric replicon p6(MYP.47832mc)LucA26 in plasmid
pMK2-		backbone pMK2; p6LucA26 backbone with nt 1-2139 replaced
p6(MYP.47832mc)LucA26	9703	by the homologous fragment (nt 1-2138) of 47832mcLucA26
		Chimeric replicon p6(MYP.rab52)LucA26 in plasmid backbone
pMK2-		pMK2; p6LucA26 backbone with nt 1-2139 replaced by the
p6(MYP.rab52)LucA26	9705	homologous fragment (nt 1-2140) of rab52LucA26
		Chimeric replicon p6(MYP.rab81)LucA26 in plasmid backbone
pMK2-		pMK2; p6LucA26 backbone with nt 1-2139 replaced by the
p6(MYP.rab81)LucA26	9705	homologous fragment (nt 1-2140) of rab81LucA26
VXH chimeras		
		Chimeric replicon p6(VXH.47832mc)LucA26 in plasmid
		backbone pMK2; p6LucA26 backbone with nt 2144-4059
pMK2-		replaced by the homologous fragment (nt 2143-4058) of
p6(VXH.47832mc)LucA26	9704	47832mcLucA26
		Chimeric replicon p6(VXH.rab52)LucA26 in plasmid backbone
pMK2-	0.575	pMK2; pbLucA26 backbone with nt 2144-4059 replaced by the
p6(VXH.rab52)LucA26	95/5	nomologous fragment (nt 2145-3931) of rab52LucA26
PMK2		Chimeric replicon p6(VXH.rab81)LucA26 in plasmid backbone
pivik2- p6///VH rob81)1ucA26	0500	pivikz; polucazo backbone with nt 2144-4059 replaced by the
Pl chimoros	9509	nomologous fragment (nt 2145-5865) of fabolicutA26
<u>KJ Chimeras</u>		Chimaria raplican p6/D1 47822 ma)1 us4 26 in plasmid backbane
-NAK2		chimeric replicon p6(KJ.47832mc)LucA26 in plasmid backbone
pivikz- p6/PI 47822mc)LucA26	9704	pivikz; polucazo backbone with nt 4064-5347 replaced by the
p0(KJ.47852IIIC/EdCA20	5704	Chimoric conlicon p6/PL roh52) LucA 26 in plasmid backhone
pMK2		pMK2: p6LucA26 backbong with pt 4064 5247 replaced by the
pfill rab52)LucA26	9704	homologous fragment (nt 3936-5219) of rah521ucA26
polititation	5704	Chimeric replicon p6(RI rab81)LucA26 in plasmid backhope
nMK2-		nMK2: n6l ucA26 backbone with nt 4064-5347 replaced by the
p6(RJ.rab81)LucA26	9704	homologous fragment (nt 3870-5153) of rab81LucA26

Table S2: Sequences of cloning and sequencing primers.

Name	Sequence (5' -> 3')	Source	Used in
32c_3af	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> ATGGTCAACATCTGGTTTTTCTAG	this work	Cloning of VXH.47832mc
32c_3ar	CAGT <u>GAAGAC</u> TTGACCATGTCCGGGTGTAC	this work	Cloning of MYP.47832mc
32c_4f	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> TATGCCTCAGGAGCTTACG	this work	Cloning of RJ.47832mc
32c_4r	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> GAGGCATATATAACAAGCCCTG	this work	Cloning of VXH.47832mc
32c_5r	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> TCCCATGGGCAATGCACAA	this work	Cloning of RJ.47832mc
32c_6f	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> CTGATGTTAGGATTCTAGTTCAAC	this work	Cloning of terA26.47832mc
52_3f	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> TTGGTCCACGTCTGG	this work	Cloning of VXH.rab52
52_3r	AGTC <u>CGTCTC</u> GGACCAAGTTTTAGTATAAAGAGTC	this work	Cloning of MYP.rab52
52_4f	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> TATGCCGCAGGAGCTTAC	this work	Cloning of RJ.rab52
52_4r	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> TCG GCATATACAGGAGACCC	this work	Cloning of VXH.rab52
52_5r	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> TCCCATGGGCAATGCAG	this work	Cloning of RJ.rab52
52_6f	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> TCGATGTCAGGATCCTTGTTC	this work	Cloning of ter.rab52
52fw_bHel	CCAGATTAGTGCCTACCACC	this work	sequencing
52fw_Hel	TGCTGGCTGTACCGTTAACC	this work	sequencing
52fw_HVR	GTCCAGCTGCCACCTTCTG	this work	sequencing
52fw_MT	ACCTACCACACTACCTCTTAC	this work	sequencing
52fw_ORF2	ATACCTCATGACATCGATCTTG	this work	sequencing
52fw_PCP	GTGAAGAGTGTGACCAAGAAG	this work	sequencing
52fw_Rdrp	GTTATATCATCTGGTCCGGTC	this work	sequencing
52rv_ORF2	GTCTGATCGTACTCAGCAGC	this work	sequencing
52s_3f	ACTTGGTCCACGTCTGG	this work	sequencing
52s_4f	TATGCCGCAGGAGCTTAC	this work	sequencing
52s_4r	CGGCATATACAGGAGACCC	this work	sequencing
52s_5r	TCCCATGGGCAATGCAG	this work	sequencing
81.3'250	ACTGTTGACCACCCTGCACG	this work	sequencing
81_3f2	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> TTGGTCAACATCTGGTT	this work	Cloning of VXH.rab81
81_3r	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> TTGACCAAGTCCGAGTATACAAG	this work	Cloning of MYP.rab81
81_4f	AGTC <u>CGTCTC</u> ATGCCGCAGGAGCTTAC	this work	Cloning of RJ.rab81
81_4r	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> GCGGCATGTAAAGCAACC	this work	Cloning of VXH.rab81
81_5r	AGTC <u>CGTCTC</u> CCCATGGGCAATGCACAG	this work	Sequencing; Cloning of RJ.rab81

Table S2 (continued)

Name	Sequence (5' -> 3')	Source	Used in
81_6f	AGTC <u>GAAGAC</u> CTGATGTCAGGATTCTGGTC	this work	Cloning of ter.rab81
AmpRp_rv	CTGA <u>GAAGAC</u> CATACTCTTCCTTTTTCAATATTATTGAAGC	this work	Sequencing Cloning of pMK2
BbsI_T(26)CC	GAAGACGCTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTCC	this work	Cloning of terA26.rab52 terA26.rab81 terA26.47832mc
BbsI_T7p	<u>GAAGAC</u> TTCTGCTAATACGACTCACTATA	this work	Cloning of MYP.rab81 MYP.47832mc
Cloning of Analysis Forward Primer	ACCTGCCAACCAAAGCGAGAAC	NEB	sequencing
Cloning of Analysis Reverse Primer	TCAGGGTTATTGTCTCATGAGCG	NEB	sequencing
Esp3I_T(26)CC	<u>сатстс</u> атттттттттттттттттттттт	this work	Cloning of GLuc_terA26.p6
Esp3I_T7p	<u>CGTCTC</u> GCTGCTAATACGACTCACTATA	this work	Cloning of MYP.p6 MYP.rab52
F1610	CTT GAG GCCCTT TAT AG TGC	[29]	sequencing
F2991c	CTATTCAACAGGGTGACGTTG	this work	sequencing
F5086	GGACCTTACAAATTCTATTATACAG	[29]	sequencing
F6485	CGACAATCAACATGAACAGGAC	[29]	sequencing
F705	GTGCAGGGTATAACCATGATG	[29]	sequencing
GLuc_fw_Kp6_O2	CTGA <u>CGTCTC</u> CATGGGATCACCATGGGAGTCAAAGTTCTGTTTG	this work	Cloning of GLuc-terA26.p6
K2_rv	CCTTGATTACGGTAGTGGAG	this work	sequencing
KanR_fw	CTGA <u>GAAGAC</u> AGAGTATGATTGAACAAGATGGATTGC	this work	Cloning of pMK2
KanR_rv	CTGA <u>GAAGAC</u> AGAGTCAGAAGAACTCGTCAAGAAG	this work	Cloning of pMK2
Kp6/GAA_fw	CTGA <u>CGTCTC</u> GCAGCTTCGGTGGTCCTCTGTAGCG	this work	Cloning of RJ_GAA.p6
Kp6/GAA_rv	CTGA <u>CGTCTC</u> AGCTGCACCCTTAAAGGCAGCAACAC	this work	Cloning of RJ_GAA.p6
Kp6_3af	CAGT <u>CGTCTC</u> TGGTCAACATCTGGCTTTTC	this work	Cloning of VXH.p6
Kp6_3ar	CAGT <u>CGTCTC</u> TGACCAGGTCCGGGTATAC	this work	Cloning of MYP.p6
Kp6_4f	CAGT <u>CGTCTC</u> ATGCCACAAGAGCTTACCGTG	this work	Cloning of RJ.p6
Kp6_4r	CAGT <u>CGTCTC</u> TGGCATGTAAAGCAGGCCCTG	this work	Cloning of MYP.p6
Kp6_5r	CAGT <u>CGTCTC</u> CCCATGGGCGATGCAACAAAC	this work	Cloning of RJ.p6
Table S2 (continued)

Name	Sequence (5' -> 3')	Source	Used in
Ori_fw	CTGA <u>GAAGAC</u> GAGACTGTCAGACCAAGTTTACTC	this work	Cloning of pMK2
p15A_seq_rv	GAGTCAGTGAGCGAGGAAG	this work	sequencing
p6_F1750	GGACGACGGTGGTTGA	this work	sequencing
p6_F2700	AGACTGTGATTGGCTGG	this work	sequencing
p6_F3250	GATGTTGATGTGGTGGTTG	this work	sequencing
p6_F4000	TCCTGCCAGATTAGTGC	this work	sequencing
p6_F4900	GGTCCTCTGTAGCGAC	this work	sequencing
p6_F600	TTGTATGCYGCACTACATCT	this work	sequencing
p6_F6750	CCAATGGCGAGCCGAC	this work	sequencing
p6_R1900	ATGTAGCAGTGCAATCCAG	this work	sequencing
p6_R2900	TGGTATATGCCCGAGCC	this work	sequencing
p6_R4300	CTCCACCATGGCCTCAA	this work	sequencing
p6_R5300	CCAATAAGGTTATGTACCAG	this work	sequencing
p6_R6100	ATGRAGGCGCTCACTAG	this work	sequencing
p6_R6800	TCGTACTCAGCGGCAGT	this work	sequencing
pACYC_Seq	AATAGGCGTATCACGAGGC	this work	sequencing
pMK2_fw	CGGGATCCGAAGACTGAAAATTTAAATACGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATAC	this work	Cloning of pMK2
pMK2_rv	CGGGATCCGAAGACAGGCAGTCCTAGCGGAGTGTATACTGG	this work	Cloning of pMK2
Primer_2F	GACTACTATTATTGCTACGGC	[29]	sequencing
Primer_3F	GAGATGATTCAATGGTCTTATG	[29]	sequencing
Primer_4R	CACATAAAATGTTTTAGAATGC	[29]	sequencing
R2429	CACAATCCGACTCGAATAAGG	[29]	sequencing
R3157	CAGCAAATGCGGTGGTAATGAC	[29]	sequencing
R5625	CATACAAGACAAGATTAGTGCC	[29]	sequencing

Underlined nucleotides represent the recognition sites of the restriction endonucleases used for cloning.

Table S3: List of Cloning of intermediates

Name	Length (nt)	description		
MYP Fragments		· · · ·		
pMiniT2.0-		subgenomic fragment MYP.47832mc with T7 promoter in		
T7pMYP.47832mc	4771	pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-				
T7pMYP.rab52	4771	subgenomic fragment MYP.rab52 with T7 promoter in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-				
T7pMYP.rab81	4773	subgenomic fragment MYP.rab81 with T7 promoter in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-T7pMYP.p6	4770	subgenomic fragment MYP.p6 with T7 promoter in pMiniT2.0		
VXH Fragments				
pMiniT2.0-				
VXH.47832mc	4536	subgenomic fragment VXH.47832mc in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-VXH.rab52	4407	subgenomic fragment VXH.rab52 in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-VXH.rab81	4341	subgenomic fragment VXH.rab81 in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-VXH.p6	4534	subgenomic fragment VXH.p6 in pMiniT2.0		
RJ Fragments				
pMiniT2.0-RJ.47832mc	3904	subgenomic fragment RJ.47832mc in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-RJ.rab52	3904	subgenomic fragment RJ.rab52 in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-RJ.rab81	3902	subgenomic fragment RJ.rab81 in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-RJ.p6	3902	subgenomic fragment RJ.p6 in pMiniT2.0		
		subgenomic fragment RJ_GAA.p6 in pMiniT2.0; contains RdRp		
pMiniT2.0-RJ_GAA.p6	3902	GDD->GAA codon exchanges		
Gaussia Luciferase report	er and terminal f	ragment of p6LucA26		
pMiniT2.0-insGLuc-				
terA26.p6	4881	subgenomic fragment insGLuc-terA26.p6 in pMiniT2.0		
3' Terminal fragments of	47832mc, rab52,	rab81, for combination with Gaussia luciferase reporter fragments		
pMiniT2.0-				
terA26.47832mc	3995	subgenomic fragment terA26.47832mc in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-terA26.rab52	3998	subgenomic fragment terA26.rab52mc in pMiniT2.0		
pMiniT2.0-terA26.rab81	3991	subgenomic fragment terA26.rab81 in pMiniT2.0		
Gaussia Luciferase reporter fragments for combination with corresponding _terA26 of 47832mc, rab52, rab81				
		contains 11nt upstream of the ORF2 start codon, a Gaussia		
32cLuc_GL1 in pTwist		luciferase reporter inserted at the ORF2 start codon (deleting		
Amp High Copy	3121	377nt of the HEV genome), and 317nt of the 47832mc genome		
		contains 11nt upstream of the ORF2 start codon, a Gaussia		
52Luc_GL1 in pTwist		luciferase reporter inserted at the ORF2 start codon (deleting		
Amp High Copy	3121	377nt of the HEV genome), and 317nt of the rab52 genome		
		contains 11nt upstream of the ORF2 start codon, a Gaussia		
81Luc_GL1 in pTwist		luciferase reporter inserted at the ORF2 start codon (deleting		
Amp High Copy	3121	380nt of the HEV genome), and 317nt of the rab81 genome		
Cloning of backbone plasmid for replicon constructs				
		Cloning of vector pMK2; Kanamycin resistance gene, pBR322-		
pMK2	2101	derived origin of replication		

				10	40 20	au
MIP p6	MEAHQFIKAPGITT	ATEQAÁLAAANSA	LANAVVVRPFLSR	LQTEILINLMQPRQLV	FRPÉVLWNHPIQRÝI	HNELEQYCRARAGRCLEVGA
MtP.47832mc				V		
MYP rab52				Ť · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · F · · · · · · · · · ·	
MYP.rab81				A	D-F	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	100	110	130 130	140	150 160	170 180
M19.pb	HPRSINDNPNVLHR	CFLRPVGRDVQRW	YSAPTRGPAANCR	RSALRGLPPVDRTYCF	DGFSRCAFAAETGVA	LYSLHDLWPADVAEAMARHG
M1P.47832mc				A	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
MVP rab81					G H · · · · · L ·	5
100107-2200001			110 100	110	141 11	140 130
MYP of	MTRLYAALHLPPEV	LLPPGTYHTTSYL	LINDGDRAVVTYE	GDTSAGYNHDVSILRA	WIRTTKIVGDHPLVI	ERVRAIGCHEVLLLTAAPEP
MYP 47832mc						
MYP.rab52	V		· · § - · · · · · ·	y	· · · VI · · · · · · ·	
MYP.rab81	· · · · · · · ¥ · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · T · ·	· · · · · <u>5</u> · V · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• V • • • • VT • • • • • •	· · · · · · · · · · · A · · · · · · · ·
	290	290 30	310	320	350 340	350 360
M1P.p6	SPMPYVPYPRSTEV	YVRSIFGPGGSPS	LFPSACSTKSTFH	AVPVHIWDRLMLFGAT	LDDQAFCCSRLMTYL	RGISYKVTVGALVANEGWNA
M1P.47832mc						
M1P/8032 M12 rab81						T
	170	200 200	400	#10 AD	420	440 450
MYP #6	SEDAL TAVITAAYL	200 TÍCHORYLRTOÁI	SKGMRRLEVEHAO	KFITRÍ YSWLFEKSGR	DY I PGROLOFYAOCR	RWLSÅGFHLDPRVLVFDESV
M19.p6 M19.47832mz	SEDAL TAVITAAYL	²⁰⁰ TİCHQRYLRTQÅI	SKGMRRLEVEHAQ	KFITRĹYSWLFEKSGŔ	DY I PGRQLQFYAQCR	RWL SÅG FHLDPRVL VFDESV
MYP.p6 MYP.47832mc MYP.rab52	SEDAL TAVITAAYL	TİCHQRYLRTQÅI	SKGMRRLEVEHAQ	K F I T R Ĺ Y S W L F E K S G Ŕ	DY I PGRQLQFYAQCR	RWL SÅG FHLDPRVL ÝFDE SV
MYP.p6 MYP.47832mc MYP.rab52 MYP.rab81	SEDAL TAVITAAYL	200 TİCHQRYLRTQÅI	SKGMRRLE ⁴⁰⁰	K F I T R Ĺ Y S W L F E K S G Ř	DY I PGRQLQFYAQCR	RWL SÅG F H L D P R V L V F D E S V
MYP.p6 MYP.47832mc MYP.rab52 MYP.rab81	SEDAL TAVITAAYL	300 TİCHQRYLRTQÂI 	5 K GMR R L E V E H A Q	400 KFITRĽYSWLFEKSGR V 500 510	200 DY I P GR Q L Q F Y A Q C R E	RWL SÅG FHLDPRVL ÚFDE SV M 330 540
MYP.p6 MYP.47832mc MYP.rab52 MYP.rab81 MYP.p6	SEDALŤAVITAAYL	200 TİCHQRYLRTQÅI 	5K GMRR L E Ý E H A Q L	KFITRĽÝSWLFEKSGR V GHDNĚAYEGSEVDQÁE	DY I PGRQLQFYAQCR E PAHLDVSGTYAVHGH	RWL SÅGFHLDPRVL VFDESV MUSÅGFHLDPRVL VFDESV MUSÅGFHLDPRVL VFDESV
MYP.p6 MYP.47832mc MYP.rab52 MYP.rab81 MYP.p6 MYP.47832mc	SEDALŤAVITAAVL	200 TİCHQRYLRTQÂI H CO FORWLGQÊCT	SKGMRRLEÝEHAQ L CFLEPAEGLVGDH	KFITRLYSWLFEKSGR V GHDNEAYEGSEVDOAE	DY I PGRQLQFYAQCR E PAHLDVSGTYAVHGH	RWL SÅGFHLDPRVL VFDESV 50 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00
MYP.p6 MYP.rab52 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.p6 MYP.rab82 MYP.rab82 MYP.rab81	200 SEDALŤAVITAAYL PCRCRTFLKKVAGK H SVSTK	200 TİCHQRYLRTQÅI H FCCFMRWLGQÉCT V K	SKGMRRLEVEHAQ L CFLEPAEGLVGDH	KFITRLYSWLFEKSGR V GHDNEAYEGSEVDOAE	DY I PGROLOF YAQCR E PAHLDVSGTYAVHGH VCSIT T B	RWLSÅGFHLDPRVLÖFDESV M QLVÅLYRALNVPHDIAARAS
MYP.p6 MYP.rab52 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.p6 MYP.47832mc MYP.rab52 MYP.rab81	SEDAL ²⁰⁰ PCRCRTFLKKVAGK H	200 T I CHORYLRTOĂ I H FCCFMRWLGQECT V K	SKGMRRLEVEHAQ L CFLEPAEGLVGDH L 	K F I T R L Y SWL F E K S G R V GHDNEAYEGSEVDOA 000 000	DY I PGROLOF YAQCR	RWL SÅGFHLDPRVL VFDESV 50 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1
MYP.p6 MYP.47832mc MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81	SEDALŤAVITAAYL PCRCŘTFLKKVAGK H	200 TİCHQRYLRTQÅI H FCCFMRWLGQÉCT V K LECRTYLGNKTFR	SKGMRRLEVEHAQ	KFITRÉYSWLFEKSGR HDNÉAYEGSEVDGÁE PEDÝVLSFDASCOSM	2 DY I P GROLOF YAQCR E P AHL DV 5 GTYAVHGH - L S - I - T - R VC	RWLSÅGFHLDPRVLÖFDESV MUVÄLYRALNVPHÖIAARAS LÅD S. J. P. V. V OVÄISSNGLDCTÄTFPPGGA
MYP.p6 MYP.47832mc MYP.rab52 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.rab81 MYP.p6 MYP.4532mc	SEDAL TAVITAAYL PCCCRTFLKKVAGK H	200 TİCHQRYLRTQİ H 60 FCCFMRWLGQECT V K LECRTYLGNKTFR	SKGMRRLE L CFLEPAEĞLVGDH L CTLVVDGÅHLEANG	KFITRLYSWLFEKSGR V GHDNEAVEGSEVDOAE PEOYVLSFDASCOSMG	DY I P GRQLQF YAQCR E P A H L DY G GTYA VHGH - L S I I T R V C R AG S H N L T Y E L T P AG L	RWL S ⁴⁰⁰ OL VÁL VRAL NVPHÖJ E D. S. I. P. V. V VÅL VRAL NVPHÖJ ARAS OL VÁL VAL VAL VAL VAL VAL VAL VAL VAL VAL VA
MYP p6 MYP AT832mc MYP rab82 MYP rab81 MYP rab81 MYP rab81 MYP rab81 MYP rab81 MYP rab81 MYP rab81 MYP rab81	SEDALTAVITAAYL PCRCRTFLKKVAGK H	200 T I CHQRYLRTQÅI H FCCFMRWLGQECT V K LECRTVLGNKTFR	SKGMRRLEÝEHAQ L CFLEPAEGLVGDH TTVVDGÁHLEANG	KFITRLYSWLFEKSGR GHDNEAYEGSEVDQAE PEQYVLSFDASCOSMO EAH C	S DY I PGRQLQFYAQCR PAHLDYSG ^{TY} AVHGH - LS I	RWL SAG FHL DPRVL OF DE SV NOLVAL YRAL NYPHDI AARAS L & D & J - P - V - V S - P - V - V OVRISSNGL DCTATPP GGA
MYP p6 MYP 47832mc MYP x882 MYP x888 MYP x888 MYP x883 MYP x883 MYP x881 MYP x881 MYP x881 MYP x883 MYP x883 MYP x883 MYP x883 MYP x883	SEDAL TAV I TAAYL PCRCRTFLKKVAGK H	TİCHQRYLRTQAI HHH CCFMRWLGQECT V K LECRTVLGNKTFR F V	SKGMRRLEÜEHAQ L CFLEPAEĞLVGDH TTVVDGÅHLEANG	KFITRUYSWLFEKSGR GHDNEAYEGSEVDQAE PEQYVLSFDASCOSMO T CAN A C	DY I PGRQLOFYAQCR PAHLDYSGTYAVHGH VC AGSINNLTYELTPAGL P 5 V AGSINNLTYELTPAGL P 5 V AR	RWL 5 ⁴⁰⁰ OL VÁL VRAL NVPHÖ E D. VÁL VRAL NVPHÖ ARAS 2 VÁL VRAL NVPHÖ ARAS 2 VÁL VRAL NVPHÖ A V V A VÁL VRAL NVPHÖ A V V A V A V A V A V A V A V A V A V A
MYP p6 MYP x4532mc MYP x4532 MYP x4543 MYP x681 MYP x681 MYP x681 MYP x681 MYP x681 MYP x681 MYP x682 MYP x682 MYP x681	SEDAL TAVITAAVL PCRCRTFLKKVAGK H	FCCFMRWLGQECT V K LECRTVLGNKTPR	SKGMRRLE CFLEPAEGUVGDH L CFLEPAEGUVGDH L CFLEPAEGUVGDH L C CFLEPAEGUVGDH L C C C C C C C C C C C C C	KFITRLYSWLFEKSGR 900 GHDNEAYEGSEVDQAE 910 PEQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 600 T T D N 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQYVLSFDASCQSWD 910 FQVVLSFDASC	AGSHNLTYELTPAGE	RWL S ⁴⁰⁰ / ₄ GFHL DPRVL ⁴⁰⁰ / ₄ FDE SV 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10
MYP p6 MYP 47832mc MYP rab52 MYP rab51 MYP rab51 MYP rab52 MYP rab52 MYP rab11 MYP p6 MYP 47832mc MYP rab11 MYP p6 MYP rab11 MYP rab11 MYP rab11 MYP rab11	SEDAL TAVITAAVL PCRCRTFLKKVAGK H.S.V.S.TK RLTATVELVAGPOR S.L.S.G PSAAPGEVAAFCAA	200 T C C H QR Y L R T Q Å I H H F C C F MR W L G Q É C T V K L E C R T V L G N K T F R L E C R T V L G N K T F R V L Y R Y N R F T Q R H S L	SKGMRRLEVEHAQ L CFLEPAEGUVGDH TTVVDGÅHLEANG TTVVDGÅHLEANG	KFITRËVSWLFEKSGË GHDHËAVEGSEVDOJLE PEOJVLSEDASCOŠM T. BAR C	DY I P GROLOFYAQCR PAHLDVSGTVAVHGH VLS I T T R VCS I T R AGSHNLTYELTPAGL 0 S V AR FCGEGTLVTRTW	RWL SÅGFHL DPRVL VFDE SV MUSÅGFHL DPRVL VFDE SV MU QL VÅL VRAL NVPHDI AARAS S D S D S D S D S S S S S S S S S S S
MYP p6 MYP 47832mc MYP rab22 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21 MYP rab21	SEDALTAVITAAVL PCRETLIKKVAGK H S V S PK RLTATVELVAGPDA PSÅAPGEVAAFCA	FCCFMRWLGQËCT Y LECRTVLGNKTFR LUCRTVLGNKTFR LUCRTVLGNKTFR	SKGMRRLEVEHAQ L CFLEPAEGLVGDH L TTVVDGAHLEANG Q TTVVDGAHLEANG Q G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	KFITRËVSWLFEKSOR U GIDNËAVEGSEVDOR PEQUVLSFDASCOSMO IFPPFSPGHLWESANP	D Y I P GRQL OF YAOCR PAHLD VS OT YAUHGH 	RWL SAG FHL DPRVL OF DE SV GL VÁL YRALNYPHÖI AARAS L & D K I PPL VÁL YRALNYPHÖI AARAS V & D K I SSNGL DCT AT FPP GGA K I SSNGL DCT AT FPP GGA K I SSNGL DCT AT FPP GGA

Figure S1: Multiple amino acid sequence alignment of the ORF1-MYP-encoded protein segment from the model strains p6, 47832mc, rab52, rab81. The sequences were alignmed with MUSCLE in Geneious. Dots indicate residues which are identical to the corresponding position in p6. Numbers indicate the amino acid position in p6.

V704.p6	STSGFSSDFSPFEAAAPASAAAPG	LPHPTPPASDIWALPPPSEEC	YTRLGNDFHTNKRVCEEI	AIIPSKK PRNKMAGYVTHLMKRIQ
V004.47832mc V004.rab52 V004.rab81		R · K · V · · · V · · · S · · ·	FQVGTAPAPP	- P A · AQP SNP AGP K AP VR K L PML RG L T · AL PG · · AR VQ · PP SET P · TH SAD · GWL R SSP SL R
V0H.p6	712 RGPVRGISIKĹQEEAQVDAAŚVPL	T L V P A G S P S P V V S P S P P	PP PPVRKPSTPPPSR	TRRLLYTÝPDGAKVYAGŠLFESDCDW
V0H.rab52 V0H.rab81	TNVAQVCVDVVSRVCG-SPGPPSS 	ARLLINTDSAEP-K	RPA	s
V0H.p6	LÝNASNPGHR ÞÖGGL CHAFHORF P	EAFYPTEFIMREGLAAYTLTP	RPIIHAVAPDYRVEQNPK	RLEAAYRETCSRRGTAAYPLLGSGIY
V0H.rab52 V0H.rab81		QŠ · DH · K · · · · D · · · · · S ·	TAH TA	
V004.p6 V004.47832mc	QVPVSLSFDAWERNHRPGDELYLT	E P A A A W F E A N K P A Q		PALTITEDTARTASLALEID
V0H.rab52 V0H.rab81	1.025 1.026 1.04	V T T T T T	GTASAGGPSVGTGPSPNT	AGVPAL
V0H.p6	AATEVGRACAGCTISPGIVHYQFT	AGVPGSGKSRSIQQGDVDVVV	VPTRELRNSWRRRGFAAF	TPHTAARVTNGRRVVIDEAPSLPPHL
V0H.rab81 V0H.rab81	SK - L			s s s s s s
V0H.p6	LLLHMQRASSVHLLGDPNQIPAID	FEHAGLVPAIRPELAPTSWWH	1.165 IVTHRCPADVCELIRGAYP	KIQTTSRVLRSLFWNEPAIGQKLVFT
V0H.47832mc V0H.rab52 V0H.rab81				GD PT
V0H.p6	QAAKAANPGAITVHEAQGATFTET	TVIATADARGLIQSSRAHAIV	ALTRHTEKCVILDAPGLL	REVGISDVIVNNFFLAGGEVGHHRPS
V0H.47832mc V0H.rab52 V0H.rab81				
V0H.p6	VIPRGNÉDONLGTLOAÉPPSCOIS	1,315 1,325 AYHQLAEELGHRPAPVAAVLP		
V0H.47832mc V0H.rab52	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
V00H.rab/81	K D			

Figure S2: Multiple amino acid sequence alignment of the ORF1-VXH-encoded protein segment from the model strains p6, 47832mc, rab52, rab81. The sequences were alignmed with MUSCLE in Geneious. Dots indicate residues which are identical to the corresponding position in p6. Numbers indicate the amino acid position in p6.

Rj.p6 Rj.47832mc Rj.rab52 Rj.rab81	FOELTVSDSVLVFELTDIVHCRMAAPSONKAVLSTLVGRVGRRTKLVEAAHSDVRESLANFIPTIGPVOATTCELVELVEANVERGODGSAV
Rigel Rigel/VEElma Rigel/SE Rigel	LELDLCNEDVSRITFFQRDCNKFTTGETT AHGKVGQGISAWSKTFCALFGPWFRAIEXELLLLLPNVYGDAYEESVAAAVSGACGKWF
RLp6 RL47832mc RL4852 RL4881	END FSEFD STONN FSLGLE CVVM EECON POWLIRLYHLVRS AW ILÖA PKESLKGFWKKHSGE PGTLLWNTVWNA II AHCYEFR POW A NA STONN FSLGLE CVVM EECON POWLIRLYHLVRS AW ILÖA PKESLKGFWKKHSGE PGTLLWNTVWNA II AHCYEFR POW A NA STONN FSLGLE CVVM EECON POWLIRLYHLVRS AW ILÖA PKESLKGFWKKHSGE PGTLLWNTVWNA II AHCYEFR POWLA AFK
R).p8 R).47832nc R).rab52 R).rab81	GOD VILCS DYROSRNAAALIAGCGLKLKVDYRFIGLYAGVVVFGGGEGALGSLFDVVFFAGRLSEKNWGPGPERAEGLRLAVCDERGLTNVAQV
8526 8547832me 854852 854887 854887	CÝDVVSRVYGVŠPGLVHNLIGMLOTIADGKAHFTETIKPYLÖLTNSIIGRVÉ A

Figure S3: Multiple amino acid sequence alignment of the ORF1-RJ-encoded protein segment from the model strains p6, 47832mc, rab52, rab81. The sequences were alignmed with MUSCLE in Geneious. Dots indicate residues which are identical to the corresponding position in p6. Numbers indicate the amino acid position in p6 [19,29].



Figure S4: Comparison of the HVR insertions of p6 and 47832mc. While the insertion of p6 is shorter than the insertion within the HVR of 47832mc by 15 nucleotides, remainder of the p6 HVR is longer by the same amount. As a consequence, the total lengths of both HVRs are identical [19,29].

4 Own Contributions to Publications

Publication I:

Priemer, G.; Cierniak, F.; Wolf, C.; Ulrich, R. G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. "Co-Circulation of Different Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Subtypes in Pigs and Wild Boar in North-East Germany, 2019."

Pathogens 2022, 11, 773, doi:10.3390/pathogens11070773.

Grit Priemer: methodology, formal analysis, investigation, resources, data curation

<u>Filip Cierniak</u>: methodology, software, writing - original draft preparation, writing - review and editing, visualisation

Carola Wolf: Conceptualisation, methodology, resources

Rainer G. Ulrich: validation, writing - review and editing

Martin H. Groschup: Conceptualisation, validation

Martin Eiden: Conceptualisation, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, writing - original draft preparation, writing - review and editing, visualisation

Publication II:

Cierniak, F.; von Arnim, F.; Heckel, G.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. "A Putative Novel Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Subtype Identified in Rabbit, Germany 2016." **Viruses** 2021, 13, 1065, doi:10.3390/v13061065.

<u>Filip Cierniak</u>: methodology, software, investigation, data curation, writing - original draft preparation, writing - review and editing, visualization

Felicitas von Arnim: methodology, investigation, resources

Gerald Heckel: validation, writing - review and editing, supervision

Rainer G. Ulrich: validation, writing - original draft preparation, writing - review and editing, supervision

Martin H. Groschup: Conceptualization, supervision, funding acquisition, writing - review and editing

Martin Eiden: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, data curation, writing - original draft preparation, supervision, project administration, writing - review and editing

Publication III:

Cierniak, F.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. "A Modular Hepatitis E Virus Replicon System for Studies on the Role of ORF1-Encoded Polyprotein Domains." **Pathogens** 2022, 11, 355, doi:10.3390/pathogens11030355.

<u>Filip Cierniak</u>: Conceptualization, methodology, software, investigation, data curation, writing - original draft preparation, writing - review and editing, visualization

Rainer G. Ulrich: validation, writing - original draft preparation, writing - review and editing, supervision

Martin H. Groschup: Conceptualization, writing - review and editing, supervision, funding acquisition

Martin Eiden: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, resources, data curation, writing - original draft preparation, supervision, project administration

The above information is confirmed by signature:

Filip Cierniak

Prof. Dr. Rainer G. Ulrich

5 Discussion

The goal of this study was to provide a perspective on zoonotic HEV in Germany, with a particular focus on the rabbit / rabbit HEV model system, in a One Health context. The overarching goal of the project was to further the understanding of zoonotic HEV, with a focus on pigs and especially rabbits as the animal reservoir hosts in Germany. This was achieved by diagnostic screening and phylogenetic analysis of HEV sequences from pigs in north-eastern Germany (publication I), sequence determination and phylogenetic analysis of a novel rabbit HEV genome (publication II) which stood out in an earlier screening study [93] due to its phylogenetic divergence from the cluster of rabbit-associated HEV sequences, and assessment of this sequence information for replication in cell culture by an RGS. The low replication of rabbit HEV isolates in cell culture made it effectively impossible to recover detectable titers of infectious virus for infection experiments, and only barely allowed detecting the replication of those strains in a luciferase reporter assay. This dilemma led to a more complex, generalized approach to the HEV RGS workflow than originally intended, with a systematic comparison of subgenomic fragments of rabbit HEV with established cell culture isolates of HEV (publication III).

5.1 HEV in swine in north-eastern Germany

In order to identify potential candidate strains, broad screening of putative host populations is the tool of choice. Publication I is an investigation into the current phylogenetic distribution of zoonotic HEV in the region of Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania conducted in cooperation with the LALLF. A sample of almost 400 pigs and wild boars was tested for the presence of HEV RNA. The analysis showed that approximately 10% of the animals were positive for virus RNA. The viruses detected in publication I encompass a wide range within the genotype HEV-3, but no other genotypes were identified (publication I, table 1). This further confirms that, in Germany, HEV-3 is the predominant genotype circulating in pigs. These results are in agreement with many similar studies. A high seroprevalence of HEV was detected in several regions of Germany [242,243] and other European countries, such as Spain [244], France [245], or Italy [246]. Taken together, these findings demonstrate that HEV circulates in many European populations of wild boars and domestic pigs. One striking exception to the rule is the recent study conducted by Westphal and colleagues, who investigated boars and deer in an enclosed game reserve in northern Germany and found no evidence of HEV infection [247]. This may be a proof that the transmission between different boar or pig populations plays a major role in the epidemiology of zoonotic HEV. In line with this, the wide variety of HEV-3 subtypes (3a, 3c, 3e, 3f, 3k, and four 3i-like sequences, thus representing all major subclades of HEV-3 with the exception of HEV-3ra) detected in publication I indicates that the HEV population is not traceable to a single infection event but rather that HEV has been introduced into the population several times independently. The high prevalence of HEV infection in commercial pigs in Germany and other countries, as well as the trade and movement of pigs between farms has been discussed as a possible reason [248]. This poses a considerable food safety risk, especially for immunocompromised patients. Studies from other regions show that contaminated food products are a major source of HEV infection. While this risk can be mitigated by sufficient heating, studies by Wolff et al. show that other methods of meat processing do not sufficiently inactivate HEV [249,250]. This is reflected by data from France and Switzerland, where raw sausages were identified as a source of human HEV infection [251,252]. A comparable study on HEV infections in humans from the north-eastern Germany is necessary to confirm and quantify the risk.

Interestingly, one of the animals tested was highly positive for HEV RNA in muscle tissue. The possibility of extrahepatic HEV replication has been known for over 20 years [253]. However, the main known sites of extrahepatic HEV detections are digestive, lymphatic, or neural tissues rather than muscle tissue [254]. HEV RNA has been detected in muscle tissue by other studies [92,255–258]. However, virus RNA titers in muscle tissue were lower than in the liver, which always raises the question whether the detection of HEV RNA was due to virus replication in muscle tissue or due to a contamination during the extraction process. In contrast, in publication I, approximately five-fold higher RNA titers were detected in the muscle tissue compared to the liver samples. Additionally, the tissue examined in publication I was a lateral femoral muscle, which has no direct contact to the liver. This means that contamination during the extraction process is less likely than, for example, in the case of diaphragm tissue, which has been used in some other studies [259-261] and that is in direct contact with the liver. A contamination could still occur due to circulating virus RNA in the bloodstream, although in this case the detectable titers should be lower than in the liver. For a definite proof of HEV replication, negative strand RNA should be attempted in future studies. Nevertheless, the evidence for HEV replication in muscle tissue raises the question which viral or host factors are required. Further characterization of the virus sample is advisable. A first step could be the sequencing of the full-length viral genome, and possibly an attempt at an infection in cell culture. This should then be followed up on by constructing a cDNA clone and reporter replicon for further analysis. Finally, chimeric replicons can be used to further characterize the viral genome and its functionality in comparison to other HEV strains.

5.2 A putative novel rabbit-associated HEV-3 subtype

The strain of rab81 had been first identified in a surveillance study of German wild rabbits and brown hares carried out by Hammerschmidt and colleagues [93]. Based on sequence analysis of a short amplicon from the RdRp domain-encoding sequence of ORF1, the strain was initially assigned to the phylogenetic clade of subtype HEV-3g rather than the rabbitassociated clade of subtype HEV-3ra. However, a conclusive phylogenetic analysis was not possible since the complete genome sequence could not be determined via Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) [93]. Publication II describes the determination of the complete genome sequence of the rab81 strain as well as a comprehensive phylogenetic and recombination analysis of the sequence. Upon generation of the full-length sequence by RT-PCR based recovery and sequencing of overlapping rab81 genome fragments, a comprehensive phylogenetic analysis revealed that this virus strain was not closely related to any other known sequence and did not fit within any of the established subtypes [36]. Recombination analysis revealed inconclusive evidence for a mosaic-like genome composition (publication II, Figure 4b). While bootscan analysis did show differential clustering of distinct genomic regions, the bootstrap support was low, which does not support the hypothesis of a recent recombination event. Interestingly, the genome structure had some similarity to a recently discovered genotype 3/rabbit HEV recombinant [262], including a three nucleotide insertion within the ORF2/ORF3 overlap region, despite not being closely related. The same region is commonly used in diagnostic PCR assays, due to being highly conserved [263,264]. The novel sequence contains a point mutation localized within the probe binding sequence, which drastically reduces the sensitivity of one of the most commonly used RT-qPCR assays [263] (publication II, Figure S2). As a result, this sequence would likely have been missed in many routine screenings. This is a possible reason for the lack of known related sequences. It is likely that similar strains circulate in Germany and possibly other countries but remain undetected. Adapted assays with optimized probes, different target regions can ameliorate this issue. Alternatively, more sophisticated methods may be used, such as NGS, probably combined with target enrichment. These results show that many aspects of HEV epidemiology remain unknown and emphasize the role of the rabbit as HEV host and model organism. In particular, the detection of novel and recombinant HEV strains in wild rabbits is of major interest. Rabbits are not only susceptible for rabbit HEV but can also be infected with isolates from pigs and other species. It is worth considering how this affects the distribution and evolution of the virus and which risk it poses to other host species, especially humans. Further efforts will be needed to reveal more about the genetic variability of the HEV strains circulating in Germany.

5.3 A modular replicon system for HEV

In addition to phylogenetic analysis, the functional characterization of HEV in a cell culture model system was the objective of publication III. For this purpose, two model strains were chosen: Rabbit HEV (HEV-3ra) strain rab52 [93] and newly described non-standard rabbitderived HEV-3 strain rab81 (publication II). Early efforts were impeded by the low replicative activity exhibited by those two strains in a cell culture system. For comparison, cell cultureadapted clones Kernow-C1/p6 (provided by Dr. Patricia Farci) [114] and 47832mc (provided by Prof. Dr. Reimar Johne) [228] were examined as well. Kernow-C1 was originally isolated from a fecal sample of a patient with chronic hepatitis E and passaged six times in HepG2/C3A cells (hence, "p6") [208]. The strain grows exceptionally well in cell culture. Remarkably, it is able to infect and replicate in cells from various tissues and several species [208]. The enhanced replicative ability of the Kernow-C1/p6 strain has been traced to a unique insertion of a fragment from the human S17 ribosomal protein-encoding sequence within the HVR of ORF1 and three point mutations within the X domain, which were selected during passaging [114]. Similarly, 47832mc was originally isolated from a serum sample of an organ-transplant recipient with chronic HEV infection (serum sample 47832) [212]. In contrast to several other HEV strains examined by Johne and colleagues (two further serum samples from acutely infected human patients and one liver sample from an infected wild boar), the virus from sample 47832 was successfully passaged in A549 cells, during which it acquired several point mutations (strain 47832c) [212]. Finally, Scholz et al., generated a cDNA clone of the 47832c strain ("molecularly cloned", thus designated as 47832mc), and were able to recover infectious virus upon transfection of BSR-T7/5 cells [228]. In another striking similarity to the Kernow-C1/p6 strain, strain 47832 contains an insertion within the HVR of ORF1 [212]. Scholz et al. further showed that this insertion is critical for productive infection of cultured cells [115]. Unlike the insertion of the Kernow-C1/p6 strain, the insertion of 47832 is not of human origin. Instead, it consists of a rearranged fragment of its own ORF1 [212]. Interestingly, the insertions are of different lengths but when considered in the context of their own genomic backbones, they extend each of the HVRs to the exact same length of 455 nucleotides (publication III, Figure S4). Neither of the rabbit-derived HEV strains, rab52 or rab81, contain a similar insertion within the HVR or similar adaptations to growth in cell culture. This may explain, at least in part, why their detectable activity is much lower. In direct comparison, the rab52 and rab81 reporter replicons produced around four orders of magnitude less signal than the Kernow-C1/p6 or 47832mc-based replicons did (publication III, Figure 2). Strikingly, except for the amplitude, the luciferase signal curves of the rabbit-derived replicons were almost identical to those of the culture-adapted replicons, characterized by a peak on day two or three after transfection followed by declining signal

levels. However, these results alone do not explain *why* the rabbit-derived strains replicate so much less efficiently.

Until now, it has been difficult to ensure comparability between different HEV cell culture strains and replicons. Because there are only few, specific HEV strains capable of efficient growth in cell culture, the established systems are typically limited to distinct, singular viruses which are not closely related. This makes it difficult to determine the genomic features responsible for cell culture compatibility. In some cases, there may be a particular feature, such as HVR insertions in the genomes of 47832 and Kernow-C1/p6, which can be associated with growth in cell culture [114,115]. In other cases, growth in cell culture can be observed without any specific genome characteristic [33,241]. This suggests an adaptive mechanism distinct from HVR insertions. However, so far, little is known about this mechanism. Mutations, particularly those that result in altered amino acid residues within the NSP, are expected to influence the replicative fitness of the virus. However, the relatively low sequence identity between the respective replicons makes it impossible to predict which specific domain or genomic region is mainly responsible for the difference in reporter gene expression. At the same time, due to the number of different substitutions, it is hardly feasible to examine each one individually. Instead, publication III demonstrates an approach to characterize individual genomic regions of HEV with regard to their contribution to viral replication. The subdivision of the viral genomes into equivalent subgenomic fragments made it possible to assemble chimeric replicons and test the activity of ORF1 domains from different viruses in the same genomic backbone. A homologous subdivision pattern ensured comparability between donor strains. This way, the HEV genome was divided into four fragments: First, the 5'-terminal fragment, which contains the coding sequence of the Nterminal region of the NSP with the MT, Y, and PCP domains ("MYP"). Second, a fragment encoding the HVR, X, and Hel domains ("VXH"). The third fragment ("RJ") encodes the RdRp and carries the intergenic junction region (JR) with the subgenomic promoter. Finally, the 3'-terminal fragment that contains ORF2 and ORF3, or the coding sequence of the reporter gene in the case of a subgenomic replicon (publication III, Figure 3 A).

Publication III further shows that the 5'-terminal subgenomic fragment ("MYP"), plays a vital role in determining HEV replication rates in HepG2 cells (publication III, Figure 3). Out of the subgenomic fragments examined in the study, MYP showed the highest potential for modulation of the reporter gene expression. Interestingly, substituting MYP from Kernow-C1/p6 with the corresponding fragment of 47832mc significantly increased luciferase output on the first day after transfection, and accelerated the growth kinetics, whereas the corresponding MYP fragments of rab52 and rab81, which lowered GLuc activity by two orders of magnitude. This difference is comparable to a deletion of the HVR insertion in

Kernow-C1/p6 [114], or an exchange of the HVR-containing VXH fragment, which also reduced luciferase activity by two orders of magnitude when the rabbit-derived fragments were used (publication III, Figure 3). The MYP fragment is involved in the regulation of cellular immune responses and RNA replication. Considering that neither Kernow-C1/p6 nor 47832mc showed any mutational adaptations within this region by passaging [114,212], it is possible that high activity of one or several of the functional domains within MYP is a prerequisite for high viral replication, before further adaptations can occur. Surprisingly, exchanging the RJ fragment had comparatively little effect on replicon activity. On the other hand, the RdRp has been a target for optimization of the Kernow-C1/p6 system in the past [211], which means that there is room for improvement within this domain.

A key aspect which aided in establishing context between the different strains and subgenomic fragments was the choice of a uniform replicon assembly strategy to minimize the degrees of freedom that arose from the experimental design. In the past, different authors employed various methods to assemble HEV cDNA clones and replicons. For publication III, the replicon architecture according to Shukla et al. [114] was used as a base line, refined, and applied to the model strains. The reporter and the insertion locus were not changed. The Gaussia luciferase (GLuc) ORF is inserted in frame with the start codon of ORF2. This leads to more efficient reporter gene expression compared to an insertion at the start codon of ORF3. Furthermore, 377 nucleotides are deleted from the 5'-terminal end of ORF2, which prevents the formation of infectious virions and thus allows for more direct examination of the replicase activity at a substantially reduced biosafety risk. GLuc is an enzyme which emits light as a by-product of the oxidative decarboxylation reaction that converts coelenterazine to coelenteramide zand has several advantages as reporter compared to alternative systems. It produces a stronger signal than firefly or renilla luciferases and is relatively small (185 aa / 555 bp). Furthermore, the protein is secreted very efficiently from within the cell, which allows detection of reporter activity in the cell culture supernatant, without disturbing the cells [265]. A key disadvantage of GLuc is the enzyme's intense but short-lived signal emission due to covalent binding of substrate derivatives and consequently irreversible inactivation of the enzyme [266]. In practice this requires measurement of light output immediately after substrate addition. For future systems, a modified GLuc reporter system with more stable signal output should be considered [267]. Alternatively, NanoLuc (NLuc) could be used instead, which has similar properties as GLuc (strong signal, small size, can be secreted) but catalyzes a more stable reaction with Furimazine as substrate [268].

Additional factors to be considered are the untranslated regions (UTRs) of the HEV genome and the length of the 3' poly(A) tail. The HEV genome contains three UTRs: The 5'-

UTR, the 3'-UTR and the Junction Region (JR) between ORF1 and ORF2/ORF3. The UTRs are regions of the HEV genome with conserved sequence motifs that have a significant influence on HEV replication. The 5' UTR is crucial for the translation of the HEV proteins as it contains the methylguanosine cap structure [269]. Additionally, it may be required as a binding site for the RdRp during genome replication [103]. The JR contains the subgenomic promoter [237] and is therefore an important factor for the expression of ORF2/ORF3, or the reporter gene in accordingly assembled replicons. The 3'-UTR contains a conserved stem loop that is critical for replication and infectivity [270] by binding specifically to the viral RdRp [271]. Notably, none of these UTRs were examined independently in publication III, but in unison with the 'MYP', 'RJ', and 3'-terminal fragments, respectively. Any influence the UTRs may have on the reporter gene expression can therefore not be quantified directly. This should be investigated further in future studies. Furthermore, little is known on the effect of poly(A) length on HEV replication, although the virus is known to possess a polyadenosine tract at the 3'-terminus. A clear correlation between tail length and translation efficiency and RNA stability exists in eukaryotic mRNA [272]. Furthermore, in other viruses with poly(A) tails, such as corona viruses [273] or tick-borne encephalitis virus [274], a clear influence of poly(A) length on the viral life cycle was determined. In view of the work of Panda and colleagues, who describe an infectious HEV cDNA clone with a poly(A) tail of only 5 nucleotides [224], the length of the poly(A) tail is likely not an essential factor for HEV replication. Other authors used different lengths, for example, the 47832mc clone contains 23 nucleotides of poly(A) [228], while for Kernow-C1/p6 the tail is 36 nucleotides long [114]. These lengths are not based on the actual poly(A) tails in infectious virions, due to how difficult it is to determine the precise lengths and was chosen somewhat arbitrarily by the respective authors. Evidently, each length is sufficient to produce functional positive strand virus RNA. However, for direct comparison, it makes sense to normalize the poly(A) tail lengths in order to equalize their influence on virus replication. For publication III, the length of 26 nucleotides was chosen. This length is similar to the size of the repeating unit within the cytoplasmic poly(A)-ribonucleoprotein complex (approximately 24-30 nt) [275]. To clarify which effect the length of the poly(A) tail has on HEV replication, different lengths can be systematically investigated in future studies. An additional element of standardization is added to the 3' terminus by ensuring all constructs are linearized using the restriction endonuclease Swal. The recognition site of this enzyme (ATTTAAAT) is 8 nucleotides long, which is 2 nucleotides more than in alternative strategies that employ endonucleases such as BgllI [225], XhoI [224], or MluI [114], and therefore approximately 16 times less likely to occur by chance in any HEV genome. A disadvantage of Type IIP restriction endonucleases, such as Swal, is that cleavage with those enzymes results in a "masked" terminus. In the

case of Swal, that means that rather than releasing the template for an RNA ending in ...AAAAAAA, the resulting 3'-terminus of the replicon RNA is ...AAAATTT. In principle, an "unmasked" tail would be ideal, however, a type IIS endonuclease, such as Sapl, would be required to achieve that [276]. This may be further optimized in the future.

Type IIS endonucleases have a decisive advantage over Type IIP enzymes for replicon assembly. Type IIS enzymes cleave DNA outside their recognition motif. That means that the overhang sequence of the cleavage product is not dependent on the recognition motif and can be chosen non-palindromic. This allows for highly efficient directed assembly with efficiencies near 100%. The most well-known application of Type IIS enzymes is Golden Gate Assembly [277] but they have also been used in specific virus reverse genetics protocols [278]. Crucially, a recent publication [279] quantified ligation efficiencies of 4 nucleotide sticky-ends, a tremendous benefit especially for multi-fragment assemblies. Accordingly, 4 nucleotide recombination sites with high ligation rates but low cross-reactivity were chosen which are conserved across a wide range of HEV genomes and in a position where putative functional domains of ORF1 are not disturbed. This should facilitate replication of this work and similar assays in the future with HEV strains beyond the four model strains investigated in publication III.

6 Outlook

HEV has (re-)emerged as a major zoonotic pathogen both in developing and industrialized countries. This has led to a reevaluation of the epidemiological factors in recent years from a pure human-to-human spread in countries with poor access to sanitation infrastructure to global zoonotic spread as the main infection route. HEV has a uniquely broad host range. Zoonotic transmission to humans has been confirmed from various species, such as swine, deer, camels, and rabbits. As a result, HEV has been described as "one of the most successful zoonotic viral diseases in human history" [13]. Consequently, hepatitis E can only be adequately understood and addressed from a One Health context. Further research is needed to ascertain the spread of HEV in animal hosts around the world, and the presence of related strains in humans. As shown in this work and other publications, HEV infection for humans exposed to those animals. Future work should focus on assaying HEV infections in humans, especially in areas of known high prevalence in wild and domestic animals. Phylogenetic analysis can then be used to ascertain how the infection cycles of different hosts are linked.

To understand these infection networks, it is crucial to understand the interactions between the virus and each of its hosts. In addition to humans and swine, the role of rabbits in the infection process deserves further attention. Although there is evidence from several countries that HEV infection in rabbits is common worldwide, the implications for Hepatitis E epidemiology in general and HEV infection in humans in particular are not well understood. Future efforts should therefore focus on determining the epidemiology of HEV in various rabbit populations in comparison to human and swine populations in the same areas. In particular, the role of rabbits as a reservoir for novel HEV strains and as a possible facilitator of recombination between different strains should be considered. It is important that diagnostics are adapted and expanded to detect unknown, divergent strains which evade detection by established methods. The detection range of RT-qPCR-based assays can be increased by modified probes or alternate target regions. Furthermore, the cost-effectiveness of more sophisticated methods, such as NGS combined with target enrichment, should be considered.

However, diagnostic efforts alone are not sufficient to determine the key determinants of the viral life cycle. Only controlled experiments in a laboratory setting can solve this problem. For this purpose, RGS and reporter replicons are invaluable tools. Building on the results and methods presented in this work, it should be possible to further uncover the mechanisms of HEV replication and infection. Furthermore, by specifically studying target regions of the viral genome from different strains in terms of their effect on infectivity and pathogenicity in

different animals, determinants of the host range and interspecies transmission can be addressed. Finally, chimeric replicons could be used to find the right therapeutic agent in a personalized way, even if the specific virus strain in question does not, grow efficiently in cell culture. Using a cell culture isolate as genomic backbone, each domain of the patient isolate can be tested in different inhibitor assays. This represents a potential tool for the scientific understanding of HEV, as well as a tool to combat and cure Hepatitis E from a medical or pharmaceutical perspective.

7 Summary

Hepatitis E virus (HEV) is emerging worldwide as a zoonotic pathogen that has remained largely undetected for decades, if not centuries. Its enormous success can be attributed to the wide range of host species, which can transmit the virus to humans, depending on the viral genotype. As a result, HEV is likely to remain a challenge even when the remaining hepatitis viruses (HAV, HBV, HCV), which are transmitted exclusively between humans, are under control. Although millions of HEV infections occur each year, little is known about this puzzling pathogen. One major issue in HEV research is the lack of reliable model systems. Established animal models are inefficient, expensive, or simply not representative of human HEV. On the other hand, cell culture systems are limited by the slow growth of the virus and inefficient replication and infection. The aim of this work is to with deepen the understanding of zoonotic HEV in animal hosts in Germany. For this purpose, a molecular and phylogenetic characterization of HEV sequences from rabbits and swine was conducted. A novel subtype of the zoonotic genotype HEV-3 was identified in a rabbit sample, further emphasizing the role of rabbits as HEV host species and possible reservoir of zoonotic HEV infections in Germany. On the other hand, a molecular biological screening of pigs and wild boars in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania indicates a wide range of HEV-3 subtypes circulating in swine in north-east Germany. Furthermore, an optimized replicon system was established in order to enable characterization of various HEV sequences by reverse genetics. As a proof of concept, two rabbit HEV derived replicons were compared with two established, cell culture adapted HEV strains. The influence of different regions of the nonstructural protein on HEV replication was determined and quantified. In particular, a system was established, to reproducibly compare different strains and genotypes. This refined replicon system will enable the characterization of further HEV sequences and thus expand the knowledge on the determinants of the viral life cycle.

8 Zusammenfassung

Hepatitis-E-Virus (HEV) erweist sich zunehmend als zoonotischer Erreger mit weltweiter Verbreitung, der Jahrzehnte, wenn nicht Jahrhunderte, unbemerkt blieb. Der enorme Erfolg von HEV ist auf sein weites Spektrum an Wirtsspezies zurückzuführen, welche das Virus, je nach Genotyp, auch an Menschen weitergeben können. Folglich wird HEV auch dann ein Problem bleiben, wenn die übrigen Hepatitisviren (HAV, HBV, HCV), die ausschließlich zwischen Menschen übertragen werden, unter Kontrolle sind. Trotz Millionen jährlicher HEV-Infektionen ist nur wenig über diesen Erreger bekannt. Eine der größten Hürden in der Erforschung von HEV ist das Fehlen zuverlässiger Modellsysteme. Etablierte Tiermodelle sind aufwendig, und oft nicht repräsentativ für HEV-Infektionen beim Menschen. Zellkultursysteme andererseits sind limitiert durch langsames Viruswachstum und niedrige Titer sowie geringe Infektionseffizienz. Diese Arbeit zielt darauf ab, das Verständnis des zoonotischen HEV bei Tieren in Deutschland zu verbessern. Zu diesem Zweck wurden HEV-Sequenzen aus Kaninchen und Schwein molekular und phylogenetisch charakterisiert. In einer Kaninchenprobe wurde ein neuartiger Subtyp des zoonotsichen Genotyps HEV-3 identifiziert. Dies betont nochmals die Relevanz von Kaninchen als Wirtsspezies und Reservoir zoonotischer **HEV-Infektionen** in Deutschland. Zudem deutet ein molekularbiologisches Screening von Haus- und Wildschweinen in Mecklenburg-Vorpommern auf die Zirkulation mehrerer HEV-3 Subtypen im Nordosten Deutschlands hin. Des Weiteren wurde ein optimiertes Replikonsystem etabliert, das die Charakterisierung verschiedener HEV-Sequenzen mittels reverser Genetik ermöglicht. Als "proof of concept" wurden zwei Kaninchen-HEV-abgeleitete Replikons mit zwei etablierten, zellkulturadaptierten Stämmen verglichen. Der Einfluss verschiedener Regionen des Nichtstrukturproteins auf die HEV-Replikation wurde gezeigt und quantifiziert. Insbesondere wurde ein System etabliert, mit dem verschiedene Stämme und Genotypen reproduzierbar miteinander verglichen Dieses weiterentwickelte Replikonsystem wird in werden können. Zukunft die Charakterisierung weiterer HEV-Sequenzen ermöglichen und damit das Wissen über Determinanten des viralen Lebenszyklus vertiefen.

9. Literature

- Balayan, M.S.; Andjaparidze, A.G.; Savinskaya, S.S.; Ketiladze, E.S.; Braginsky, D.M.; Savinov, A.P.; Poleschuk, V.F. Evidence for a Virus in Non-A, Non-B Hepatitis Transmitted via the Fecal-Oral Route. *Intervirology* **1983**, *20*, 23–31, doi:10.1159/000149370.
- 2. Marshall, B.J.; Armstrong, J.A.; McGechie, D.B.; Clancy, R.J. Attempt to Fulfil Koch's Postulates for Pyloric Campylobacter. *Med. J. Aust.* **1985**, *142*, 436–439, doi:10.5694/j.1326-5377.1985.tb113443.x.
- 3. Mikhailov, M.I.; Kyuregyan, K.K.; Malinnikova, E.Yu.; Polyakov, A.D. Hepatitis E, to the 40th anniversary of the discovery of the virus by academician of the RAMS M.S. Balayan. *J. Infectology* **2021**, *13*, 153–158.
- 4. Lemon, S.M.; Walker, C.M. Enterically Transmitted Non-A, Non-B Hepatitis and the Discovery of Hepatitis E Virus. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* **2019**, *9*, a033449, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a033449.
- 5. Villarejos, V.M.; Visoná, K.A.; Eduarte, C.A.; Provost, P.J.; Hilleman, M.R. Evidence for Viral Hepatitis Other Than Type a or Type B among Persons in Costa Rica. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **1975**, 293, 1350–1352, doi:10.1056/NEJM197512252932606.
- 6. Khuroo, M.S. Study of an Epidemic of Non-A, Non-B Hepatitis: Possibility of Another Human Hepatitis Virus Distinct from Post-Transfusion Non-A, Non-B Type. *Am. J. Med.* **1980**, *68*, 818–824, doi:10.1016/0002-9343(80)90200-4.
- 7. Feinstone, S.M.; Kapikian, A.Z.; Purcell, R.H.; Alter, H.J.; Holland, P.V. Transfusion-Associated Hepatitis Not Due to Viral Hepatitis Type A or B. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **1975**, *292*, 767–770, doi:10.1056/NEJM197504102921502.
- 8. Houghton, M. Discovery of the Hepatitis C Virus. *Liver Int. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Liver* **2009**, *29 Suppl 1*, 82–88, doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2008.01925.x.
- 9. Viswanathan, R. INFECTIOUS HEPATITIS IN DELHI (1955–56); A CRITICAL STUDY— EPIDEMIOLOGY. *Natl. Med. J. INDIA* **2013**, *26*, 18.
- Arankalle, V.A.; Chadha, M.S.; Tsarev, S.A.; Emerson, S.U.; Risbud, A.R.; Banerjee, K.; Purcell, R.H. Seroepidemiology of Water-Borne Hepatitis in India and Evidence for a Third Enterically-Transmitted Hepatitis Agent. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **1994**, *91*, 3428–3432, doi:10.1073/pnas.91.8.3428.
- 11. Robert Koch-Institut Epidemiologisches Bulletin 15 / 2015. **2015**, doi:10.25646/4706.
- 12. Rein, D.B.; Stevens, G.A.; Theaker, J.; Wittenborn, J.S.; Wiersma, S.T. The Global Burden of Hepatitis E Virus Genotypes 1 and 2 in 2005. *Hepatology* **2012**, *55*, 988–997, doi:10.1002/hep.25505.
- 13. Dalton, H.R.; Saunders, M.; Woolson, K.L. Hepatitis E Virus in Developed Countries: One of the Most Successful Zoonotic Viral Diseases in Human History? *J. Virus Erad.* **2015**, *1*, 23–29.
- 14. Pischke, S.; Heim, A.; Bremer, B.; Raupach, R.; Horn-Wichmann, R.; Ganzenmueller, T.; Klose, B.; Goudeva, L.; Wagner, F.; Oehme, A.; et al. Hepatitis E: An Emerging Infectious Disease in Germany? *Z. Für Gastroenterol.* **2011**, *49*, 1255–1257, doi:10.1055/s-0031-1273394.
- 15. Faber, M.; Askar, M.; Stark, K. Case-Control Study on Risk Factors for Acute Hepatitis E in Germany, 2012 to 2014. *Eurosurveillance* **2018**, *23*, doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2018.23.19.17-00469.
- 16. Sridhar, S.; Lau, S.K.P.; Woo, P.C.Y. Hepatitis E: A Disease of Reemerging Importance. *J. Formos. Med. Assoc.* **2015**, *114*, 681–690, doi:10.1016/j.jfma.2015.02.003.
- 17. Kamar, N.; Rostaing, L.; Legrand-Abravanel, F.; Izopet, J. How Should Hepatitis E Virus Infection Be Defined in Organ-Transplant Recipients? *Am. J. Transplant.* **2013**, *13*, 1935–1936, doi:10.1111/ajt.12253.
- 18. Thakur, V.; Ratho, R.K.; Kumar, S.; Saxena, S.K.; Bora, I.; Thakur, P. Viral Hepatitis E and Chronicity: A Growing Public Health Concern. *Front. Microbiol.* **2020**, *11*.

- 19. Hui, W.; Wei, L.; Li, Z.; Guo, X. Treatment of Hepatitis E. In *Hepatitis E Virus*; Wang, Y., Ed.; Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, 2016; pp. 211–221 ISBN 978-94-024-0942-0.
- 20. Wu, X.; Chen, P.; Lin, H.; Hao, X.; Liang, Z. Hepatitis E Virus: Current Epidemiology and Vaccine. *Hum. Vaccines Immunother.* **2016**, *12*, 2603–2610, doi:10.1080/21645515.2016.1184806.
- 21. Aslan, A.T.; Balaban, H.Y. Hepatitis E Virus: Epidemiology, Diagnosis, Clinical Manifestations, and Treatment. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **2020**, *26*, 5543–5560, doi:10.3748/wjg.v26.i37.5543.
- 22. Gerolami, R.; Borentain, P.; Raissouni, F.; Motte, A.; Solas, C.; Colson, P. Treatment of Severe Acute Hepatitis E by Ribavirin. *J. Clin. Virol.* **2011**, *52*, 60–62, doi:10.1016/j.jcv.2011.06.004.
- 23. Goyal, R.; Kumar, A.; Panda, S.K.; Paul, S.B.; Acharya, S.K. Ribavirin Therapy for Hepatitis E Virus-Induced Acute on Chronic Liver Failure: A Preliminary Report. *Antivir. Ther.* **2012**, *17*, 1091–1096, doi:10.3851/IMP2317.
- 24. Debing, Y.; Ramière, C.; Dallmeier, K.; Piorkowski, G.; Trabaud, M.-A.; Lebossé, F.; Scholtès, C.; Roche, M.; Legras-Lachuer, C.; de Lamballerie, X.; et al. Hepatitis E Virus Mutations Associated with Ribavirin Treatment Failure Result in Altered Viral Fitness and Ribavirin Sensitivity. *J. Hepatol.* **2016**, *65*, 499–508, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2016.05.002.
- 25. Todt, D.; Gisa, A.; Radonic, A.; Nitsche, A.; Behrendt, P.; Suneetha, P.V.; Pischke, S.; Bremer, B.; Brown, R.J.P.; Manns, M.P.; et al. In Vivo Evidence for Ribavirin-Induced Mutagenesis of the Hepatitis E Virus Genome. *Gut* **2016**, *65*, 1733–1743, doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2015-311000.
- 26. Valk, M. van der; Zaaijer, H.L.; Kater, A.P.; Schinkel, J. Sofosbuvir Shows Antiviral Activity in a Patient with Chronic Hepatitis E Virus Infection. *J. Hepatol.* **2017**, *66*, 242–243, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2016.09.014.
- 27. van Wezel, E.M.; de Bruijne, J.; Damman, K.; Bijmolen, M.; van den Berg, A.P.; Verschuuren, E.A.M.; Ruigrok, G.A.; Riezebos-Brilman, A.; Knoester, M. Sofosbuvir Add-on to Ribavirin Treatment for Chronic Hepatitis E Virus Infection in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients Does Not Result in Sustained Virological Response. *Open Forum Infect. Dis.* **2019**, *6*, ofz346, doi:10.1093/ofid/ofz346.
- 28. Garbarini, N. Primates as a Model for Research. *Dis. Model. Mech.* **2010**, *3*, 15–19, doi:10.1242/dmm.004861.
- 29. Corneillie, L.; Banda, D.H.; Meuleman, P. Animal Models for Hepatitis E Virus. *Viruses* **2019**, *11*, 564, doi:10.3390/v11060564.
- Schlosser, J.; Dähnert, L.; Dremsek, P.; Tauscher, K.; Fast, C.; Ziegler, U.; Gröner, A.; Ulrich, R.;
 Groschup, M.; Eiden, M. Different Outcomes of Experimental Hepatitis E Virus Infection in
 Diverse Mouse Strains, Wistar Rats, and Rabbits. *Viruses* 2018, 11, 1, doi:10.3390/v11010001.
- 31. Cheng, X.; Wang, S.; Dai, X.; Shi, C.; Wen, Y.; Zhu, M.; Zhan, S.; Meng, J. Rabbit as a Novel Animal Model for Hepatitis E Virus Infection and Vaccine Evaluation. *PLOS ONE* **2012**, *7*, e51616, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051616.
- 32. Meister, T.L.; Bruening, J.; Todt, D.; Steinmann, E. Cell Culture Systems for the Study of Hepatitis E Virus. *Antiviral Res.* **2019**, *163*, 34–49, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2019.01.007.
- 33. Schemmerer, M.; Johne, R.; Erl, M.; Jilg, W.; Wenzel, J.J. Isolation of Subtype 3c, 3e and 3f-Like Hepatitis E Virus Strains Stably Replicating to High Viral Loads in an Optimized Cell Culture System. *Viruses* **2019**, *11*, 483, doi:10.3390/v11060483.
- 34. Purdy, M.A.; Harrison, T.J.; Jameel, S.; Meng, X.-J.; Okamoto, H.; Van der Poel, W.H.M.; Smith, D.B.; ICTV Report Consortium ICTV Virus Taxonomy Profile: Hepeviridae. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2017**, *98*, 2645–2646, doi:10.1099/jgv.0.000940.
- 35. Purdy, M.A.; Drexler, J.F.; Meng, X.-J.; Norder, H.; Okamoto, H.; Van der Poel, W.H.M.; Reuter, G.; de Souza, W.M.; Ulrich, R.G.; Smith, D.B.Y. 2022 ICTV Virus Taxonomy Profile: Hepeviridae 2022. J. Gen. Virol. 103, 001778, doi:10.1099/jgv.0.001778.
- 36. Smith, D.B.; Izopet, J.; Nicot, F.; Simmonds, P.; Jameel, S.; Meng, X.-J.; Norder, H.; Okamoto, H.; van der Poel, W.H.M.; Reuter, G.; et al. Update: Proposed Reference Sequences for

Subtypes of Hepatitis E Virus (Species Orthohepevirus A). J. Gen. Virol. **2020**, 101, 692–698, doi:10.1099/jgv.0.001435.

- Takahashi, M.; Nishizawa, T.; Sato, Y.; Miyazaki, S.; Aikawa, T.; Ashida, K.; Tamaru, T.; Oguro, K.; Hayakawa, F.; Matsuoka, H.; et al. Prevalence and Genotype/Subtype Distribution of Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) among Wild Boars in Japan: Identification of a Genotype 5 HEV Strain. *Virus Res.* 2020, 287, 198106, doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2020.198106.
- Takahashi, M.; Nishizawa, T.; Sato, H.; Sato, Y.; Jirintai; Nagashima, S.; Okamoto, H. Analysis of the Full-Length Genome of a Hepatitis E Virus Isolate Obtained from a Wild Boar in Japan That Is Classifiable into a Novel Genotype. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2011**, *92*, 902–908, doi:10.1099/vir.0.029470-0.
- 39. Li, T.-C.; Bai, H.; Yoshizaki, S.; Ami, Y.; Suzaki, Y.; Doan, Y.H.; Takahashi, K.; Mishiro, S.; Takeda, N.; Wakita, T. Genotype 5 Hepatitis E Virus Produced by a Reverse Genetics System Has the Potential for Zoonotic Infection. *Hepatol. Commun.* **2019**, *3*, 160–172, doi:10.1002/hep4.1288.
- 40. Woo, P.C.Y.; Lau, S.K.P.; Teng, J.L.L.; Tsang, A.K.L.; Joseph, M.; Wong, E.Y.M.; Tang, Y.; Sivakumar, S.; Xie, J.; Bai, R.; et al. New Hepatitis E Virus Genotype in Camels, the Middle East. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **2014**, *20*, 1044–1048, doi:10.3201/eid2006.140140.
- 41. Woo, P.C.Y.; Lau, S.K.P.; Teng, J.L.L.; Cao, K.-Y.; Wernery, U.; Schountz, T.; Chiu, T.H.; Tsang, A.K.L.; Wong, P.-C.; Wong, E.Y.M.; et al. New Hepatitis E Virus Genotype in Bactrian Camels, Xinjiang, China, 2013. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **2016**, *22*, 2219–2221, doi:10.3201/eid2212.160979.
- 42. Lee, G.-H.; Tan, B.-H.; Teo, E.C.-Y.; Lim, S.-G.; Dan, Y.-Y.; Wee, A.; Aw, P.P.K.; Zhu, Y.; Hibberd, M.L.; Tan, C.-K.; et al. Chronic Infection With Camelid Hepatitis E Virus in a Liver Transplant Recipient Who Regularly Consumes Camel Meat and Milk. *Gastroenterology* **2016**, *150*, 355-357.e3, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2015.10.048.
- 43. Dalton, H.R.; Izopet, J. Transmission and Epidemiology of Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 and 4 Infections. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* **2018**, *8*, a032144, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a032144.
- 44. Lewis, H.C.; Wichmann, O.; Duizer, E. Transmission Routes and Risk Factors for Autochthonous Hepatitis E Virus Infection in Europe: A Systematic Review. *Epidemiol. Infect.* **2010**, *138*, 145– 166, doi:10.1017/S0950268809990847.
- 45. Lhomme, S.; Marion, O.; Abravanel, F.; Chapuy-Regaud, S.; Kamar, N.; Izopet, J. Hepatitis E Pathogenesis. *Viruses* **2016**, *8*, 212, doi:10.3390/v8080212.
- 46. Wedemeyer, H.; Pischke, S.; Manns, M.P. Pathogenesis and Treatment of Hepatitis E Virus Infection. *Gastroenterology* **2012**, *142*, 1388-1397.e1, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.02.014.
- 47. Meyyur Aravamudan, V.; Khan, S.R.; Dosala, S.; Hussain, I. Beyond the Liver, Hepatitis E Can Affect the Nerves, Pancreas, and Blood Vessels. Extrahepatic Manifestations of Hepatitis E: A Comprehensive Literature Review. *Cureus* **2019**, doi:10.7759/cureus.5499.
- 48. Carratalà, A.; Joost, S. Population Density and Water Balance Influence the Global Occurrence of Hepatitis E Epidemics. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 10042, doi:10.1038/s41598-019-46475-3.
- 49. Nelson, K.E.; Labrique, A.B.; Kmush, B.L. Epidemiology of Genotype 1 and 2 Hepatitis E Virus Infections. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* **2019**, *9*, a031732, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a031732.
- 50. Khuroo, M.S.; Kamili, S.; Yattoo, G.N. Hepatitis E Virus Infection May Be Transmitted through Blood Transfusions in an Endemic Area. *J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2004**, *19*, 778–784, doi:10.1111/j.1440-1746.2004.03437.x.
- 51. Arankalle, V.A. Hepatitis E in India. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. India Sect. B Biol. Sci.* **2012**, *82*, 43–53, doi:10.1007/s40011-011-0004-y.
- 52. Gupta, N.; Sarangi, A.N.; Dadhich, S.; Dixit, V.K.; Chetri, K.; Goel, A.; Aggarwal, R. Acute Hepatitis E in India Appears to Be Caused Exclusively by Genotype 1 Hepatitis E Virus. *Indian J. Gastroenterol.* **2018**, *37*, 44–49, doi:10.1007/s12664-018-0819-z.

- 53. Arankalle, V.A.; Chobe, L.P.; Joshi, M.V.; Chadha, M.S.; Kundu, B.; Walimbe, A.M. Human and Swine Hepatitis E Viruses from Western India Belong to Different Genotypes. *J. Hepatol.* **2002**, *36*, 417–425, doi:10.1016/S0168-8278(01)00297-5.
- 54. Begum, N.; Polipalli, S.K.; Husain, S.A.; Kar, P. Molecular Analysis of Swine Hepatitis E Virus from North India. *Indian J. Med. Res.* **2010**, *132*, 504–508.
- 55. Aye, T.T.; Uchida, T.; Ma, X.-Z.; lida, F.; Shikata, T.; Zhuang, H.; Win, K.M. Complete Nucleotide Sequence of a Hepatitis E Virus Isolated from the Xinjiang Epidemic (1986–1988) of China. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1992**, *20*, 3512, doi:10.1093/nar/20.13.3512.
- 56. Kamar, N.; Dalton, H.R.; Abravanel, F.; Izopet, J. Hepatitis E Virus Infection. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **2014**, *27*, 116–138, doi:10.1128/CMR.00057-13.
- 57. Li, P.; Liu, J.; Li, Y.; Su, J.; Ma, Z.; Bramer, W.M.; Cao, W.; de Man, R.A.; Peppelenbosch, M.P.; Pan, Q. The Global Epidemiology of Hepatitis E Virus Infection: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Liver Int.* **2020**, *40*, 1516–1528, doi:10.1111/liv.14468.
- 58. Wu, C.; Wu, X.; Xia, J. Hepatitis E Virus Infection during Pregnancy. *Virol. J.* **2020**, *17*, 73, doi:10.1186/s12985-020-01343-9.
- 59. Robins, A.E.M.; Bowden, D.J.; Gelson, W.T.H. Chronic Genotype 1 Hepatitis E Infection from Immunosuppression for Ileo-Colonic Crohn's Disease. *Oxf. Med. Case Rep.* **2018**, *2018*, doi:10.1093/omcr/omy059.
- Maila, H.T.; Bowyer, S.M.; Swanepoel, R. Identification of a New Strain of Hepatitis E Virus from an Outbreak in Namibia in 1995. *J. Gen. Virol.* 2004, *85*, 89–95, doi:10.1099/vir.0.19587-0.
- 61. Grandadam, M.; Coursaget, P.; Cheval, P.; Buisson, Y.; Rehel, P.; Nicand, E.; Innis, B.; Tsarev, S.; Teyssou, R.; van Cuyck-Gandre, H. Identification of a Novel Hepatitis E Virus in Nigeria. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2000**, *81*, 903–909, doi:10.1099/0022-1317-81-4-903.
- 62. Wang, B.; Akanbi, O.A.; Harms, D.; Adesina, O.; Osundare, F.A.; Naidoo, D.; Deveaux, I.; Ogundiran, O.; Ugochukwu, U.; Mba, N.; et al. A New Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 2 Strain Identified from an Outbreak in Nigeria, 2017. *Virol. J.* **2018**, *15*, 163, doi:10.1186/s12985-018-1082-8.
- 63. Nicand, E.; Armstrong, G.L.; Enouf, V.; Guthmann, J.P.; Guerin, J.-P.; Caron, M.; Nizou, J.Y.; Andraghetti, R. Genetic Heterogeneity of Hepatitis E Virus in Darfur, Sudan, and Neighboring Chad. J. Med. Virol. **2005**, 77, 519–521, doi:10.1002/jmv.20487.
- 64. Escribà, J.M.; Nakoune, E.; Recio, C.; Massamba, P.-M.; Matsika-Claquin, M.D.; Goumba, C.; Rose, A.M.C.; Nicand, E.; García, E.; Leklegban, C.; et al. Hepatitis E, Central African Republic. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **2008**, *14*, 681–683, doi:10.3201/eid1404.070833.
- 65. Velazquez, O.; Stetler, H.C.; Avila, C.; Ornelas, G.; Alvarez, C.; Hadler, S.C.; Bradley, D.W.; Sepúlveda, J. Epidemic Transmission of Enterically Transmitted Non-A, Non-B Hepatitis in Mexico, 1986-1987. *JAMA* **1990**, *263*, 3281–3285, doi:10.1001/jama.1990.03440240071018.
- 66. Huang, C.-C.; Nguyen, D.; Fernandez, J.; Yun, K.Y.; Fry, K.E.; Bradley, D.W.; Tam, A.W.; Reyes, G.R. Molecular Cloning and Sequencing of the Mexico Isolate of Hepatitis E Virus (HEV). *Virology* **1992**, *191*, 550–558, doi:10.1016/0042-6822(92)90230-M.
- 67. Khuroo, M.S. Hepatitis E and Pregnancy: An Unholy Alliance Unmasked from Kashmir, India. *Viruses* **2021**, *13*, 1329, doi:10.3390/v13071329.
- 68. Van der Poel, W.H. Food and Environmental Routes of Hepatitis E Virus Transmission. *Curr. Opin. Virol.* **2014**, *4*, 91–96, doi:10.1016/j.coviro.2014.01.006.
- 69. Emerson, S.U.; Arankalle, V.A.; Purcell, R.H. Thermal Stability of Hepatitis E Virus. *J. Infect. Dis.* **2005**, *192*, 930–933, doi:10.1086/432488.
- Pischke, S.; Hiller, J.; Lütgehetmann, M.; Polywka, S.; Rybczynski, M.; Ayuk, F.; Lohse, A.W.
 Blood-Borne Hepatitis E Virus Transmission: A Relevant Risk for Immunosuppressed Patients. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 2016, *63*, 569–570, doi:10.1093/cid/ciw309.

- Mansuy, J.M.; Gallian, P.; Dimeglio, C.; Saune, K.; Arnaud, C.; Pelletier, B.; Morel, P.; Legrand, D.; Tiberghien, P.; Izopet, J. A Nationwide Survey of Hepatitis E Viral Infection in French Blood Donors. *Hepatology* 2016, *63*, 1145–1154, doi:10.1002/hep.28436.
- 72. Abravanel, F.; Lhomme, S.; El Costa, H.; Schvartz, B.; Peron, J.-M.; Kamar, N.; Izopet, J. Rabbit Hepatitis E Virus Infections in Humans, France. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **2017**, *23*, 1191–1193, doi:10.3201/eid2307.170318.
- 73. Andraud, M.; Dumarest, M.; Cariolet, R.; Aylaj, B.; Barnaud, E.; Eono, F.; Pavio, N.; Rose, N. Direct Contact and Environmental Contaminations Are Responsible for HEV Transmission in Pigs. *Vet. Res.* **2013**, *44*, 102, doi:10.1186/1297-9716-44-102.
- 74. Schlosser, J.; Eiden, M.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Fast, C.; Dremsek, P.; Lange, E.; Ulrich, R.G.; Groschup, M.H. Natural and Experimental Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 - Infection in European Wild Boar Is Transmissible to Domestic Pigs. *Vet. Res.* **2014**, *45*, 121, doi:10.1186/s13567-014-0121-8.
- 75. Bouwknegt, M.; Rutjes, S.A.; Reusken, C.B.; Stockhofe-Zurwieden, N.; Frankena, K.; de Jong, M.C.; de Roda Husman, A.M.; van der Poel, W.H. The Course of Hepatitis E Virus Infection in Pigs after Contact-Infection and Intravenous Inoculation. *BMC Vet. Res.* 2009, *5*, 1–12, doi:10.1186/1746-6148-5-7.
- 76. Halbur, P.G.; Kasorndorkbua, C.; Gilbert, C.; Guenette, D.; Potters, M.B.; Purcell, R.H.; Emerson, S.U.; Toth, T.E.; Meng, X.J. Comparative Pathogenesis of Infection of Pigs with Hepatitis E Viruses Recovered from a Pig and a Human. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **2001**, *39*, 918–923, doi:10.1128/JCM.39.3.918-923.2001.
- 77. Kamar, N.; Selves, J.; Mansuy, J.-M.; Ouezzani, L.; Péron, J.-M.; Guitard, J.; Cointault, O.; Esposito, L.; Abravanel, F.; Danjoux, M.; et al. Hepatitis E Virus and Chronic Hepatitis in Organ-Transplant Recipients. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2008**, *358*, 811–817, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706992.
- Ollier, L.; Tieulie, N.; Sanderson, F.; Heudier, P.; Giordanengo, V.; Fuzibet, J.-G.; Nicand, E. Chronic Hepatitis After Hepatitis E Virus Infection in a Patient With Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Taking Rituximab. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 2009, *150*, 430–431, doi:10.7326/0003-4819-150-6-200903170-00026.
- 79. Kamar, N.; Izopet, J.; Dalton, H.R. Chronic Hepatitis E Virus Infection and Treatment. *J. Clin. Exp. Hepatol.* **2013**, *3*, 134–140, doi:10.1016/j.jceh.2013.05.003.
- 80. Grewal, P.; Kamili, S.; Motamed, D. Chronic Hepatitis E in an Immunocompetent Patient: A Case Report. *Hepatology* **2014**, *59*, 347–348, doi:10.1002/hep.26636.
- 81. Kumar, A.; Saraswat, V.A. Hepatitis E and Acute-on-Chronic Liver Failure. *J. Clin. Exp. Hepatol.* **2013**, *3*, 225–230, doi:10.1016/j.jceh.2013.08.013.
- 82. Li, B.; Wagner, A.L.; Song, Y.; Chen, X.; Lu, Y. Distribution and Phylogenetics of Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 4 in Humans and Animals. *Zoonoses Public Health* **2022**, *n/a*, doi:10.1111/zph.12934.
- 83. Jeblaoui, A.; Haim-Boukobza, S.; Marchadier, E.; Mokhtari, C.; Roque-Afonso, A.-M. Genotype 4 Hepatitis E Virus in France: An Autochthonous Infection With a More Severe Presentation. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **2013**, *57*, e122–e126, doi:10.1093/cid/cit291.
- 84. Wang, L.; Teng, J.L.L.; Lau, S.K.P.; Sridhar, S.; Fu, H.; Gong, W.; Li, M.; Xu, Q.; He, Y.; Zhuang, H.; et al. Transmission of a Novel Genotype of Hepatitis E Virus from Bactrian Camels to Cynomolgus Macaques. *J. Virol.* **2019**, *93*, e02014-18, doi:10.1128/JVI.02014-18.
- 85. Zhang, W.; Ami, Y.; Suzaki, Y.; Kataoka, M.; Takeda, N.; Muramatsu, M.; Li, T. A Cross-Species Transmission of a Camel-Derived Genotype 8 Hepatitis E Virus to Rabbits. *Pathogens* **2021**, *10*, 1374, doi:10.3390/pathogens10111374.
- 86. Hadem, J.; Wedemeyer, H. Von der Transmission bis zur Therapie Hepatitis A und Hepatitis E - Epidemiologie und natürlicher Verlauf. *Klin.* **2005**, *34*, 123–127, doi:10.1055/s-2005-870665.
- 87. Faber, M.S.; Wenzel, J.J.; Jilg, W.; Thamm, M.; Höhle, M.; Stark, K. Hepatitis E Virus Seroprevalence among Adults, Germany. *Emerg. Infect. Dis. J.* **2012**, *18*, 1654–1657, doi:10.3201/eid1810.111756.

- 88. Schemmerer, M.; Wenzel, J.J.; Stark, K.; Faber, M. Molecular Epidemiology and Genotype-Specific Disease Severity of Hepatitis E Virus Infections in Germany, 2010–2019. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* **2022**, *11*, 1754–1763, doi:10.1080/22221751.2022.2091479.
- Wichmann, O.; Schimanski, S.; Koch, J.; Kohler, M.; Rothe, C.; Plentz, A.; Jilg, W.; Stark, K.
 Phylogenetic and Case-Control Study on Hepatitis E Virus Infection in Germany. *J. Infect. Dis.*2008, 198, 1732–1741, doi:10.1086/593211.
- 90. Hriskova, K.; Marosevic, D.; Belting, A.; Wenzel, J.J.; Carl, A.; Katz, K. Epidemiology of Hepatitis E in 2017 in Bavaria, Germany. *Food Environ. Virol.* **2021**, *13*, 337–346, doi:10.1007/s12560-021-09474-0.
- 91. Krumbholz, A.; Joel, S.; Neubert, A.; Dremsek, P.; Dürrwald, R.; Johne, R.; Hlinak, A.; Walther, M.; Lange, J.; Wutzler, P.; et al. Age-Related and Regional Differences in the Prevalence of Hepatitis E Virus-Specific Antibodies in Pigs in Germany. *Vet. Microbiol.* **2013**, *167*, 394–402, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2013.10.001.
- 92. Anheyer-Behmenburg, H.E.; Szabo, K.; Schotte, U.; Binder, A.; Klein, G.; Johne, R. Hepatitis E Virus in Wild Boars and Spillover Infection in Red and Roe Deer, Germany, 2013–2015. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **2017**, *23*, 130–133, doi:10.3201/eid2301.161169.
- 93. Hammerschmidt, F.; Schwaiger, K.; Dähnert, L.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Höper, D.; Gareis, M.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Hepatitis E Virus in Wild Rabbits and European Brown Hares in Germany. *Zoonoses Public Health* **2017**, *64*, 612–622, doi:10.1111/zph.12355.
- 94. Ryll, R.; Eiden, M.; Heuser, E.; Weinhardt, M.; Ziege, M.; Höper, D.; Groschup, M.H.; Heckel, G.; Johne, R.; Ulrich, R.G. Hepatitis E Virus in Feral Rabbits along a Rural-Urban Transect in Central Germany. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* **2018**, *61*, 155–159, doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2018.03.019.
- 95. Klink, P.; Harms, D.; Altmann, B.; Dörffel, Y.; Morgera, U.; Zander, S.; Bock, C.T.; Hofmann, J. Molecular Characterisation of a Rabbit Hepatitis E Virus Strain Detected in a Chronically HEV-Infected Individual from Germany. *One Health* **2023**, *16*, 100528, doi:10.1016/j.onehlt.2023.100528.
- 96. Sahli, R.; Fraga, M.; Semela, D.; Moradpour, D.; Gouttenoire, J. Rabbit HEV in Immunosuppressed Patients with Hepatitis E Acquired in Switzerland. *J. Hepatol.* **2019**, *70*, 1023–1025, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2019.01.025.
- 97. Tsarev, S.A.; Emerson, S.U.; Reyes, G.R.; Tsareva, T.S.; Legters, L.J.; Malik, I.A.; Iqbal, M.; Purcell, R.H. Characterization of a Prototype Strain of Hepatitis E Virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1992**, *89*, 559–563.
- 98. Nan, Y.; Zhang, Y.-J. Molecular Biology and Infection of Hepatitis E Virus. *Front. Microbiol.* **2016**, *7*, doi:10.3389/fmicb.2016.01419.
- 99. Graff, J.; Torian, U.; Nguyen, H.; Emerson, S.U. A Bicistronic Subgenomic MRNA Encodes Both the ORF2 and ORF3 Proteins of Hepatitis E Virus. *J. Virol.* **2006**, *80*, 5919–5926, doi:10.1128/JVI.00046-06.
- 100. Nair, V.P.; Anang, S.; Subramani, C.; Madhvi, A.; Bakshi, K.; Srivastava, A.; Shalimar; Nayak, B.; Ct, R.K.; Surjit, M. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Induced Synthesis of a Novel Viral Factor Mediates Efficient Replication of Genotype-1 Hepatitis E Virus. *PLOS Pathog.* 2016, 12, e1005521, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005521.
- 101. Kabrane-Lazizi, Y.; Meng, X.-J.; Purcell, R.H.; Emerson, S.U. Evidence That the Genomic RNA of Hepatitis E Virus Is Capped. *J. Virol.* **1999**, *73*, 8848–8850, doi:10.1128/JVI.73.10.8848-8850.1999.
- 102. Watson, J.D.; Baker, T.A.; Bell, S.P.; Gann, A.; Levine, M.; Losick, R.; CSHLP, I. *Molecular Biology* of the Gene: International Edition; 6th ed.; Pearson: San Francisco (Calif.), 2008; ISBN 978-0-321-50781-5.
- 103. Mahilkar, S.; Paingankar, M.S.; Lole, K.S. Hepatitis E Virus RNA-Dependent RNA Polymerase: RNA Template Specificities, Recruitment and Synthesis. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2016**, *97*, 2231–2242, doi:10.1099/jgv.0.000528.

- 104. Parvez, M.K. The Hepatitis E Virus Nonstructural Polyprotein. *Future Microbiol.* **2017**, *12*, 915–924, doi:10.2217/fmb-2017-0016.
- 105. Kelly, A.G.; Netzler, N.E.; White, P.A. Ancient Recombination Events and the Origins of Hepatitis E Virus. *BMC Evol. Biol.* **2016**, *16*, 210, doi:10.1186/s12862-016-0785-y.
- 106. Koonin, E.V.; Gorbalenya, A.E.; Purdy, M.A.; Rozanov, M.N.; Reyes, G.R.; Bradley, D.W. Computer-Assisted Assignment of Functional Domains in the Nonstructural Polyprotein of Hepatitis E Virus: Delineation of an Additional Group of Positive-Strand RNA Plant and Animal Viruses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **1992**, *89*, 8259–8263, doi:10.1073/pnas.89.17.8259.
- 107. Parvez, M.K. The Hepatitis E Virus ORF1 'X-Domain' Residues Form a Putative Macrodomain Protein/Appr-1"-Pase Catalytic-Site, Critical for Viral RNA Replication. *Gene* **2015**, *566*, 47–53, doi:10.1016/j.gene.2015.04.026.
- Shafat, Z.; Hamza, A.; Deeba, F.; Parvez, M.K.; Parveen, S. Molecular Insights into the Y-Domain of Hepatitis E Virus Using Computational Analyses. *Beni-Suef Univ. J. Basic Appl. Sci.* 2021, 10, 76, doi:10.1186/s43088-021-00154-3.
- 109. Magden, J.; Takeda, N.; Li, T.; Auvinen, P.; Ahola, T.; Miyamura, T.; Merits, A. Virus-Specific MRNA Capping Enzyme Encoded by Hepatitis E Virus. *J VIROL* **2001**, *75*, 7.
- 110. Parvez, M.K. Mutational Analysis of Hepatitis E Virus ORF1 "Y-Domain": Effects on RNA Replication and Virion Infectivity. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **2017**, *23*, 590–602, doi:10.3748/wjg.v23.i4.590.
- 111. Ropp, S.L.; Tam, A.W.; Beames, B.; Purdy, M.; Frey, T.K. Expression of the Hepatitis E Virus ORF1. *Arch. Virol.* **2000**, *145*, 1321–1337, doi:10.1007/s007050070093.
- 112. Paliwal, D.; Panda, S.K.; Kapur, N.; Varma, S.P.K.; Durgapal, H. Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) Protease: A Chymotrypsin-like Enzyme That Processes Both Non-Structural (PORF1) and Capsid (PORF2) Protein. J. Gen. Virol. **2014**, *95*, 1689–1700, doi:10.1099/vir.0.066142-0.
- 113. First Crystal Structure of a Nonstructural Hepatitis E Viral Protein Identifies a Putative Novel Zinc-Binding Protein Available online: https://journals.asm.org/doi/epub/10.1128/JVI.00170-19 (accessed on 22 April 2022).
- 114. Shukla, P.; Nguyen, H.T.; Faulk, K.; Mather, K.; Torian, U.; Engle, R.E.; Emerson, S.U. Adaptation of a Genotype 3 Hepatitis E Virus to Efficient Growth in Cell Culture Depends on an Inserted Human Gene Segment Acquired by Recombination. *J. Virol.* **2012**, *86*, 5697–5707, doi:10.1128/JVI.00146-12.
- 115. Scholz, J.; Falkenhagen, A.; Johne, R. The Translated Amino Acid Sequence of an Insertion in the Hepatitis E Virus Strain 47832c Genome, But Not the RNA Sequence, Is Essential for Efficient Cell Culture Replication. *Viruses* **2021**, *13*, 762, doi:10.3390/v13050762.
- 116. Neuvonen, M.; Ahola, T. Differential Activities of Cellular and Viral Macro Domain Proteins in Binding of ADP-Ribose Metabolites. *J. Mol. Biol.* **2009**, *385*, 212–225, doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2008.10.045.
- 117. Anang, S.; Subramani, C.; Nair, V.P.; Kaul, S.; Kaushik, N.; Sharma, C.; Tiwari, A.; Ranjith-Kumar, C.T.; Surjit, M. Identification of Critical Residues in Hepatitis E Virus Macro Domain Involved in Its Interaction with Viral Methyltransferase and ORF3 Proteins. *Sci. Rep.* 2016, *6*, 25133, doi:10.1038/srep25133.
- 118. Karpe, Y.A.; Lole, K.S. NTPase and 5' to 3' RNA Duplex-Unwinding Activities of the Hepatitis E Virus Helicase Domain. *J. Virol.* **2010**, *84*, 3595–3602, doi:10.1128/JVI.02130-09.
- 119. Emerson, S.U.; Nguyen, H.; Graff, J.; Stephany, D.A.; Brockington, A.; Purcell, R.H. In Vitro Replication of Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) Genomes and of an HEV Replicon Expressing Green Fluorescent Protein. *J. Virol.* **2004**, *78*, 4838–4846, doi:10.1128/JVI.78.9.4838-4846.2004.
- 120. Surjit, M.; Jameel, S.; Lal, S.K. The ORF2 Protein of Hepatitis E Virus Binds the 5' Region of Viral RNA. *J. Virol.* **2004**, *78*, 320–328, doi:10.1128/JVI.78.1.320-328.2004.
- 121. Bradley, D.; Andjaparidze, A.; Cook, E.H.; McCaustland, K.; Balayan, M.; Stetler, H.; Velazquez, O.; Robertson, B.; Humphrey, C.; Kane, M.; et al. Aetiological Agent of Enterically Transmitted Non-A, Non-B Hepatitis. *J. Gen. Virol.* **1988**, *69*, 731–738, doi:10.1099/0022-1317-69-3-731.

- 122. Guu, T.S.Y.; Liu, Z.; Ye, Q.; Mata, D.A.; Li, K.; Yin, C.; Zhang, J.; Tao, Y.J. Structure of the Hepatitis E Virus-like Particle Suggests Mechanisms for Virus Assembly and Receptor Binding. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2009**, *106*, 12992–12997, doi:10.1073/pnas.0904848106.
- 123. Xing, L.; Li, T.-C.; Mayazaki, N.; Simon, M.N.; Wall, J.S.; Moore, M.; Wang, C.-Y.; Takeda, N.; Wakita, T.; Miyamura, T.; et al. Structure of Hepatitis E Virion-Sized Particle Reveals an RNA-Dependent Viral Assembly Pathway *. J. Biol. Chem. 2010, 285, 33175–33183, doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.106336.
- 124. Xing, L.; Kato, K.; Li, T.; Takeda, N.; Miyamura, T.; Hammar, L.; Cheng, R.H. Recombinant Hepatitis E Capsid Protein Self-Assembles into a Dual-Domain T = 1 Particle Presenting Native Virus Epitopes. *Virology* **1999**, *265*, 35–45, doi:10.1006/viro.1999.0005.
- 125. Kapur, N.; Thakral, D.; Durgapal, H.; Panda, S.K. Hepatitis E Virus Enters Liver Cells through Receptor-Dependent Clathrin-Mediated Endocytosis: HEV Entry into Hepatocytes. *J. Viral Hepat.* **2012**, *19*, 436–448, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2893.2011.01559.x.
- 126. Panda, S.K.; Kapur, N.; Paliwal, D.; Durgapal, H. Recombinant Hepatitis E Virus like Particles Can Function as RNA Nanocarriers. *J. Nanobiotechnology* **2015**, *13*, 44, doi:10.1186/s12951-015-0101-9.
- 127. Montpellier, C.; Wychowski, C.; Sayed, I.M.; Meunier, J.-C.; Saliou, J.-M.; Ankavay, M.; Bull, A.; Pillez, A.; Abravanel, F.; Helle, F.; et al. Hepatitis E Virus Lifecycle and Identification of 3 Forms of the ORF2 Capsid Protein. *Gastroenterology* **2018**, *154*, 211-223.e8, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2017.09.020.
- 128. Ankavay, M.; Montpellier, C.; Sayed, I.M.; Saliou, J.-M.; Wychowski, C.; Saas, L.; Duvet, S.; Aliouat-Denis, C.-M.; Farhat, R.; de Masson d'Autume, V.; et al. New Insights into the ORF2 Capsid Protein, a Key Player of the Hepatitis E Virus Lifecycle. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 6243, doi:10.1038/s41598-019-42737-2.
- 129. Graff, J.; Nguyen, H.; Yu, C.; Elkins, W.R.; St. Claire, M.; Purcell, R.H.; Emerson, S.U. The Open Reading Frame 3 Gene of Hepatitis E Virus Contains a *Cis* -Reactive Element and Encodes a Protein Required for Infection of Macaques. *J. Virol.* **2005**, *79*, 6680–6689, doi:10.1128/JVI.79.11.6680-6689.2005.
- Emerson, S.U.; Nguyen, H.; Torian, U.; Purcell, R.H. ORF3 Protein of Hepatitis E Virus Is Not Required for Replication, Virion Assembly, or Infection of Hepatoma Cells In Vitro. *J. Virol.* 2006, *80*, 10457–10464, doi:10.1128/JVI.00892-06.
- 131. Tyagi, S.; Korkaya, H.; Zafrullah, M.; Jameel, S.; Lal, S.K. The Phosphorylated Form of the ORF3 Protein of Hepatitis E Virus Interacts with Its Non-Glycosylated Form of the Major Capsid Protein, ORF2. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2002**, *277*, 22759–22767, doi:10.1074/jbc.M200185200.
- 132. Gouttenoire, J.; Pollán, A.; Abrami, L.; Oechslin, N.; Mauron, J.; Matter, M.; Oppliger, J.; Szkolnicka, D.; Dao Thi, V.L.; van der Goot, F.G.; et al. Palmitoylation Mediates Membrane Association of Hepatitis E Virus ORF3 Protein and Is Required for Infectious Particle Secretion. *PLOS Pathog.* 2018, 14, e1007471, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1007471.
- 133. Yamada, K.; Takahashi, M.; Hoshino, Y.; Takahashi, H.; Ichiyama, K.; Nagashima, S.; Tanaka, T.; Okamoto, H. ORF3 Protein of Hepatitis E Virus Is Essential for Virion Release from Infected Cells. J. Gen. Virol. 2009, 90, 1880–1891, doi:10.1099/vir.0.010561-0.
- 134. Kenney, S.P.; Wentworth, J.L.; Heffron, C.L.; Meng, X.-J. Replacement of the Hepatitis E Virus ORF3 Protein PxxP Motif with Heterologous Late Domain Motifs Affects Virus Release via Interaction with TSG101. *Virology* **2015**, *486*, 198–208, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2015.09.012.
- 135. Takahashi, M.; Yamada, K.; Hoshino, Y.; Takahashi, H.; Ichiyama, K.; Tanaka, T.; Okamoto, H. Monoclonal Antibodies Raised against the ORF3 Protein of Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) Can Capture HEV Particles in Culture Supernatant and Serum but Not Those in Feces. Arch. Virol. 2008, 153, 1703, doi:10.1007/s00705-008-0179-6.
- 136. Kannan, H.; Fan, S.; Patel, D.; Bossis, I.; Zhang, Y.-J. The Hepatitis E Virus Open Reading Frame 3 Product Interacts with Microtubules and Interferes with Their Dynamics. *J. Virol.* **2009**, *83*, 6375–6382, doi:10.1128/JVI.02571-08.

- 137. Kar-Roy, A.; Korkaya, H.; Oberoi, R.; Lal, S.K.; Jameel, S. The Hepatitis E Virus Open Reading Frame 3 Protein Activates ERK through Binding and Inhibition of the MAPK Phosphatase. J. Biol. Chem. 2004, 279, 28345–28357, doi:10.1074/jbc.M400457200.
- 138. Chandra, V.; Holla, P.; Ghosh, D.; Chakrabarti, D.; Padigaru, M.; Jameel, S. The Hepatitis E Virus ORF3 Protein Regulates the Expression of Liver-Specific Genes by Modulating Localization of Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor 4. *PLOS ONE* **2011**, *6*, e22412, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022412.
- 139. Geng, Y.; Yang, J.; Huang, W.; Harrison, T.J.; Zhou, Y.; Wen, Z.; Wang, Y. Virus Host Protein Interaction Network Analysis Reveals That the HEV ORF3 Protein May Interrupt the Blood Coagulation Process. *PLOS ONE* **2013**, *8*, e56320, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0056320.
- 140. Ding, Q.; Heller, B.; Capuccino, J.M.V.; Song, B.; Nimgaonkar, I.; Hrebikova, G.; Contreras, J.E.; Ploss, A. Hepatitis E Virus ORF3 Is a Functional Ion Channel Required for Release of Infectious Particles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2017**, *114*, 1147–1152, doi:10.1073/pnas.1614955114.
- 141. Feng, Z.; Hirai-Yuki, A.; McKnight, K.L.; Lemon, S.M. Naked Viruses That Aren't Always Naked: Quasi-Enveloped Agents of Acute Hepatitis. *Annu. Rev. Virol.* **2014**, *1*, 539–560, doi:10.1146/annurev-virology-031413-085359.
- Nagashima, S.; Takahashi, M.; Kobayashi, T.; Tanggis; Nishizawa, T.; Nishiyama, T.;
 Primadharsini, P.P.; Okamoto, H. Characterization of the Quasi-Enveloped Hepatitis E Virus
 Particles Released by the Cellular Exosomal Pathway. *J. Virol.* 2017, *91*, doi:10.1128/JVI.00822-17.
- 143. Nagashima, S.; Takahashi, M.; Jirintai, S.; Tanaka, T.; Nishizawa, T.; Yasuda, J.; Okamoto, H. Tumour Susceptibility Gene 101 and the Vacuolar Protein Sorting Pathway Are Required for the Release of Hepatitis E Virions. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2011**, *92*, 2838–2848, doi:10.1099/vir.0.035378-0.
- 144. Takahashi, M.; Tanaka, T.; Takahashi, H.; Hoshino, Y.; Nagashima, S.; Jirintai; Mizuo, H.; Yazaki, Y.; Takagi, T.; Azuma, M.; et al. Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) Strains in Serum Samples Can Replicate Efficiently in Cultured Cells Despite the Coexistence of HEV Antibodies: Characterization of HEV Virions in Blood Circulation. J. Clin. Microbiol. 2010, 48, 1112–1125, doi:10.1128/JCM.02002-09.
- 145. Yin, X.; Ambardekar, C.; Lu, Y.; Feng, Z. Distinct Entry Mechanisms for Nonenveloped and Quasi-Enveloped Hepatitis E Viruses. J. Virol. **2016**, 90, 4232–4242, doi:10.1128/JVI.02804-15.
- 146. Kalia, M.; Chandra, V.; Rahman, S.A.; Sehgal, D.; Jameel, S. Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycans Are Required for Cellular Binding of the Hepatitis E Virus ORF2 Capsid Protein and for Viral Infection. *J. Virol.* **2009**, *83*, 12714–12724, doi:10.1128/JVI.00717-09.
- 147. Holla, P.; Ahmad, I.; Ahmed, Z.; Jameel, S. Hepatitis E Virus Enters Liver Cells Through a Dynamin-2, Clathrin and Membrane Cholesterol-Dependent Pathway. *Traffic* **2015**, *16*, 398–416, doi:10.1111/tra.12260.
- I48. Zhou, X.; Xu, L.; Wang, Y.; Wang, W.; Sprengers, D.; Metselaar, H.J.; Peppelenbosch, M.P.; Pan, Q. Requirement of the Eukaryotic Translation Initiation Factor 4F Complex in Hepatitis E Virus Replication. *Antiviral Res.* 2015, *124*, 11–19, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2015.10.016.
- 149. Varma, S.P.K.; Kumar, A.; Kapur, N.; Durgapal, H.; Acharya, S.K.; Panda, S.K. Hepatitis E Virus Replication Involves Alternating Negative- and Positive-Sense RNA Synthesis. *J. Gen. Virol.* 2011, *92*, 572–581, doi:10.1099/vir.0.027714-0.
- 150. Kenney, S.P.; Meng, X.-J. The Lysine Residues within the Human Ribosomal Protein S17 Sequence Naturally Inserted into the Viral Nonstructural Protein of a Unique Strain of Hepatitis E Virus Are Important for Enhanced Virus Replication. *J. Virol.* **2015**, *89*, 3793–3803, doi:10.1128/JVI.03582-14.
- 151. Sayed, I.M.; Seddik, M.I.; Gaber, M.A.; Saber, S.H.; Mandour, S.A.; El-Mokhtar, M.A. Replication of Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) in Primary Human-Derived Monocytes and Macrophages In Vitro. Vaccines 2020, 8, 239, doi:10.3390/vaccines8020239.

- 152. Jensen, S.; Thomsen, A.R. Sensing of RNA Viruses: A Review of Innate Immune Receptors Involved in Recognizing RNA Virus Invasion. *J. Virol.* **2012**, *86*, 2900–2910, doi:10.1128/JVI.05738-11.
- 153. Todt, D.; François, C.; Anggakusuma; Behrendt, P.; Engelmann, M.; Knegendorf, L.; Vieyres, G.; Wedemeyer, H.; Hartmann, R.; Pietschmann, T.; et al. Antiviral Activities of Different Interferon Types and Subtypes against Hepatitis E Virus Replication. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **2016**, *60*, 2132–2139, doi:10.1128/AAC.02427-15.
- 154. Kang, S.; Choi, C.; Choi, I.; Han, G.; Rho, S.W.; Choi, J.; Kwon, J.; Park, M.-K.; Kim, S.-J.; Myoung, J. Hepatitis E Virus Methyltransferase Inhibits Type I Interferon Induction by Targeting RIG-I. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 2018, 28, 1554–1562, doi:10.4014/jmb.1808.08058.
- 155. Karpe, Y.A.; Lole, K.S. Deubiquitination Activity Associated with Hepatitis E Virus Putative Papain-like Cysteine Protease. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2011**, *92*, 2088–2092, doi:10.1099/vir.0.033738-0.
- 156. Gallie, D.R. The Cap and Poly(A) Tail Function Synergistically to Regulate MRNA Translational Efficiency. *Genes Dev.* **1991**, *5*, 2108–2116, doi:10.1101/gad.5.11.2108.
- 157. Hingane, S.; Joshi, N.; Surjit, M.; Ranjith-Kumar, C.T. Hepatitis E Virus ORF2 Inhibits RIG-I Mediated Interferon Response. *Front. Microbiol.* **2020**, *11*.
- 158. Dong, C.; Zafrullah, M.; Mixson-Hayden, T.; Dai, X.; Liang, J.; Meng, J.; Kamili, S. Suppression of Interferon-α Signaling by Hepatitis E Virus. *Hepatology* **2012**, *55*, 1324–1332, doi:10.1002/hep.25530.
- 159. Szkolnicka, D.; Pollán, A.; Da Silva, N.; Oechslin, N.; Gouttenoire, J.; Moradpour, D. Recombinant Hepatitis E Viruses Harboring Tags in the ORF1 Protein. *J. Virol.* **2019**, *93*, e00459-19, doi:10.1128/JVI.00459-19.
- 160. Tao, Y.J.; Ye, Q. RNA Virus Replication Complexes. *PLoS Pathog.* **2010**, *6*, e1000943, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000943.
- 161. Nagashima, S.; Jirintai, S.; Takahashi, M.; Kobayashi, T.; Tanggis; Nishizawa, T.; Kouki, T.; Yashiro, T.; Okamoto, H. Hepatitis E Virus Egress Depends on the Exosomal Pathway, with Secretory Exosomes Derived from Multivesicular Bodies. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2014**, *95*, 2166–2175, doi:10.1099/vir.0.066910-0.
- 162. Cao, D.; Meng, X.-J. Molecular Biology and Replication of Hepatitis E Virus. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* **2012**, *1*, 1–10, doi:10.1038/emi.2012.7.
- 163. Chauhan, A.; Dilawari, J.B.; Chawla, Y.K.; Jameel, S.; Kaur, U.; Ganguly, N.K. Hepatitis E Virus Transmission to a Volunteer. *The Lancet* **1993**, *341*, 149–150, doi:10.1016/0140-6736(93)90008-5.
- Yamamoto, H.; Suzuki, J.; Matsuda, A.; Ishida, T.; Ami, Y.; Suzaki, Y.; Adachi, I.; Wakita, T.; Takeda, N.; Li, T.-C. Hepatitis E Virus Outbreak in Monkey Facility, Japan. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2012, 18, 2032–2034, doi:10.3201/eid1812.120884.
- 165. Purcell, R.H.; Engle, R.E.; Govindarajan, S.; Herbert, R.; St Claire, M.; Elkins, W.R.; Cook, A.; Shaver, C.; Beauregard, M.; Swerczek, J.; et al. Pathobiology of Hepatitis E: Lessons Learned from Primate Models. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* **2013**, *2*, e9, doi:10.1038/emi.2013.9.
- Yang, F.; Duan, S.; Guo, Y.; Li, Y.; Yoshizaki, S.; Takeda, N.; Wakita, T.; Muramatsu, M.; Zhao, Y.;
 He, Z.; et al. Current Status of Hepatitis E Virus Infection at a Rhesus Monkey Farm in China. *Vet. Microbiol.* 2019, 230, 244–248, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2019.01.021.
- 167. Spahr, C.; Knauf-Witzens, T.; Dähnert, L.; Enders, M.; Müller, M.; Johne, R.; Ulrich, R.G. Detection of HEV-Specific Antibodies in Four Non-Human Primate Species, Including Great Apes, from Different Zoos in Germany. *Epidemiol. Infect.* **2018**, *146*, 119–124, doi:10.1017/S0950268817002606.
- 168. Estes, J.D.; Wong, S.W.; Brenchley, J.M. Nonhuman Primate Models of Human Viral Infections. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2018**, *18*, 390–404, doi:10.1038/s41577-018-0005-7.
- 169. Meurens, F.; Summerfield, A.; Nauwynck, H.; Saif, L.; Gerdts, V. The Pig: A Model for Human Infectious Diseases. *Trends Microbiol.* **2012**, *20*, 50–57, doi:10.1016/j.tim.2011.11.002.

- 170. Balayan, M.S.; Usmanov, R.K.; Zamyatina, N.A.; Djumalieva, D.I.; Karas, F.R. Experimental Hepatitis E Infection in Domestic Pigs. *J. Med. Virol.* **1990**, *32*, 58–59, doi:10.1002/jmv.1890320110.
- 171. Meng, X.-J.; Purcell, R.H.; Halbur, P.G.; Lehman, J.R.; Webb, D.M.; Tsareva, T.S.; Haynes, J.S.; Thacker, B.J.; Emerson, S.U. A Novel Virus in Swine Is Closely Related to the Human Hepatitis E Virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **1997**, *94*, 9860–9865, doi:10.1073/pnas.94.18.9860.
- 172. Erker, J.C.; Desai, S.M.; Schlauder, G.G.; Dawson, G.J.; Mushahwar, I.K.Y. 1999 A Hepatitis E Virus Variant from the United States: Molecular Characterization and Transmission in Cynomolgus Macaques. J. Gen. Virol. 80, 681–690, doi:10.1099/0022-1317-80-3-681.
- 173. Hsieh, S.-Y.; Meng, X.-J.; Wu, Y.-H.; Liu, S.-T.; Tam, A.W.; Lin, D.-Y.; Liaw, Y.-F. Identity of a Novel Swine Hepatitis E Virus in Taiwan Forming a Monophyletic Group with Taiwan Isolates of Human Hepatitis E Virus. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **1999**, *37*, 3828–3834, doi:10.1128/JCM.37.12.3828-3834.1999.
- 174. Pischke, S.; Suneetha, P.V.; Baechlein, C.; Barg-Hock, H.; Heim, A.; Kamar, N.; Schlue, J.; Strassburg, C.P.; Lehner, F.; Raupach, R.; et al. Hepatitis E Virus Infection as a Cause of Graft Hepatitis in Liver Transplant Recipients. *Liver Transpl.* **2010**, *16*, 74–82, doi:10.1002/lt.21958.
- 175. Dähnert, L.; Eiden, M.; Schlosser, J.; Fast, C.; Schröder, C.; Lange, E.; Gröner, A.; Schäfer, W.; Groschup, M.H. High Sensitivity of Domestic Pigs to Intravenous Infection with HEV. *BMC Vet. Res.* **2018**, *14*, 381, doi:10.1186/s12917-018-1713-8.
- 176. Cossaboom, C.M.; Córdoba, L.; Sanford, B.J.; Piñeyro, P.; Kenney, S.P.; Dryman, B.A.; Wang, Y.; Meng, X.-J. Cross-Species Infection of Pigs with a Novel Rabbit, but Not Rat, Strain of Hepatitis E Virus Isolated in the United States. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2012**, *93*, 1687–1695, doi:10.1099/vir.0.041509-0.
- 177. Schlosser, J.; Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Fast, C.; Groschup, M.H.; Eiden, M. Chronically Infected Wild Boar Can Transmit Genotype 3 Hepatitis E Virus to Domestic Pigs. *Vet. Microbiol.* **2015**, *180*, 15–21, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2015.08.022.
- 178. Cao, D.; Cao, Q.M.; Subramaniam, S.; Yugo, D.M.; Heffron, C.L.; Rogers, A.J.; Kenney, S.P.; Tian, D.; Matzinger, S.R.; Overend, C.; et al. Pig Model Mimicking Chronic Hepatitis E Virus Infection in Immunocompromised Patients to Assess Immune Correlates during Chronicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2017, *114*, 6914–6923, doi:10.1073/pnas.1705446114.
- 179. Kasorndorkbua, C.; Thacker, B.J.; Halbur, P.G.; Guenette, D.K.; Buitenwerf, R.M.; Royer, R.L.; Meng, X.-J. Experimental Infection of Pregnant Gilts with Swine Hepatitis E Virus. *Can. J. Vet. Res.* **2003**, *67*, 303–306.
- 180. Meng, X.-J.; Halbur, P.G.; Haynes, J.S.; Tsareva, T.S.; Bruna, J.D.; Royer, R.L.; Purcell, R.H.; Emerson, S.U. Experimental Infection of Pigs with the Newly Identified Swine Hepatitis E Virus (Swine HEV), but Not with Human Strains of HEV. *Arch. Virol.* **1998**, *143*, 1405–1415, doi:10.1007/s007050050384.
- 181. Zhao, C.; Ma, Z.; Harrison, T.J.; Feng, R.; Zhang, C.; Qiao, Z.; Fan, J.; Ma, H.; Li, M.; Song, A.; et al. A Novel Genotype of Hepatitis E Virus Prevalent among Farmed Rabbits in China. *J. Med. Virol.* **2009**, *81*, 1371–1379, doi:10.1002/jmv.21536.
- 182. Lhomme, S.; Dubois, M.; Abravanel, F.; Top, S.; Bertagnoli, S.; Guerin, J.-L.; Izopet, J. Risk of Zoonotic Transmission of HEV from Rabbits. *J. Clin. Virol.* **2013**, *58*, 357–362, doi:10.1016/j.jcv.2013.02.006.
- 183. Geng, J.; Fu, H.; Wang, L.; Bu, Q.; Liu, P.; Wang, M.; Sui, Y.; Wang, X.; Zhu, Y.; Zhuang, H.
 Phylogenetic Analysis of the Full Genome of Rabbit Hepatitis E Virus (RbHEV) and Molecular
 Biologic Study on the Possibility of Cross Species Transmission of RbHEV. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* 2011, 11, 2020–2025, doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2011.09.006.
- 184. Jenckel, M.; Hall, R.; Strive, T. First Description of Hepatitis E Virus in Australian Rabbits. *Aust. Vet. J.* **2021**, *99*, 356–358, doi:10.1111/avj.13073.

- 185. Baylis, S.A.; O'Flaherty, N.; Burke, L.; Hogema, B.; Corman, V.M. Identification of Rabbit Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) and Novel HEV Clade in Irish Blood Donors. *J. Hepatol.* **2022**, *0*, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2022.04.015.
- 186. Ma, H.; Zheng, L.; Liu, Y.; Zhao, C.; Harrison, T.J.; Ma, Y.; Sun, S.; Zhang, J.; Wang, Y. Experimental Infection of Rabbits with Rabbit and Genotypes 1 and 4 Hepatitis E Viruses. *PLOS ONE* 2010, *5*, e9160, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009160.
- 187. Han, J.; Lei, Y.; Liu, L.; Liu, P.; Xia, J.; Zhang, Y.; Zeng, H.; Wang, L.; Wang, L.; Zhuang, H. SPF Rabbits Infected with Rabbit Hepatitis E Virus Isolate Experimentally Showing the Chronicity of Hepatitis. *PLoS ONE* **2014**, *9*, e99861, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0099861.
- 188. Xia, J.; Liu, L.; Wang, L.; Zhang, Y.; Zeng, H.; Liu, P.; Zou, Q.; Wang, L.; Zhuang, H. Experimental Infection of Pregnant Rabbits with Hepatitis E Virus Demonstrating High Mortality and Vertical Transmission. J. Viral Hepat. 2015, 22, 850–857, doi:10.1111/jvh.12406.
- 189. Zhang, Y.; Gong, W.; Song, W.T.; Fu, H.; Wang, L.; Li, M.; Wang, L.; Zhuang, H. Different Susceptibility and Pathogenesis of Rabbit Genotype 3 Hepatitis E Virus (HEV-3) and Human HEV-3 (JRC-HE3) in SPF Rabbits. *Vet. Microbiol.* 2017, 207, 1–6, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2017.05.019.
- 190. Allweiss, L.; Gass, S.; Giersch, K.; Groth, A.; Kah, J.; Volz, T.; Rapp, G.; Schöbel, A.; Lohse, A.W.; Polywka, S.; et al. Human Liver Chimeric Mice as a New Model of Chronic Hepatitis E Virus Infection and Preclinical Drug Evaluation. *J. Hepatol.* **2016**, *64*, 1033–1040, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2016.01.011.
- 191. Purcell, R.H.; Engle, R.E.; Rood, M.P.; Kabrane-Lazizi, Y.; Nguyen, H.T.; Govindarajan, S.; St. Claire, M.; Emerson, S.U. Hepatitis E Virus in Rats, Los Angeles, California, USA. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **2011**, *17*, 2216–2222, doi:10.3201/eid1712.110482.
- 192. Sridhar, S.; Yip, C.C.; Wu, S.; Chew, N.F.; Leung, K.; Chan, J.F.; Zhao, P.S.; Chan, W.; Poon, R.W.; Tsoi, H.; et al. Transmission of Rat Hepatitis E Virus Infection to Humans in Hong Kong: A Clinical and Epidemiological Analysis. *Hepatology* **2021**, *73*, 10–22, doi:10.1002/hep.31138.
- 193. Debing, Y.; Mishra, N.; Verbeken, E.; Ramaekers, K.; Dallmeier, K.; Neyts, J. A Rat Model for Hepatitis E Virus. *Dis. Model. Mech.* **2016**, *9*, 1203–1210, doi:10.1242/dmm.024406.
- Li, T.-C.; Yang, T.; Yoshizaki, S.; Ami, Y.; Suzaki, Y.; Ishii, K.; Kishida, N.; Shirakura, M.; Asanuma,
 H.; Takeda, N.; et al. Ferret Hepatitis E Virus Infection Induces Acute Hepatitis and Persistent
 Infection in Ferrets. *Vet. Microbiol.* **2016**, *183*, 30–36, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2015.11.014.
- 195. Xu, L.-D.; Zhang, F.; Chen, C.; Peng, L.; Luo, W.-T.; Chen, R.; Xu, P.; Huang, Y.-W. Revisiting the Mongolian Gerbil Model for Hepatitis E Virus by Reverse Genetics. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 10, e02193-21, doi:10.1128/spectrum.02193-21.
- 196. Sun, P.; Lin, S.; He, S.; Zhou, E.-M.; Zhao, Q. Avian Hepatitis E Virus: With the Trend of Genotypes and Host Expansion. *Front. Microbiol.* **2019**, *10*.
- 197. Debing, Y.; Winton, J.; Neyts, J.; Dallmeier, K. Cutthroat Trout Virus as a Surrogate in Vitro Infection Model for Testing Inhibitors of Hepatitis E Virus Replication. *Antiviral Res.* **2013**, *100*, 98–101, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2013.07.013.
- 198. Von Nordheim, M.; Boinay, M.; Leisi, R.; Kempf, C.; Ros, C. Cutthroat Trout Virus—Towards a Virus Model to Support Hepatitis E Research. *Viruses* **2016**, *8*, 289, doi:10.3390/v8100289.
- 199. Pillot, J.; Sharma, M.D.; Lazizi, Y.; Budkowska, A.; Dauguet, C.; Galimand, M.; Sarthou, J.L. Immunological Characterization of a Viral Agent Involved in Epidemic and Sporadic Non-A,Non-B Hepatitis. Ann. Inst. Pasteur Virol. **1987**, 138, 145–158, doi:10.1016/S0769-2617(87)80087-4.
- 200. Tanaka, T.; Takahashi, M.; Kusano, E.; Okamoto, H. Development and Evaluation of an Efficient Cell-Culture System for Hepatitis E Virus. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2007**, *88*, 903–911, doi:10.1099/vir.0.82535-0.
- 201. Jirintai, S.; Jinshan; Tanggis; Manglai, D.; Mulyanto; Takahashi, M.; Nagashima, S.; Kobayashi, T.; Nishizawa, T.; Okamoto, H. Molecular Analysis of Hepatitis E Virus from Farm Rabbits in

Inner Mongolia, China and Its Successful Propagation in A549 and PLC/PRF/5 Cells. *Virus Res.* **2012**, *170*, 126–137, doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2012.09.015.

- 202. Tanaka, T.; Takahashi, M.; Takahashi, H.; Ichiyama, K.; Hoshino, Y.; Nagashima, S.; Mizuo, H.; Okamoto, H. Development and Characterization of a Genotype 4 Hepatitis E Virus Cell Culture System Using a HE-JF5/15F Strain Recovered from a Fulminant Hepatitis Patient. J. Clin. Microbiol. 2009, 47, 1906–1910, doi:10.1128/JCM.00629-09.
- Li, T.-C.; Zhou, X.; Yoshizaki, S.; Ami, Y.; Suzaki, Y.; Nakamura, T.; Takeda, N.; Wakita, T.
 Production of Infectious Dromedary Camel Hepatitis E Virus by a Reverse Genetic System: Potential for Zoonotic Infection. *J. Hepatol.* 2016, 65, 1104–1111, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2016.07.013.
- 204. Zhang, W.; Ami, Y.; Suzaki, Y.; Doan, Y.H.; Takeda, N.; Muramatsu, M.; Li, T.-C. Generation of a Bactrian Camel Hepatitis E Virus by a Reverse Genetics System. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2021**, *102*, doi:10.1099/jgv.0.001618.
- 205. Jirintai, S.; Tanggis; Mulyanto; Suparyatmo, J.B.; Takahashi, M.; Kobayashi, T.; Nagashima, S.; Nishizawa, T.; Okamoto, H. Rat Hepatitis E Virus Derived from Wild Rats (Rattus Rattus) Propagates Efficiently in Human Hepatoma Cell Lines. *Virus Res.* 2014, 185, 92–102, doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2014.03.002.
- 206. Li, T.-C.; Yoshizaki, S.; Yang, T.; Kataoka, M.; Nakamura, T.; Ami, Y.; Yuriko, S.; Takeda, N.; Wakita, T. Production of Infectious Ferret Hepatitis E Virus in a Human Hepatocarcinoma Cell Line PLC/PRF/5. *Virus Res.* **2016**, *213*, 283–288, doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2015.11.027.
- 207. Thomas, E.; Liang, T.J. Experimental Models of Hepatitis B and C New Insights and Progress. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2016**, *13*, 362–374, doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2016.37.
- Shukla, P.; Nguyen, H.T.; Torian, U.; Engle, R.E.; Faulk, K.; Dalton, H.R.; Bendall, R.P.; Keane, F.E.; Purcell, R.H.; Emerson, S.U. Cross-Species Infections of Cultured Cells by Hepatitis E Virus and Discovery of an Infectious Virus-Host Recombinant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2011, 108, 2438– 2443, doi:10.1073/pnas.1018878108.
- 209. Huang, R.T.; Li, D.R.; Wei, J.; Huang, X.R.; Yuan, X.T.; Tian, X. Isolation and Identification of Hepatitis E Virus in Xinjiang, China. *J. Gen. Virol.* **1992**, *73*, 1143–1148, doi:10.1099/0022-1317-73-5-1143.
- 210. Huang, R.; Li, D.; Wei, S.; Li, Q.; Yuan, X.; Geng, L.; Li, X.; Liu, M. Cell Culture of Sporadic Hepatitis E Virus in China. *Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol.* **1999**, *6*, 729–733.
- 211. Todt, D.; Friesland, M.; Moeller, N.; Praditya, D.; Kinast, V.; Brüggemann, Y.; Knegendorf, L.; Burkard, T.; Steinmann, J.; Burm, R.; et al. Robust Hepatitis E Virus Infection and Transcriptional Response in Human Hepatocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2020, 117, 1731–1741, doi:10.1073/pnas.1912307117.
- 212. Johne, R.; Reetz, J.; Ulrich, R.G.; Machnowska, P.; Sachsenröder, J.; Nickel, P.; Hofmann, J. An ORF1-Rearranged Hepatitis E Virus Derived from a Chronically Infected Patient Efficiently Replicates in Cell Culture. *J. Viral Hepat.* **2014**, *21*, 447–456, doi:10.1111/jvh.12157.
- 213. Schemmerer, M.; Apelt, S.; Trojnar, E.; Ulrich, R.; Wenzel, J.; Johne, R. Enhanced Replication of Hepatitis E Virus Strain 47832c in an A549-Derived Subclonal Cell Line. *Viruses* **2016**, *8*, 267, doi:10.3390/v8100267.
- 214. Pellerin, M.; Hirchaud, E.; Blanchard, Y.; Pavio, N.; Doceul, V. Characterization of a Cell Culture System of Persistent Hepatitis E Virus Infection in the Human HepaRG Hepatic Cell Line. *Viruses* **2021**, *13*, 406, doi:10.3390/v13030406.
- 215. Xu, L.-D.; Zhang, F.; Peng, L.; Luo, W.-T.; Chen, C.; Xu, P.; Huang, Y.-W. Stable Expression of a Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) RNA Replicon in Two Mammalian Cell Lines to Assess Mechanism of Innate Immunity and Antiviral Response. *Front. Microbiol.* **2020**, *11*, 603699, doi:10.3389/fmicb.2020.603699.
- 216. Helsen, N.; Debing, Y.; Paeshuyse, J.; Dallmeier, K.; Boon, R.; Coll, M.; Sancho-Bru, P.; Claes, C.; Neyts, J.; Verfaillie, C.M. Stem Cell-Derived Hepatocytes: A Novel Model for Hepatitis E Virus Replication. *J. Hepatol.* **2016**, *64*, 565–573, doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2015.11.013.

- 217. Fu, R.M.; Decker, C.C.; Dao Thi, V.L. Cell Culture Models for Hepatitis E Virus. *Viruses* **2019**, *11*, 608, doi:10.3390/v11070608.
- 218. Weissmann, C.; Weber, H.; Taniguchi, T.; Müller, W.; Meyer, F. Reversed Genetics: A New Approach to the Elucidation of Structure-Function Relationship. In *Novartis Foundation Symposia*; Porter, R., O'Connor, M., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.: Chichester, UK, 2008; pp. 47–61 ISBN 978-0-470-72048-6.
- 219. Sibille, E.; Edgar, N. Forward Genetics/Reverse Genetics. In *Encyclopedia of Psychopharmacology*; Stolerman, I.P., Ed.; Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010; pp. 544–544 ISBN 978-3-540-68706-1.
- 220. Lee, C.-W. Reverse Genetics of Influenza Virus. In *Animal Influenza Virus*; Spackman, E., Ed.; Methods in Molecular Biology; Springer: New York, NY, 2014; pp. 37–50 ISBN 978-1-4939-0758-8.
- 221. Taniguchi, T.; Palmieri, M.; Weissmann, C. Qβ DNA-Containing Hybrid Plasmids Giving Rise to Qβ Phage Formation in the Bacterial Host. *Nature* **1978**, *274*, 223–228, doi:10.1038/274223a0.
- 222. Racaniello, V.R.; Baltimore, D. Cloned Poliovirus Complementary DNA Is Infectious in Mammalian Cells. *Science* **1981**, *214*, 916–919, doi:10.1126/science.6272391.
- 223. Wimmer, E.; Mueller, S.; Tumpey, T.M.; Taubenberger, J.K. Synthetic Viruses: A New Opportunity to Understand and Prevent Viral Disease. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2009**, *27*, 1163–1172, doi:10.1038/nbt.1593.
- 224. Panda, S.K.; Ansari, I.H.; Durgapal, H.; Agrawal, S.; Jameel, S. The In Vitro-Synthesized RNA from a CDNA Clone of Hepatitis E Virus Is Infectious. *J. Virol.* **2000**, *74*, 2430–2437, doi:10.1128/JVI.74.5.2430-2437.2000.
- 225. Emerson, S.U.; Zhang, M.; Meng, X.-J.; Nguyen, H.; St. Claire, M.; Govindarajan, S.; Huang, Y.K.; Purcell, R.H. Recombinant Hepatitis E Virus Genomes Infectious for Primates: Importance of Capping and Discovery of a Cis-Reactive Element. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2001, *98*, 15270– 15275, doi:10.1073/pnas.251555098.
- 226. Huang, Y.W.; Haqshenas, G.; Kasorndorkbua, C.; Halbur, P.G.; Emerson, S.U.; Meng, X.J. Capped RNA Transcripts of Full-Length CDNA Clones of Swine Hepatitis E Virus Are Replication Competent When Transfected into Huh7 Cells and Infectious When Intrahepatically Inoculated into Pigs. J. Virol. 2005, 79, 1552–1558, doi:10.1128/JVI.79.3.1552-1558.2005.
- 227. Yamada, K.; Takahashi, M.; Hoshino, Y.; Takahashi, H.; Ichiyama, K.; Tanaka, T.; Okamoto, H. Construction of an Infectious CDNA Clone of Hepatitis E Virus Strain JE03-1760F That Can Propagate Efficiently in Cultured Cells. *J. Gen. Virol.* **2009**, *90*, 457–462, doi:10.1099/vir.0.007559-0.
- 228. Scholz, J.; Bächlein, C.; Gadicherla, A.K.; Falkenhagen, A.; Tausch, S.H.; Johne, R. Establishment of a Plasmid-Based Reverse Genetics System for the Cell Culture-Adapted Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3c Strain 47832c. *Pathogens* **2020**, *9*, 157, doi:10.3390/pathogens9030157.
- 229. Córdoba, L.; Feagins, A.R.; Opriessnig, T.; Cossaboom, C.M.; Dryman, B.A.; Huang, Y.-W.; Meng, X.-J. Rescue of a Genotype 4 Human Hepatitis E Virus from Cloned CDNA and Characterization of Intergenotypic Chimeric Viruses in Cultured Human Liver Cells and in Pigs. J. Gen. Virol. 2012, 93, 2183–2194, doi:10.1099/vir.0.043711-0.
- Feagins, A.R.; Córdoba, L.; Sanford, B.J.; Dryman, B.A.; Huang, Y.-W.; LeRoith, T.; Emerson, S.U.; Meng, X.-J. Intergenotypic Chimeric Hepatitis E Viruses (HEVs) with the Genotype 4 Human HEV Capsid Gene in the Backbone of Genotype 3 Swine HEV Are Infectious in Pigs. *Virus Res.* 2011, *156*, 141–146, doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2010.12.011.
- 231. Jacob, F.; Brenner, S.; Cuzin, F. On the Regulation of DNA Replication in Bacteria. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* **1963**, *28*, 329–348, doi:10.1101/SQB.1963.028.01.048.
- Li, S.-H.; Li, X.-F.; Zhao, H.; Deng, Y.-Q.; Yu, X.-D.; Zhu, S.-Y.; Jiang, T.; Ye, Q.; Qin, E.-D.; Qin, C.-F. Development and Characterization of the Replicon System of Japanese Encephalitis Live Vaccine Virus SA14-14-2. *Virol. J.* 2013, *10*, 64, doi:10.1186/1743-422X-10-64.

- 233. Zimmer, G. RNA Replicons A New Approach for Influenza Virus Immunoprophylaxis. *Viruses* **2010**, *2*, 413–434, doi:10.3390/v2020413.
- 234. Khan, S.; Soni, S.; Veerapu, N.S. HCV Replicon Systems: Workhorses of Drug Discovery and Resistance. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* **2020**, *10*.
- 235. Geiss, B.J.; Shimonkevitz, L.H.; Sackal, C.I.; Olson, K.E. Recombination-Ready Sindbis Replicon Expression Vectors for Transgene Expression. *Virol. J.* **2007**, *4*, 112, doi:10.1186/1743-422X-4-112.
- 236. Bloom, K.; van den Berg, F.; Arbuthnot, P. Self-Amplifying RNA Vaccines for Infectious Diseases. *Gene Ther.* **2021**, *28*, 117–129, doi:10.1038/s41434-020-00204-y.
- 237. Ding, Q.; Nimgaonkar, I.; Archer, N.F.; Bram, Y.; Heller, B.; Schwartz, R.E.; Ploss, A. Identification of the Intragenomic Promoter Controlling Hepatitis E Virus Subgenomic RNA Transcription. *mBio* **2018**, *9*, doi:10.1128/mBio.00769-18.
- Ju, X.; Xiang, G.; Gong, M.; Yang, R.; Qin, J.; Li, Y.; Nan, Y.; Yang, Y.; Zhang, Q.C.; Ding, Q.
 Identification of Functional Cis-Acting RNA Elements in the Hepatitis E Virus Genome Required for Viral Replication. *PLOS Pathog.* 2020, *16*, e1008488, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1008488.
- 239. Nimgaonkar, I.; Archer, N.F.; Becher, I.; Shahrad, M.; LeDesma, R.A.; Mateus, A.; Caballero-Gómez, J.; Berneshawi, A.R.; Ding, Q.; Douam, F.; et al. Isocotoin Suppresses Hepatitis E Virus Replication through Inhibition of Heat Shock Protein 90. *Antiviral Res.* 2021, 185, 104997, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2020.104997.
- 240. Lhomme, S.; Abravanel, F.; Dubois, M.; Sandres-Saune, K.; Rostaing, L.; Kamar, N.; Izopet, J. Hepatitis E Virus Quasispecies and the Outcome of Acute Hepatitis E in Solid-Organ Transplant Patients. *J. Virol.* **2012**, *86*, 10006–10014, doi:10.1128/JVI.01003-12.
- 241. Zhang, W.; Ami, Y.; Suzaki, Y.; Doan, Y.H.; Jirintai, S.; Takahashi, M.; Okamoto, H.; Takeda, N.; Muramatsu, M.; Li, T.-C. Persistent Infection with a Rabbit Hepatitis E Virus Created by a Reverse Genetics System. *Transbound. Emerg. Dis.* **2021**, *68*, 615–625, doi:10.1111/tbed.13723.
- 242. Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Schlosser, J.; Becher, D.; Kaden, V.; Groschup, M.; Eiden, M. Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Diversity: Phylogenetic Analysis and Presence of Subtype 3b in Wild Boar in Europe. *Viruses* **2015**, *7*, 2704–2726, doi:10.3390/v7052704.
- 243. Bächlein, C.; Seehusen, F.; Nathues, H.; Beilage, E. große; Baumgärtner, W.; Grummer, B. Molecular detection of Hepatitis E virus in German domestic pigs. *Berl. Münch. Tierärztl. Wochenschr.* **2013**, *126*.
- Casas, M.; Pujols, J.; Rosell, R.; de Deus, N.; Peralta, B.; Pina, S.; Casal, J.; Martín, M.
 Retrospective Serological Study on Hepatitis E Infection in Pigs from 1985 to 1997 in Spain.
 Vet. Microbiol. 2009, 135, 248–252, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2008.09.075.
- 245. Rose, N.; Lunazzi, A.; Dorenlor, V.; Merbah, T.; Eono, F.; Eloit, M.; Madec, F.; Pavio, N. High Prevalence of Hepatitis E Virus in French Domestic Pigs. *Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 2011, 34, 419–427, doi:10.1016/j.cimid.2011.07.003.
- Pavia, G.; Gioffrè, A.; Pirolo, M.; Visaggio, D.; Clausi, M.T.; Gherardi, M.; Samele, P.;
 Ciambrone, L.; Di Natale, R.; Spatari, G.; et al. Seroprevalence and Phylogenetic
 Characterization of Hepatitis E Virus in Pig Farms in Southern Italy. *Prev. Vet. Med.* 2021, 194, 105448, doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2021.105448.
- 247. Westphal, T.; Delling, M.; Mader, M.; Ackermann, C.; Horvatits, T.; Lütgehetmann, M.; Schulze zur Wiesch, J.; Pischke, S.; Beisel, C. Lack of Evidence of Hepatitis E Virus Infections in a Cohort of Boars and Deer Species in a Game Reserve in Northern Germany. *Zoonotic Dis.* **2022**, *2*, 228–233, doi:10.3390/zoonoticdis2040018.
- 248. Büttner, K.; Krieter, J.; Traulsen, A.; Traulsen, I. Static Network Analysis of a Pork Supply Chain in Northern Germany—Characterisation of the Potential Spread of Infectious Diseases via Animal Movements. *Prev. Vet. Med.* **2013**, *110*, 418–428, doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2013.01.008.

- 249. Wolff, A.; Günther, T.; Albert, T.; Johne, R. Effect of Sodium Chloride, Sodium Nitrite and Sodium Nitrate on the Infectivity of Hepatitis E Virus. *Food Environ. Virol.* **2020**, *12*, 350–354, doi:10.1007/s12560-020-09440-2.
- 250. Wolff, A.; Günther, T.; Albert, T.; Schilling-Loeffler, K.; Gadicherla, A.K.; Johne, R. Stability of Hepatitis E Virus at Different PH Values. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **2020**, *325*, 108625, doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2020.108625.
- 251. Colson, P.; Borentain, P.; Queyriaux, B.; Kaba, M.; Moal, V.; Gallian, P.; Heyries, L.; Raoult, D.; Gerolami, R. Pig Liver Sausage as a Source of Hepatitis E Virus Transmission to Humans. *J. Infect. Dis.* **2010**, *202*, 825–834, doi:10.1086/655898.
- 252. Kubacki, J.; Fraefel, C.; Jermini, M.; Giannini, P.; Martinetti, G.; Ripellino, P.; Bernasconi, E.; Sidler, X.; Stephan, R.; Bachofen, C. Complete Genome Sequences of Two Swiss Hepatitis E Virus Isolates from Human Stool and Raw Pork Sausage. *Genome Announc.* 2017, *5*, e00888-17, doi:10.1128/genomeA.00888-17.
- 253. Williams, T.P.E.; Kasorndorkbua, C.; Halbur, P.G.; Haqshenas, G.; Guenette, D.K.; Toth, T.E.; Meng, X.J. Evidence of Extrahepatic Sites of Replication of the Hepatitis E Virus in a Swine Model. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **2001**, *39*, 3040–3046, doi:10.1128/JCM.39.9.3040-3046.2001.
- 254. Yadav, K.K.; Kenney, S.P. Extrahepatic Replication Sites of Hepatitis E Virus (HEV). *Zoonotic Dis.* **2023**, *3*, 68–84, doi:10.3390/zoonoticdis3010007.
- 255. De Sabato, L.; Amoroso, M.G.; Ianiro, G.; Esposito, C.; De Grossi, L.; Fusco, G.; Barone, A.; Martini, E.; Ostanello, F.; Di Bartolo, I. Detection of Hepatitis E Virus in Livers and Muscle Tissues of Wild Boars in Italy. *Food Environ. Virol.* **2020**, *12*, 1–8, doi:10.1007/s12560-019-09405-0.
- 256. Aprea, G.; Scattolini, S.; D'Angelantonio, D.; Chiaverini, A.; Di Lollo, V.; Olivieri, S.; Marcacci, M.; Mangone, I.; Salucci, S.; Antoci, S.; et al. Whole Genome Sequencing Characterization of HEV3-e and HEV3-f Subtypes among the Wild Boar Population in the Abruzzo Region, Italy: First Report. *Microorganisms* 2020, *8*, 1393, doi:10.3390/microorganisms8091393.
- 257. Forzan, M.; Pacini, M.I.; Periccioli, M.; Mazzei, M. Hepatitis E Virus RNA Presence in Wild Boar Carcasses at Slaughterhouses in Italy. *Animals* **2021**, *11*, 1624, doi:10.3390/ani11061624.
- 258. Ferri, G.; Lauteri, C.; Festino, A.R.; Piccinini, A.; Olivastri, A.; Vergara, A. Hepatitis E Virus Detection in Hunted Wild Boar Liver and Muscle Tissues in Central Italy. *Microorganisms* **2022**, *10*, 1628, doi:10.3390/microorganisms10081628.
- 259. Bartolo, I.D.; Diez-Valcarce, M.; Vasickova, P.; Kralik, P.; Hernandez, M.; Angeloni, G.;
 Ostanello, F.; Bouwknegt, M.; Rodríguez-Lázaro, D.; Pavlik, I.; et al. Hepatitis E Virus in Pork
 Production Chain in Czech Republic, Italy, and Spain, 2010 Volume 18, Number 8—August
 2012 Emerging Infectious Diseases Journal CDC., doi:10.3201/eid1808.111783.
- 260. García, N.; Hernández, M.; Gutierrez-Boada, M.; Valero, A.; Navarro, A.; Muñoz-Chimeno, M.; Fernández-Manzano, A.; Escobar, F.M.; Martínez, I.; Bárcena, C.; et al. Occurrence of Hepatitis E Virus in Pigs and Pork Cuts and Organs at the Time of Slaughter, Spain, 2017. *Front. Microbiol.* 2020, 10.
- 261. Chelli, E.; Suffredini, E.; De Santis, P.; De Medici, D.; Di Bella, S.; D'Amato, S.; Gucciardi, F.; Guercio, A.; Ostanello, F.; Perrone, V.; et al. Hepatitis E Virus Occurrence in Pigs Slaughtered in Italy. *Animals* **2021**, *11*, 277, doi:10.3390/ani11020277.
- 262. Luk, K.-C.; Coller, K.E.; Dawson, G.J.; Cloherty, G.A. Identification of a Putative Novel Genotype 3/Rabbit Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) Recombinant. *PLOS ONE* **2018**, *13*, e0203618, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0203618.
- 263. Jothikumar, N.; Cromeans, T.L.; Robertson, B.H.; Meng, X.J.; Hill, V.R. A Broadly Reactive One-Step Real-Time RT-PCR Assay for Rapid and Sensitive Detection of Hepatitis E Virus. *J. Virol. Methods* **2006**, *131*, 65–71, doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2005.07.004.
- 264. Vina-Rodriguez, A.; Schlosser, J.; Becher, D.; Kaden, V.; Groschup, M.; Eiden, M. Hepatitis E Virus Genotype 3 Diversity: Phylogenetic Analysis and Presence of Subtype 3b in Wild Boar in Europe. *Viruses* **2015**, *7*, 2704–2726, doi:10.3390/v7052704.

- Tannous, B.A.; Kim, D.-E.; Fernandez, J.L.; Weissleder, R.; Breakefield, X.O. Codon-Optimized Gaussia Luciferase CDNA for Mammalian Gene Expression in Culture and in Vivo. *Mol. Ther.* 2005, 11, 435–443, doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.10.016.
- 266. Dijkema, F.M.; Nordentoft, M.K.; Didriksen, A.K.; Corneliussen, A.S.; Willemoës, M.; Winther, J.R. Flash Properties of Gaussia Luciferase Are the Result of Covalent Inhibition after a Limited Number of Cycles. *Protein Sci.* **2021**, *30*, 638–649, doi:10.1002/pro.4023.
- 267. Degeling, M.H.; Bovenberg, M.S.S.; Lewandrowski, G.K.; de Gooijer, M.C.; Vleggeert-Lankamp, C.L.A.; Tannous, M.; Maguire, C.A.; Tannous, B.A. Directed Molecular Evolution Reveals Gaussia Luciferase Variants with Enhanced Light Output Stability. *Anal. Chem.* 2013, *85*, 3006– 3012, doi:10.1021/ac4003134.
- 268. England, C.G.; Ehlerding, E.B.; Cai, W. NanoLuc: A Small Luciferase Is Brightening up the Field of Bioluminescence. *Bioconjug. Chem.* **2016**, *27*, 1175–1187, doi:10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.6b00112.
- 269. Kabrane-Lazizi, Y.; Meng, X.-J.; Purcell, R.H.; Emerson, S.U. Evidence That the Genomic RNA of Hepatitis E Virus Is Capped. *J. Virol.* **1999**, *73*, 8848–8850, doi:10.1128/JVI.73.10.8848-8850.1999.
- 270. Graff, J.; Nguyen, H.; Kasorndorkbua, C.; Halbur, P.G.; Claire, M.S.; Purcell, R.H.; Emerson, S.U. In Vitro and In Vivo Mutational Analysis of the 3'-Terminal Regions of Hepatitis E Virus Genomes and Replicons. **2005**, *79*.
- 271. Agrawal, S.; Gupta, D.; Panda, S.K. The 3' End of Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) Genome Binds Specifically to the Viral RNA-Dependent RNA Polymerase (RdRp). *Virology* **2001**, *282*, 87–101, doi:10.1006/viro.2000.0819.
- 272. Munroe, D.; Jacobson, A. MRNA Poly(A) Tail, a 3' Enhancer of Translational Initiation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **1990**, *10*, 3441–3455.
- Spagnolo, J.F.; Hogue, B.G. Requirement of the Poly(A) Tail in Coronavirus Genome Replication. In *The Nidoviruses: Coronaviruses and Arteriviruses*; Lavi, E., Weiss, S.R., Hingley, S.T., Eds.; Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology; Springer US: Boston, MA, 2001; pp. 467–474 ISBN 978-1-4615-1325-4.
- Asghar, N.; Lee, Y.-P.; Nilsson, E.; Lindqvist, R.; Melik, W.; Kröger, A.; Överby, A.K.; Johansson, M. The Role of the Poly(A) Tract in the Replication and Virulence of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus. *Sci. Rep.* 2016, *6*, 39265, doi:10.1038/srep39265.
- 275. Baer, B.W.; Kornberg, R.D. Repeating Structure of Cytoplasmic Poly(A)-Ribonucleoprotein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1980**, *77*, 1890–1892.
- Holtkamp, S.; Kreiter, S.; Selmi, A.; Simon, P.; Koslowski, M.; Huber, C.; Türeci, Ö.; Sahin, U. Modification of Antigen-Encoding RNA Increases Stability, Translational Efficacy, and T-Cell Stimulatory Capacity of Dendritic Cells. *Blood* 2006, *108*, 4009–4017, doi:10.1182/blood-2006-04-015024.
- 277. Engler, C.; Gruetzner, R.; Kandzia, R.; Marillonnet, S. Golden Gate Shuffling: A One-Pot DNA Shuffling Method Based on Type IIs Restriction Enzymes. *PLoS ONE* **2009**, *4*, e5553, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005553.
- 278. Yount, B.; Curtis, K.M.; Fritz, E.A.; Hensley, L.E.; Jahrling, P.B.; Prentice, E.; Denison, M.R.; Geisbert, T.W.; Baric, R.S. Reverse Genetics with a Full-Length Infectious CDNA of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2003, 100, 12995–13000, doi:10.1073/pnas.1735582100.
- 279. Potapov, V.; Ong, J.L.; Kucera, R.B.; Langhorst, B.W.; Bilotti, K.; Pryor, J.M.; Cantor, E.J.; Canton, B.; Knight, T.F.; Evans, T.C.; et al. Comprehensive Profiling of Four Base Overhang Ligation Fidelity by T4 DNA Ligase and Application to DNA Assembly. ACS Synth. Biol. 2018, 7, 2665–2674, doi:10.1021/acssynbio.8b00333.
10 Appendix

10.1 Eigenständigkeitserklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass diese Arbeit bisher von mir weder an der Mathematisch Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Greifswald noch einer anderen wissenschaftlichen Einrichtung zum Zwecke der Promotion eingereicht wurde. Ferner erkläre ich, dass ich diese Arbeit selbstständig verfasst und keine anderen als die darin angegebenen Hilfsmittel und Hilfen benutzt und keine Textabschnitte eines Dritten ohne Kennzeichnung übernommen habe.

Datum:

Unterschrift des Promovenden:

10.2 Danksagung

Diese Dissertation beruht auf Forschungsarbeiten, die in der Zeit zwischen 2017 und 2021 am Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut in Greifswald durchgeführt wurden. Für mich war das eine spannende Zeit voller Herausforderungen, die ich nur durch den tatkräftigen Beistand der vielen Weggefährten bewältigen konnte.

Zunächst möchte ich mich bei allen meinen Betreuern für die viele Geduld und die fachliche Anleitung bedanken. Ohne sie wäre die Fertigstellung dieser Arbeit nicht möglich gewesen. Meinem Doktorvater Rainer Ulrich danke ich insbesondere für die akribische Korrekturarbeit und seine kritischen Nachfragen, die diese Arbeit immer wieder in fachlich korrekte und realistische Bahnen geleitet haben. Mein besonderer Dank gilt auch meinem Laborleiter Martin Eiden, der mir bei der Bearbeitung des Projekts viele Freiheiten gelassen und mich bei der Umsetzung meiner Ideen unterstützt hat, mich aber auch immer auf Kurs gehalten hat. Ebenso bedanke ich mich bei Martin Groschup und Thomas Mettenleiter, die dieses Forschungsprojekt im Rahmen der GOHI überhaupt erst ermöglicht haben.

Birke Lange danke ich für die immerwährende Unterstützung bei den kleinen und großen Herausforderungen im Laboralltag.

Meinen Mitarbeitenden vom FLI danke ich für die gute Zusammenarbeit und die immerwährende Hilfsbereitschaft. Besonders dankbar bin ich natürlich den Leuten vom INNT und dem Labor Eiden, die mich täglich am Hals hatten. Von den exzellenten TAs, die immer wieder unmögliches möglich gemacht haben, bis zu den freundlichen Kolleginnen und Kollegen, die immer ein Ohr offen hatten, wenn man sich in harten Zeiten mal wieder ausheulen, einfach rummotzen, oder generell Frust ablassen musste. Die freundschaftliche und offenherzige Umgebung hat die frustrierenden Zeiten erträglich und die guten Zeiten zu sehr guten gemacht.

Ich bedanke mich auch bei den Co-Autoren, Kooperationspartnern, Freunden und Bekannten innerhalb und außerhalb des FLI. Mein besonderer Dank geht hierbei an die Kolleginnen und Kollegen, die mir bei den vielen kleinen und großen Herausforderungen geholfen haben: Juliane Kühn und Gregor Meyers, die mir viele Tricks und Kniffe für die Analyse von ivtRNA verraten haben. Suman Bhowmick, der mir subtil die Welt der Data Science nähergebracht hat. Gerald Heckel, der mich bei der Rekombinationsanalyse angeleitet hat. Reimar Johne, Johannes Scholz und Alexander Wolff, die mir die Zellkultur mit 47832c beigebracht und mir den cDNA-Klon 47832mc überlassen haben. Patricia Farci, für den Kernow-C1/p6 cDNA-Klon sowie das zugehörige Reporterreplicon. Dominik Harms, der mir mit seinen Ratschlägen unter anderem zu Luciferase Assays sehr viel trial and error erspart hat, sowie Thomas Bock, dessen HepE Club für einen großartigen Austausch mit den an HEV forschenden in Deutschland und darüber hinaus gesorgt hat.

Nicht zuletzt danke ich meiner Familie und meinen Freunden für die langjährige Unterstützung und ganz besonders meiner Mutter, deren konstantes Genörgel für die Fertigstellung dieser Arbeit wichtiger war, als ich eigentlich zugeben möchte.